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Nabors is unique. Although we are sometimes perceived as  

being native to North America, we have carefully expanded  

our territory so that today we can be found in more than  

30 countries and in every important oil and gas market.  

As a result, we can thrive regardless of the conditions in  

any one area. That’s what separates us from the pack.
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 to our shareholders,

Despite a more than 30 percent reduction in operating income from our North American rig businesses, earnings per share  

from continuing operations for Nabors in 2007 declined by only five percent from our 2006 record high, displacing the  

previous second best year by nearly 70 percent. Clearly, our consolidated results are less susceptible to downturns in North 

American activity than previous cycles which saw earnings retract by as much as 80 percent. This is a manifestation that 

Nabors is a different company, different from what we were previously and different from those companies which are  

perceived as our peers.

How we are different is most visible in the competitive advantages we have been amassing for years. These include the size, 

type, quality and position of our fleet; the distribution and sophistication of our infrastructure; the cost economies inherent 

in our scale; the experience and capability of our human resources; and the magnitude of our financial resources.

FL EET  

The Nabors fleet includes a wide range of options in style and depth capacity and is deployed in every  

important oil and gas market worldwide. We actively market 535 land drilling rigs, 51 offshore rigs and  

737 workover rigs in more than 30 countries, numbers unmatched by even our most formidable competitors. 

Our fleet includes winterized rigs in Canada, Alaska and Russia, platform rigs internationally and in the  
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Gulf of Mexico, jack-ups in the Middle East, coiled tubing drilling rigs in North America and traditional 

land rigs for virtually any application. More than 150 of these are new-built rigs, most of which incorporate 

our Programmable A/C Electric (PACE™) systems, and several are drilling record-setting wells in some 

of the world’s most challenging areas. We also possess the largest fleet of deep electric rigs which constitute 

the vast majority of incremental international rig demand. The size, diversity and geographical location 

of this fleet give us exposure to every important oil and gas market.

INFR A STRUC T U R E  

No other company but Nabors has the infrastructure to support a global fleet of this size. Approximately 

180 Nabors facilities and offices in more than 30 countries provide extensive support of operational, 

maintenance, construction and logistical efforts, allowing us to build, refurbish or redeploy rigs rapidly in 

response to customer demand. This also allows us to add rigs as demand warrants with little incremental 

overhead and provides us with the ability to deliver suitable rigs to meet customer requirements anywhere 

on the globe. This was successfully demonstrated with the recent deployment of several of our proprietary 

Super Sundowner offshore platform rigs, which we adapted specifically for multi-well land applications 

in Colorado.

FL E ET SI Z E + DIS T R IBU T ION  

 +  N E W-BU I L D COM PA R ISON

2008

 U.S. Land

 Canada

 International 
 Land

 Offshore

Nabors Industries Ltd.PattersonH&PKCA Deutag

51 114 85 337 

 8 41 16 86 

20 344

 – 28

9 34    1749 58

 – 8 86 7 19 New-Builds 
 by region

Total Fleet  
 by region

21767 364 587
94  |  NEW 28  |  NEW 151  |  NEW

Source: Public  
reports including 
announced 2008  
new-build deliveries. 

26  |  NEW
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SC A L E 

The sheer size of our operations provides unmatched cost economies. These are most obvious in the   

purchasing power resident in an organization that annually contracts for miles of drill pipe, tons 

of steel and thousands of pieces of ancillary equipment. This keeps our operating cost and our capital 

expenditures well below industry averages. We are also able to spread costs that are less variable, such 

as insurance and administration over a much larger base. The opportunities for standardization and 

the sharing of technology and expertise are additional benefits.

WOR K FORCE  

The ability to commit a host of resources on a global basis is a Nabors trademark. Our 24,000 employees 

support Nabors worldwide, many of whom are local nationals, the employment of whom provide a vari-

ety of strategic benefits. Our comprehensive training program continues to upgrade this workforce and 

facilitate its expansion, with strategically located facilities reducing the time and expense of training in 

every market. This sophisticated training program and the commitment of management at every level 

has resulted in a safety record that is superior in the industry. Nabors’ companies continue to set industry 

standards for safety with nearly all of our units achieving top-tier industry status and four of our operat-

ing entities recording zero lost-time incidents in 2007, an extraordinary accomplishment given the nature 

of the industry. None of this would have been possible without our talented, experienced and dedicated 

workforce, without whom Nabors would not occupy our current industry leadership position. 

FINA NCE S   

To support a fleet of approximately 1,500 rigs and the requisite infrastructure – while also capturing 

the large number of incremental opportunities presented by such a fleet – requires a powerful financial 

structure. No other land drilling contractor has the capital resources which our exceptionally strong  

balance sheet provides. We also have a very low cost of capital, evidence of which is our recent placement 

of $575 million in Senior Unsecured Notes at an interest rate of 6.15 percent. The magnitude of our 

cash flow and capital resources has allowed us to invest in excess of $6 billion in capital expenditures and 

repurchase $1.5 billion of our common stock while still retaining in excess of $1 billion in cash and liquid 

investments. We also enjoy a favorable tax position which allows us to be more competitive globally.

a different Animal



Sincerely, 

EUGENE M. ISENBERG

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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IMPAC T  

The value of these competitive advantages is that we are exposed to virtually every rig opportunity  

worldwide, achieve a higher success rate on these opportunities and derive greater profitability on those 

we choose to pursue. This is most evident in the success of our International operations where in the 

last three years our market share has increased from 7.8 percent to 11.1 percent while our operating  

income increased from $89 million to $332 million, strong growth trends we believe are sustainable. 

Growth in this segment and in our other businesses was the primary element that provided us with a  

solid year despite significantly weaker conditions in our North American rig businesses, conditions  

which historically would have reduced our results dramatically. 

This different outcome again reflects the different company that Nabors has become, which will be 

even more apparent when the inevitable recovery in North America occurs. This recovery will likely 

be different as well, as the efficiency gains emanating from new and upgraded rigs have permanently 

changed the dynamics of the market. This means that any recovery will be based initially on higher  

capability rigs returning to service, followed by more upgrades and commitments for new-builds.  

This will likely serve to limit the extent and sustainability of price increases for older, less capable rigs. 

Furthermore, a recovery will consist not just of U.S. land drilling, but also Canada and U.S. Offshore,  

drilling and workover. Because Nabors possesses the largest availability of higher efficiency rigs in all 

of these markets, it stands to reason that we will have the largest exposure to the inevitable North  

American recovery. When combined with the substantial ongoing growth of our international and  

other businesses, this provides us with extraordinary earnings leverage which will commence from 

a higher level than ever before.

I look forward to reporting the results of this enhanced leverage in the not too distant future.

Nabors Industries Ltd.
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 Y E A R  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1,

(In thousands, except  
per share amounts 
and ratio data) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Operating revenues 
 and Earnings from 
 unconsolidated 
 affiliates $ 4,956,572 $ 4,727,834 $ 3,400,143 $ 2,355,628 $ 1,824,578 $ 1,415,973 $ 2,156,478 $ 1,375,468 $ 667,663

Depreciation and 
 amortization, 
 and depletion  539,912  403,233  331,948  293,517  228,440  187,654  180,214  144,037  99,023

Income from 
 continuing 
 operations, 
 net of tax $ 895,667 $ 993,009 $ 638,155 $ 300,968 $ 187,708 $ 115,784 $ 337,650 $ 130,106 $ 27,894

Income (loss) from 
 discontinued 
 operations, 
 net of tax  35,024  27,727  10,540  1,489  4,520  5,705  19,800  7,250  (190)

Net income $ 930,691 $ 1,020,736 $ 648,695 $ 302,457 $ 192,228 $ 121,489 $ 357,450 $ 137,356 $ 27,704

Earnings per share: 
 Diluted from 
 continuing 
 operations $ 3.13 $ 3.31 $ 1.97 $ .96 $ .61 $ .39 $ 1.06 $ .43 $ .12

 Diluted from 
 discontinued 
 operations $ .12 $ .09 $ .03 $ – $ .01 $ .01 $ .06 $ .02 $ –

 Total diluted $ 3.25 $ 3.40 $ 2.00 $ .96 $ .62 $ .40 $ 1.12 $ .45 $ .12

Weighted-average 
 number of diluted 
 common shares 
 outstanding  286,606  299,827  324,378  328,060  313,794  299,993  337,580  304,834  240,898

Capital expenditures 
 and acquisitions 
 of businesses $ 1,979,831 $ 1,997,971 $ 1,003,269 $ 544,429 $ 353,138 $ 702,843 $ 803,241 $ 334,279 $ 837,732

Interest coverage ratio 
 from continuing 
 operations  32.5:1  38.1:1  25.6:1  12.9:1  6.1:1  5.2:1  11.7:1  10.7:1  5.5:1

OPER AT ING DATA
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GEOGR A PHIC DISTR IBU T ION  
OF R EV ENU E S A ND A SSETS

BA L A NCE SHEET DATA

 A S  O F  D E C E M B E R  3 1,

(In thousands,  
except ratio data) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Cash and 
 investments $ 1,056,358 $ 1,653,285 $ 1,646,327 $ 1,411,047 $ 1,579,090 $ 1,345,799 $ 918,637 $ 550,953 $ 111,666

Working capital  710,980  1,650,496  1,264,852  821,120  1,529,691  1,077,602  1,077,841  524,437  195,817

Property, plant and 
 equipment, net  6,689,126  5,410,101  3,886,924  3,275,495  2,990,792  2,801,067  2,451,386  1,835,039  1,678,664

Total assets  10,103,382  9,142,303  7,230,407  5,862,609  5,602,692  5,063,872  4,151,915  3,136,868  2,398,003

Long-term debt  3,306,433  4,004,074  1,251,751  1,201,686  1,985,553  1,614,656  1,567,616  854,777  482,600

Shareholders’ equity $ 4,514,121 $ 3,536,653 $ 3,758,140 $ 2,929,393 $ 2,490,275 $ 2,158,455 $ 1,857,866 $ 1,806,468 $ 1,470,074

Funded debt to 
 capital ratio: 
 Gross  0.44:1  0.50:1  0.32:1  0.38:1  0.45:1  0.46:1  0.43:1  0.31:1  0.24:1 
 Net   0.37:1  0.37:1  0.08:1  0.15:1  0.20:1  0.23:1  0.24:1  0.14:1  0.20:1

 Y E A R  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Operating revenues 
 and Earnings from 
 unconsolidated 
 affiliates: 
 United States $ 3,189,230 $ 3,141,299 $ 2,230,614 $ 1,462,622 $ 1,086,664 $ 947,258 $ 1,787,764 $ 1,076,424 $ 445,955 
 Foreign  1,767,342  1,586,535  1,169,529  893,006  737,914  468,715  368,714  299,044  221,708

    $ 4,956,572 $ 4,727,834 $ 3,400,143 $ 2,355,628 $ 1,824,578 $ 1,415,973 $ 2,156,478 $ 1,375,468 $ 667,663

 A S  O F  D E C E M B E R  3 1,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Total assets: 
 United States $ 5,752,798 $ 5,574,206 $ 4,581,307 $ 3,788,180 $ 3,641,185 $ 3,569,657 $ 3,282,429 $ 2,649,923 $ 1,917,751 
 Foreign  4,350,584  3,568,097  2,649,100  2,074,429  1,961,507  1,494,215  869,486  486,945  480,252

    $ 10,103,382 $ 9,142,303 $ 7,230,407 $ 5,862,609 $ 5,602,692 $ 5,063,872 $ 4,151,915 $ 3,136,868 $ 2,398,003
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737 L A ND WOR KOV ER R IGS

535 L A ND DR IL L I NG R IGS

35 PL AT FOR M R IGS

4 BA RGE R IGS

12 JACK-U PS

> Alaska
> U.S. Gulf of Mexico
> Australia

> West Africa
> Italy
> Mexico

> U.S. Gulf of Mexico
> Mexico
> Qatar
> Saudi Arabia

* Includes eight 50 percent-owned joint venture rigs. 

> > >  DR IL L I NG I NS T RU M EN TAT ION S YS T E MS

> > >  TOP DR I V E M A N U FAC T U R I NG

> > >  OIL FI E L D SERV ICE S

> Alaska
> U.S. Lower 48
> Canada
> Mexico/Latin America
> Australia and Far East
> Middle East/Africa/CIS

> U.S. Gulf of Mexico

While other breeds focused  

on one type of equipment,  

we expanded our fleet globally  

to include both land and offshore drilling  

and workover rigs. We also developed  

specialized rigs for virtually any environment  

while building a support network of subsidiary  

companies to satisfy our appetite for growth. As a  

result, we have obtained the size and strength required to  

capitalize on any emerging opportunity wherever it occurs.

> U.S. Lower 48
> Canada

We never run  
with the herd.

a different Animal
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P L A T F O R M  W O R K O V E R P L A T F O R M  D R I L L I N G

Actively Marketed Rigs Only < 750 HP Sundowner > 750 HP
Super

Sundowner
Self-

Elevated
Workover
Jack-up

Drilling
Jack-upMASE® API Barge TOTAL

             
              
             

International Offshore

Australia     1 1     2 

 Congo    1       1 

 India  2         2 

 Italy    1       1 

 Malaysia   1        1 

 Mexico    5 3 1    1 10 

 Qatar          1 1 

 Saudi Arabia         1 2 3 

 United States          1 1

 Saudi Arabia Joint Ventures          1 1(1)

Total International Offshore – 2 1 7 4 2 – – 1 6 23

U.S. Gulf of Mexico 1 4 2 4 – 5 2 4 4 1 27 

Alaska      1     1

Total Offshore 1 6 3 11 4 8 2 4 5 7 51
(1) Includes one (Rig 867) joint venture rig in which Nabors owns a 50% interest.

a different Animal
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    <  3 0 0  H P  3 0 0  –  3 5 0  H P  4 0 0  –  4 5 0  H P  5 0 0  H P  a n d  >  T O T A L

U.S. Lower 48 

West Texas 8 55 65 11 139

East Texas 4 16 14 21 55

South Texas – 4 12 13 29

Oklahoma 3 10 15 13 41

Rocky Mountains 2 5 33 34 74

California 63 94 58 11 226

Total U.S. Lower 48 80 184 197 103 564

Canada 22 79 63 9 173

Total Workover/Well-Servicing 102 263 260 112 737

R IG FLEET

R IGS

land

coiled tubing

<
<

<

< < < offshore

workover/well-servicing

land

coiled tubing
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    <  1 , 0 0 0  H P  1 , 0 0 0  –  1 , 3 9 9  H P  

  Electrical Mechanical Total Electrical Mechanical Total 

 
 North Slope 1 3 4 4 – 4 
 Cook Inlet – 2 2 – – – 

Total Alaska 1 5 6 4 – 4 

 
 Southern Division 
  California 4 2 6 4 – 4 
  East Texas 19 6 25 12 7 19 
  Gulf Coast – – – 2 2 4 
  North Texas 10 4 14 8 4 12 
  South Texas 1 – 1 3 3 6 
  West Texas – 5 5 3 2 5 

  Subtotal Southern Division 34 17 51 32 18 50 

 Northern Division 
  Arkoma 1 16 17 – 4 4 
  Colorado 8 13 21 5 4 9 
  Mid-Continent 3 – 3 2 2 4 
  North Dakota – 4 4 1 20 21 
  Wyoming 3 7 10 9 1 10 

  Subtotal Northern Division 15 40 55 17 31 48 

  Subtotal U.S. Lower 48 49 57 106 49 49 98 

Actively Marketed U.S. Land Drilling Fleet 50 62 112 53 49 102 

Canada  5 54 59 10 4 14 

 
 Latin America 
  Argentina – 14 14 3 – 3 
  Bolivia – – – – – – 
  Colombia – 3 3 – 2 2 
  Ecuador – 4 4 – – – 
  Mexico – – – – – – 
  Trinidad – – – – – – 
  Venezuela – – – – – – 

  Subtotal Latin America – 21 21 3 2 5 

 Australia and Far East 
  Australia 1 – 1 – – – 
  Brunei – – – – – – 

  Subtotal Australia and Far East 1 – 1 – – – 

 Middle East/Africa/CIS 
  Algeria – – – – – – 
  Gabon – – – – – – 
  Kazakhstan – 2 2 – 2 2 
  Libya – – – – – – 
  Oman 2 3 5 3 – 3 
  Russia – – – – – – 
  Saudi Arabia – – – – – – 
  U.A.E. – 1 1 – – – 
  Uganda – – – – – – 
  Yemen 1 1 2 3 – 3 

  Subtotal Middle East/Africa/CIS 3 7 10 6 2 8 

Joint Ventures 
 Saudi Arabia Joint Ventures – 3 3 – – – 

Total International 4 31 35 9 4 13 

Total Actively Marketed Land Drilling Fleet 59 147 206 72 57 129 

Actively Marketed Rigs Only

ALASKA

U.S.  LOWER 48

INTERNATIONAL

a different Animal
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land DR ILLING FLEET <
<

<

1 , 4 0 0  –  1 , 9 9 9  H P  >  2 , 0 0 0  H P  T O T A L

Electrical Mechanical Total Electrical Mechanical Total Electrical Mechanical Total

– – – 7 – 7 12 3 15 
– – – 1 – 1 1 2 3

– – – 8 – 8 13 5 18

3 – 3 2 – 2 13 2 15 
10 1 11 1 – 1 42 14 56 
10 – 10 9 – 9 21 2 23 
4 – 4 – – – 22 8 30 

17 – 17 12 – 12 33 3 36 
2 2 4 3 1 4 8 10 18

46 3 49 27 1 28 139 39 178

2 2 4 – – – 3 22 25 
– – – – – – 13 17 30 

11 – 11 5 – 5 21 2 23 
2 6 8 – – – 3 30 33 
6 – 6 3 – 3 21 8 29

21 8 29 8 – 8 61 79 140

67 11 78 35 1 36 200 118 318

67 11 78 43 1 44 213 123 336

4 3 7 5 – 5 24 61 85

– – – 1 – 1 4 14 18 
1 – 1 – – – 1 – 1 
3 – 3 3 – 3 6 5 11 
– – – 1 – 1 1 4 5 
2 – 2 4 – 4 6 – 6 
– – – 1 – 1 1 – 1 
2 – 2 – – – 2 – 2

8 – 8 10 – 10 21 23 44

– – – 1 – 1 2 – 2 
– – – 1 – 1 1 – 1

– – – 2 – 2 3 – 3

6 – 6 3 – 3 9 – 9 
1 – 1 – – – 1 – 1 
– – – 1 – 1 1 4 5 
– 1 1 1 – 1 1 1 2 
– – – 1 – 1 6 3 9 
– – – 1 – 1 1 – 1 
7 1 8 14 1 15 21 2 23 
– – – – – – – 1 1 
– 1 1 – – – – 1 1 
2 – 2 – – – 6 1 7

16 3 19 21 1 22 46 13 59

4 – 4 1 – 1 5 3 8

28 3 31 34 1 35 75 39 114

99 17 116 82 2 84 312 223 535

Nabors Industries Ltd.



power

Nabors began stretching our international wings nearly 20 years 

ago. We knew that if we were going to be the only truly global 

land driller, we would need a worldwide infrastructure to support 

it. That lofty goal is now reality with 180 facilities providing 

operational, maintenance, construction and logistical expertise. 

Add to that the cost economies that result from the sheer magni-

tude of our operations and you will see why we can soar to new 

heights when others are just getting off the ground.

Global wingspan.
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BR E A DT H

S T R ENGT H

POSI T ION 

MOBIL I T Y

Nabors Industries Ltd.
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Industrious would aptly describe the Nabors workforce.

Some 24,000 strong, this group of expertly trained and dedicated 

individuals consistently strives for excellence in operations and 

safety. It’s not surprising that we continue to set drilling records 

while constantly reducing our total incident rate. This type of 

performance takes work, and hard work consistently applied  

creates synergy. 

8

Industrious would aptly describe the Nabors workforce.

Some 24,000 strong, this group of expertly trained and dedicated 

individuals consistently strives for excellence in operations and

safety. It’s not surprising that we continue to set drilling records 

while constantly reducing our total incident rate. This type of 

performance takes work, and hard work consistently applied

creates synergy. 

a different Animal

C A PA BL E

DEDIC AT ED
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Nabors Industries Ltd.

FL E X IBL E

A BU NDA N T

resources
The buzz on Nabors is that we have unparalleled  
financial strength.

It’s evident in the magnitude of our cash flow and in our low  

cost of capital, which collectively have allowed us to build  

hundreds of new drilling and workover rigs while upgrading 

and automating our fleet. It also allows us to strategically invest 

in our other emerging segments – creative cross pollination  

that is paying off big.
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a different Animal

02  |  $0.39 03  |  $0.61 04  |  $0.96 05  |  $1.97 06  |  $3.31

 Nabors Drilling International

 Nabors Alaska Drilling

 Other Operating Segments 
 and Oil & Gas

 Nabors Drilling USA  

 Nabors Offshore

 Nabors Canada

 Nabors Well-Servicing 
 

Adjusted Income from Operations

49%
51%60%

 40%

19%
81%

30%
70%

17%
83%
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reachWhen you’re a different breed,  
you can reach a little higher than the crowd.

That allows you to plan a little better.  That’s why years ago, we began expanding our territory internationally,  

developing operations in more than 30 countries. Today, contributions from these markets kept our results at  

near-record levels even with a significant decline in a key area. More importantly, this broad base of operations  

effectively positions us to deliver even more extraordinary results when all our parts are contributing. That’s what  

makes Nabors stand head and shoulders above a jungle of so-called competitors. 

 Nabors. We’re a different animal, genetically engineered for success in all seasons.

MOR E R E SIL I EN T

L E SS R EL I A N T 

HIGH ER POT EN T I A L

07  |  $3.13 08  |  E – $3.09 09  |  E – $3.70

F I R S T C A L L  

M E A N E S T I M AT E

a s o f  03 .17.0 8

F I R S T C A L L  

M E A N E S T I M AT E

a s o f  03 .17.0 8

E A R N I NGS  

PE R SH A R E

f rom C ont i nu i ng  

Oper a t ion s

34%
66%

47%
53%

52%
48%



 U . S .  L A N D  D R I L L I N G

I N T E R N A T I O N A L

 U . S .  L A N D  W E L L - S E R V I C I N G

C A N A D A

U . S .  O F F S H O R E

A
L A S K A  D R I L L I N

G

O T H E R

U . S . L A N D D R I L L I N G

I N T E R N A T I O N A L

U . S . L A N D W E L L - S E R V I C I N G

C A N A D A

U . S . O F F S H O R E

A
L A S K A D R I L L I N

G

O T H E R

OTHER operating segments:   
Canrig Drilling Technology Ltd.,  

Epoch Well Services, Inc.,  
Ryan Energy Technologies,  

Peak Oilfield Service Company



U.S.  LAND 

DRILLING

INTERNATIONAL

Nabors Drilling USA L.P. markets 318 land drilling rigs in every depth range and in every important 
oil and gas drilling area in the U.S. Lower 48.

> In spite of 26 fewer rigs operating in 2007, this unit still posted the second best year in its history,  
underpinned by long-term contracts for more than half of its fleet.

> New-build rigs, particularly some of our PACE™ 750 series, set several operational performance 
records in North and East Texas and the Rocky Mountains. The deployment of a land adaptation of our 
Super Sundowner offshore platform rig is exceeding the expectations of our customers. These rigs are  
especially effective on multi-well pads when space is at a premium.

> Nabors Drilling U.S.A. posted the best safety record in its history, with a 25 percent improvement in 
total recordable incidents and a decline in incident severity, both of which compare favorably to the 
records of our next five largest competitors.

> The current outlook for 2008 is for a stable rig count, but with a significant drop in operating income 
as contracts for 46 older rigs expire and renew at lower prices, partially offset by further new rig deploy-
ments. There are still 12 new rigs yet to deploy on term contracts at very good rates and we continue to 
see customer interest that could lead to additional new rig commitments. We have relocated a number 
of our diesel electric rigs to satisfy contracts internationally and we will continue to evaluate new oppor-
tunities in this vast and growing market. We will also continue to incorporate new technology into our 
rigs to improve performance, reduce down time and extend our competitive advantage.

Nabors International owns and operates both land and offshore rigs in 30 countries worldwide and 
has operating experience in more than 20 others.

> This unit posted its best year ever in 2007 on the strength of improved pricing and the impact of 
17 incremental rigs. Eight of these additional rigs were redeployed from other Nabors units.

> This unit continued to take steps to meet the extraordinary manpower challenges that have resulted 
from the increased level of activity in international markets including a new human resources manage-
ment system and a competency-based training program. Both will help recruit and retain skilled labor  
in the face of increasing global competition, as well as train the existing workforce to meet growing  
customer demand.

> Safety continued to improve in this unit with the recordable incident rate dropping from 1.25 to 1.07, 
a significant achievement in the face of an 18 percent increase in man hours worked and given the  
cultural and language obstacles inherent in this business. 

> The outlook for 2008 is for an increase in operating income on the order of 50 percent on the strength 
of continued pricing improvement and the impact of 15 incremental rigs, the most significant of which 
is a newly constructed jack-up which will begin working offshore Saudi Arabia in the second quarter. 
Bidding activity continues to be strong for projects in Russia, the Middle East and South and Central 
America. Additional awards are likely during the year as the company leverages its ability to rapidly  
relocate rigs from areas of lesser activity.
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Nabors Well Services provides oil and gas well-servicing, workover and completion, as well as fluid  
transportation and disposal services. This unit operates in two divisions and is a major player in the  
California market as well as in Texas, the mid-continent and the Rocky Mountains.

> Results in 2007 were down substantially from the prior year for this unit as industry activity turned flat 
in the more competitive markets in the face of new rig supply, which had a negative impact on utilization 
and pricing.

> Safety remained a bright spot as the recordable incident rate dropped from 2.26 to 1.73, good enough 
to win the Association of Energy Service Companies’ Gold Award for the eleventh consecutive year.

> Results in 2008 are expected to be flat to 2007 as lower utilization and pricing in the more competitive 
markets in west and south Texas are materially offset by stability in the higher revenue markets in east 
Texas, the Rocky Mountains and California, areas where most of our new rigs are being deployed. Longer 
term, we expect Nabors Well Services to benefit from the fact that a large percentage of the industry fleet 
is antiquated and will have to be replaced, providing more opportunities for Nabors’ upgraded fleet.

Nabors Canada operates 85 drilling rigs and 173 well-servicing and workover rigs and provides related  
services. The market is characterized by large seasonal fluctuation, particularly in the second quarter 
when the spring thaw greatly inhibits rig activity. The Nabors name emanates from this unit, which since 
its founding in 1952 has grown both internally and by acquisition.

> The weak North American gas market negatively impacted this unit more dramatically than any other 
Nabors operation, with results down more than 50 percent from the prior year. This environment was  
exacerbated by pending changes in the Canadian federal tax structure that removed benefits for many 
operators, and a late-year increase in the royalties paid to the Alberta provincial government, both of which 
served to further stall drilling activity.

> This unit had a remarkable year from a safety perspective as both the drilling and well-servicing divisions 
continued to set industry standards. Drilling operations posted the best year ever, with the lowest record-
able incident rate of any company in its class.

> Results in this unit should be down significantly again in 2008, evidence of which was a two-month delay 
in the winter ramp up. However, the reduced drilling level is beginning to adversely impact gas production 
and we think this situation will accelerate as the year progresses, leading to a more rapid than expected 
rebound in activity in order to restore production to acceptable levels. In the meantime, this unit continues 
to provide equipment and technical support to other Nabors units, exporting five rigs to our international 
operations. Construction is almost complete on two new heliportable rigs and a PACE™ rig scheduled for 
deployment in Canada later in the year.

Nabors Offshore is engaged in the drilling and workover of oil and gas wells in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, 
operating platform, jack-up and barge rigs. The company is known for its innovative designs, including 
the Sundowner® and Super-Sundowner platform workover and re-drilling rigs, the MASE® platform drilling 
rig and the unique MODS rig, a small footprint, lightweight drilling rig re-engineered to accommodate 
the dynamic wave action associated with deepwater SPAR and tension-leg platforms.

> Results for this unit were down in 2007 as the Gulf of Mexico workover market remained soft, impacting 
the utilization of our high margin jack-up rigs. Results were further dampened by a fire on barge rig 100, 
which limited utilization to one month for the entire year. Meanwhile, platform drilling rigs remained at 
almost 100 percent utilization as smaller operators continued aggressive development projects.

> Safety performance was exemplary for this unit which led the offshore drilling industry with zero lost- 
time incidents.

U.S.  LAND  
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> Prospects for this unit are much improved in 2008, with the potential for a full year from all four of 
our barge rigs, almost double last year’s availability. Early 2008 results indicate that the jack-up market 
is also improving, and MASE® rig P-16 will begin working in the third quarter after being stacked during 
2007. Contracts for two new-build rigs, a 2,000 hp MODS rig and a 1,000 hp posted barge rig, are likely 
in 2008, but contributions from these rigs will not be realized until 2009.

Nabors Alaska has conducted Arctic drilling operations in Alaska since 1962, building and operating  
specialized, high-specification rigs with capital costs that are multiples of those associated with traditional 
land rigs. The company was involved in the state’s first commercial drilling operation in 1962, and drilled 
both the discovery well and the confirmation well in the giant Prudhoe Bay Field. 

> Nabors Alaska doubled its operating income in 2007 on the strength of 10 rigs running at year end, 
a labor contract and a sea water pumping operation. Two new-built heliportable rigs manufactured by our 
Canadian subsidiary deployed late in the fourth quarter.

> We recently received a commitment for Rig 27E which could turn into a long-term contract beginning in 
2008. This unit also won a new contract for a 15,000-foot coiled tubing rig which will deliver in early 2009.

> Results in 2008 should again be up substantially as several rig contracts renew at market rates. This unit 
will also benefit from a full year’s contribution from the two new rigs that deployed in the fourth quarter of 
2007, and Rig 245 is also expected to begin working in the fourth quarter of 2008.

CANRIG DRILLING TECHNOLOGY LTD. 

Canrig manufactures and markets a broad range of drilling equipment and systems including top drives, 
pipe handling and other accessory equipment worldwide.

> Canrig posted a record year in revenues, income and top drives delivered in 2007. Top drive sales 
increased by 20 percent while sales to third parties more than doubled. The increase in third-party sales 
was primarily in international venues, a reflection of this unit’s expanding global presence and reputation. 

> Canrig constructed and deployed its first five electrical control and drive systems for new generation 
AC- and PLC-controlled rigs during the year. When combined with other Canrig products, it gives the  
company the capability to manufacture an entire drilling rig with minimum contributions from vendors. 

> Safety performance was also excellent during the year as lost-time incidents declined to 0.79, an  
improvement of more than 50 percent over the prior year. 

> Results for this unit in 2008 should be flat, but income should again increase on the strength of 
expanded third-party sales of top drives, floor wrenches and catwalks. Canrig has implemented an  
aggressive program to reduce manufacturing costs which will make the product line more competitive 
in the global marketplace. The ownership of this unit was also restructured to better align with our 
increased international content and we are building a more extensive global service organization.

EPOCH WELL SERVICES,  INC.

Epoch manufactures instrumentation systems to collect, analyze and transmit data that facilitates oil 
and gas drilling operations.

> Epoch posted an excellent year in sales of instrumentation systems and mudlogging services in 2007.  
Sales of its proprietary internet portal mywells.com tripled during the year as a new version was rolled 
out which allows for remote real-time monitoring of directional drilling.
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> StraightShot™, the company’s electronic drift indicator, was also deployed on scale in 2007 with 150 units 
delivered during the year after introductory marketing efforts in 2006. Epoch also developed and imple-
mented sophisticated software to replace less reliable code furnished by certain PACE ™  rig vendors. This 

broadens Epoch’s product line and allows the company to add control software for rig equipment and  
automation systems. 

> Results in 2008 are expected to be in line with our performance in 2007, but our ongoing expansion 
into international markets should positively impact performance in late 2008 and beyond.

RYAN ENERGY TECHNOLOGIES

Ryan Energy Technologies provides horizontal and directional drilling and measurement while drilling 
(MWD) services.

> Results for this unit almost doubled in 2007 on the strength of improved utilization and pricing in the  
U.S. market, where Ryan was able to capitalize on rapidly increasing demand for directional and horizontal 
drilling. Results in Canada also improved as increased market penetration more than offset a 60 percent 
drop in the rig count.

> Safety improved from one recordable incident in 2006 to zero in 2007, a significant accomplishment  
considering the continuously mobile nature of this unit’s assets. 

> The outlook for 2008 is for continued improvement, but at a much slower pace. This unit is also pursuing 
opportunities to package services with Nabors rigs in certain international venues where the Company 
has infrastructure and competitive advantages.

PEAK OILFIELD SERVICE COMPANY

Peak Oilfield Service Company is involved in construction, maintenance and logistics in support of oil and 
gas drilling in Alaska.

> Results for Peak Alaska were flat year-over-year, but at a high level as this unit virtually duplicated the  
record year it posted in 2006. The company benefitted from a full season of our new Roll-a-gon (all-terrain 
tundra vehicle) business which created several opportunities in the foothills of the Brooks Range and in the 
National Petroleum Reserve Alaska (NPRA). Revenues were further bolstered by increased drilling and  
production activity on the North Slope and in Southern Alaska. 

> Safety in this unit showed a slight improvement over last year’s excellent results, giving us a substantial 
competitive advantage. 

> Results in this unit should be up slightly in 2008 as an influx of new operators continues to drive aggres-
sive exploration programs. This unit will also benefit from two long-term contracts to conduct support work 
for major operators in Prudhoe Bay and in the Alpine area. We continue to expand marketing opportunities 
for Peak, as evidenced by the formation of our Civil Technology Division which recently secured an airport 
soil stabilization contract with the FAA.

Nabors invests in numerous oil and gas properties with a multitude of operators in the U.S., Canada and 
other select international venues. Investments are made through both Ramshorn, a wholly-owned Nabors 
subsidiary, and NFR, a joint venture with First Reserve Corporation.

> 2007 provided many attractive investment opportunities for this unit. We continued to develop certain 
properties in our Ramshorn portfolio and we were also able to capitalize on two opportunities to monetize  
a portion of our holdings at a significant gain. NFR added several key managers and technical staff and 
commenced operations as both a working-interest owner and an operating company, acquiring significant 
holdings at attractive costs late in the year. The value of our oil and gas holdings continues to grow and  
will become increasingly apparent in the future.  
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Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:
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 Common Shares, $.001 par value per share The New York Stock Exchange
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status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.
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Our internet address is www.nabors.com. We make available 
free of charge through our website our annual report on Form 10-K, 
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K 
and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to 
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 
“Exchange Act”) as soon as reasonably practicable after we electron-
ically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). In addition, a glossary of 
drilling terms used in this document and documents relating to 
our corporate governance (such as committee charters, governance 
guidelines and other internal policies) can be found on our website. 
The SEC maintains an internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains 
reports, proxy and information statements and other information 
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

Forward-Looking Statements
We often discuss expectations regarding our future markets, 

demand for our products and services, and our performance in 
our annual and quarterly reports, press releases, and other written 
and oral statements. Statements that relate to matters that are not 
historical facts are “forward-looking statements” within the mean-
ing of the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities 
Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. These “forward-
looking statements” are based on an analysis of currently available 
competitive, financial and economic data and our operating plans. 
They are inherently uncertain and investors should recognize that 
events and actual results could turn out to be significantly differ-
ent from our expectations. By way of illustration, when used in 
this document, words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” 
“plan,” “intend,” “estimate,” “project,” “will,” “should,” “could,” 
“may,” “predict” and similar expressions are intended to identify 
forward-looking statements.

You should consider the following key factors when evaluating 
these forward-looking statements:

 fluctuations in worldwide prices of and demand for  
 natural gas and oil; 

 fluctuations in levels of natural gas and oil exploration  
 and development activities;

 fluctuations in the demand for our services; 
 the existence of competitors, technological changes  

 and developments in the oilfield services industry;
 the existence of operating risks inherent in the  

 oilfield services industry;
 the existence of regulatory and legislative uncertainties; 
 the possibility of changes in tax laws; 
 the possibility of political instability, war or acts of terrorism  

 in any of the countries in which we do business; and
 general economic conditions. 
Our businesses depend, to a large degree, on the level of spend-

ing by oil and gas companies for exploration, development and  
production activities. Therefore, a sustained increase or decrease in 
the price of natural gas or oil, which could have a material impact 
on exploration, development and production activities, could also 
materially affect our financial position, results of operations and 
cash flows.

The above description of risks and uncertainties is by no means 
all-inclusive, but is designed to highlight what we believe are 
important factors to consider. For a more detailed description of 
risk factors, please see Part I – Item 1A. – Risk Factors.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K to “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” or 
“Nabors” means Nabors Industries Ltd. and, where the context 
requires, includes our subsidiaries.

FOR M 10 -K A N NUA L R EPORT
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Item 1  Business

Introduction
Nabors is the largest land drilling contractor in the world  

with approximately 535 actively marketed land drilling rigs. We 
conduct oil, gas and geothermal land drilling operations in the 
U.S. Lower 48 states, Alaska, Canada, South America, Mexico, 
the Caribbean, the Middle East, the Far East, Russia and Africa. 
We are also one of the largest land well-servicing and workover 
contractors in the United States and Canada. We actively market 
approximately 564 land workover and well-servicing rigs in the 
United States, primarily in the southwestern and western United 
States, and approximately 173 land workover and well-servicing 
rigs in Canada. Nabors is a leading provider of offshore platform 
workover and drilling rigs, and actively markets 35 platform,  
12 jack-up units and 4 barge rigs in the United States and multi-
ple international markets. These rigs provide well-servicing, work-
over and drilling services. We have a 51% ownership interest in a 
joint venture in Saudi Arabia, which actively markets 9 rigs. We 
also offer a wide range of ancillary well-site services, including 
engineering, construction, maintenance, well logging, directional 
drilling, rig instrumentation, data collection and other support 
services in selected domestic and international markets. We pro-
vide logistics services for onshore drilling in Canada using heli-
copters and fixed-winged aircraft. We manufacture and lease or 
sell top drives for a broad range of drilling applications, direc-
tional drilling systems, rig instrumentation and data collection 
equipment, pipeline handling equipment and rig reporting soft-
ware. We also invest in oil and gas exploration, development and 
production activities and have 49% ownership interests in joint 
ventures in the U.S., Canada and International areas.

Nabors was formed as a Bermuda-exempt company on  
December 11, 2001. Through predecessors and acquired entities, 
Nabors has been continuously operating in the drilling sector 
since the early 1900s. Our principal executive offices are located 
at Mintflower Place, 8 Par-La-Ville Road, Hamilton, HM08,  
Bermuda. Our phone number at our principal executive offices  
is (441) 292-1510.

Our Fleet of Rigs 
Land Rigs  A land-based drilling rig generally consists of 

engines, a drawworks, a mast (or derrick), pumps to circulate the 
drilling fluid (mud) under various pressures, blowout preventers, 
drill string and related equipment. The engines power the differ-
ent pieces of equipment, including a rotary table or top drive that 
turns the drill string, causing the drill bit to bore through the 
subsurface rock layers. Rock cuttings are carried to the surface by 
the circulating drilling fluid. The intended well depth, bore hole 
diameter and drilling site conditions are the principal factors that 
determine the size and type of rig most suitable for a particular 
drilling job.

A land-based workover or well-servicing rig consists of a 
mobile carrier, engine, drawworks and a mast. The mobile work-
over or well-servicing rig is specially designed for periodic main-
tenance as well as major repairs and modifications of oil and gas 
wells for which service is required to maximize the productive  
life of such wells. Workovers may be required to remedy failures, 
modify well depth and formation penetration to capture hydro-
carbons from alternative formations, clean out and recomplete  
a well when production has declined, repair leaks or convert a 
depleted well to an injection well for secondary or enhanced 
recovery projects. The primary function of a workover or well- 
servicing rig is to act as a hoist so that pipe, sucker rods and 
down-hole equipment can be run into and out of a well. Because 
of size and cost considerations, well-servicing and workover 
rigs are used for these operations rather than the larger drilling 
rigs. Land-based drilling rigs are moved between well sites and 
between geographic areas of operations by using our fleet of 
cranes, loaders and transport vehicles or those from a third-party 
service vendor. Well-servicing rigs are generally self-propelled 
units and heavier capacity workover rigs are either self-propelled 
or trailer mounted and include auxiliary equipment, which is 
either transported on trailers or moved with trucks.

Platform Rigs  Platform rigs provide offshore workover,  
drilling and re-entry services. Our platform rigs have drilling 
and/or well-servicing or workover equipment and machinery 
arranged in modular packages that are transported to, and assem-
bled and installed on, fixed offshore platforms owned by the cus-
tomer. Fixed offshore platforms are steel tower-like structures that 
either stand on the ocean floor or are moored floating structures. 
The top portion, or platform, sits above the water level and pro-
vides the foundation upon which the platform rig is placed.

PA RT I
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Jack-up Rigs  Jack-up rigs are mobile, self-elevating drilling  
and workover platforms equipped with legs that can be lowered  
to the ocean floor until a foundation is established to support 
the hull, which contains the drilling and/or workover equipment, 
jacking system, crew quarters, loading and unloading facilities, 
storage areas for bulk and liquid materials, helicopter landing 
deck and other related equipment. The rig legs may operate inde-
pendently or have a mat attached to the lower portion of the legs 
in order to provide a more stable foundation in soft bottom areas. 
Many of our jack-up rigs are of cantilever design – a feature that 
permits the drilling platform to be extended out from the hull, 
allowing it to perform drilling or workover operations over adja-
cent, fixed platforms. Nabors’ shallow workover jack-up rigs gen-
erally are subject to a maximum water depth of approximately 
125 feet, while some of our jack-up rigs may drill in water depths 
as shallow as 13 feet. Nabors also has deeper water depth capacity 
jack-up rigs that are capable of drilling at depths between eight 
feet and 150 to 250 feet. The water depth limit of a particular 
rig is determined by the length of the rig’s legs and the operating 
environment. Moving a rig from one drill site to another involves 
lowering the hull down into the water until it is afloat and then 
jacking up its legs with the hull floating. The rig is then towed  
to the new drilling site.

Inland Barge Rigs  One of Nabors’ barge rigs is a full-size  
drilling unit. Nabors also owns two workover inland barge rigs. 
These barges are designed to perform plugging and abandonment, 
well service or workover services in shallow inland, coastal or  
offshore waters. Our barge rigs can operate at depths between 
three and 20 feet.

Additional information regarding the geographic markets 
in which we operate and our business segments can be found 
in Note 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Part II, Item 8.

Customers: Types of Drilling Contracts
Our customers include major oil and gas companies, foreign 

national oil and gas companies and independent oil and gas com-
panies. No customer accounted for greater than 10% of consoli-
dated revenues in 2007 or in 2006.

On land in the U.S. Lower 48 states and Canada, we have  
historically been contracted on a single-well basis, with extensions 
subject to mutual agreement on pricing and other significant 
terms. Beginning in late 2004, as a result of increasing demand 
for drilling services, our customers started entering into longer 
term contracts with durations ranging from one to three years. 
Under these contracts, our rigs are committed to one customer 
over that term. Increasingly, these contracts are being signed for 
three-year terms for newly constructed rigs. Contracts relating  
to offshore drilling and land drilling in Alaska and international 
markets generally provide for longer terms, usually from one to 
five years. Offshore workover projects are often on a single-well 
basis. We generally are awarded drilling contracts through com-
petitive bidding, although we occasionally enter into contracts  
by direct negotiation. Most of our single-well contracts are subject 
to termination by the customer on short notice, but some can be 

firm for a number of wells or a period of time, and may provide 
for early termination compensation in certain circumstances.  
The contract terms and rates may differ depending on a variety  
of factors, including competitive conditions, the geographical 
area, the geological formation to be drilled, the equipment and 
services to be supplied, the on-site drilling conditions and the 
anticipated duration of the work to be performed.

In recent years, all of our drilling contracts have been daywork 
contracts. A daywork contract generally provides for a basic rate 
per day when drilling (the dayrate for us providing a rig and crew) 
and for lower rates when the rig is moving, or when drilling oper-
ations are interrupted or restricted by equipment breakdowns, 
adverse weather conditions or other conditions beyond our con-
trol. In addition, daywork contracts may provide for a lump sum 
fee for the mobilization and demobilization of the rig, which in 
most cases approximates our incurred costs. A daywork contract 
differs from a footage contract (in which the drilling contractor is 
paid on the basis of a rate per foot drilled) and a turnkey contract 
(in which the drilling contractor is paid for drilling a well to a 
specified depth for a fixed price).

Well-Servicing and Workover Services
Although some wells in the United States flow oil to the  

surface without mechanical assistance, most are in mature  
production areas that require pumping or some other form of  
artificial lift. Pumping oil wells characteristically require more 
maintenance than flowing wells because of the operation of the 
mechanical pumping equipment installed.

Well-Servicing/Maintenance Services  We provide maintenance 
services on the mechanical apparatus used to pump or lift oil 
from producing wells. These services include, among other  
things, repairing and replacing pumps, sucker rods and tubing. 
We provide the rigs, equipment and crews for these tasks, which 
are performed on both oil and natural gas wells, but which are 
more commonly required on oil wells. Maintenance services  
typically take less than 48 hours to complete. Well-servicing rigs 
generally are provided to customers on a call-out basis. We are 
paid an hourly rate and work typically is performed five days a 
week during daylight hours.

Workover Services  Producing oil and natural gas wells occa-
sionally require major repairs or modifications, called “workovers.” 
Workovers normally are carried out with a well-servicing rig that 
includes additional specialized accessory equipment, which may 
include rotary drilling equipment, mud pumps, mud tanks and 
blowout preventers. A workover may last anywhere from a few 
days to several weeks. We are paid an hourly rate and work is  
generally performed seven days a week, 24 hours a day.

Completion Services  The kinds of activities necessary to carry 
out a workover operation are essentially the same as those that  
are required to “complete” a well when it is first drilled. The com-
pletion process may involve selectively perforating the well casing 
at the depth of discrete producing zones, stimulating and testing 
these zones and installing down-hole equipment. The completion 
process may take a few days to several weeks. We are paid an 
hourly rate and work is generally performed seven days a week,  
24 hours a day.
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Production and Other Specialized Services  We also can provide 
other specialized services, including onsite temporary fluid-storage 
facilities, the provision, removal and disposal of specialized fluids 
used during certain completion and workover operations, and  
the removal and disposal of salt water that often is produced in 
conjunction with the production of oil and natural gas. We also 
provide plugging services for wells from which the oil and natural 
gas has been depleted or further production has become uneco-
nomical. We are paid an hourly or a per unit rate, as applicable, 
for these services.

Oil and Gas Investments
Through our Ramshorn business unit, Nabors makes selective 

investments in oil and gas exploration, development and produc-
tion operations. Beginning in late 2006, we entered into an agree-
ment with First Reserve Corporation to form select joint ventures 
to invest in oil and gas exploration opportunities worldwide.  
During 2007, three joint ventures were formed for operations in 
the United States, Canada and International areas. We hold a 
49% ownership interest in these joint ventures. Additional infor-
mation about recent activities for this segment can be found in 
Part II, Item 7. – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Oil and Gas.

Other Services
Canrig Drilling Technology Ltd., our drilling technologies 

subsidiary, manufactures top drives, which are installed on both 
onshore and offshore drilling rigs. Our top drives are marketed 
throughout the world. During the last three years, approximately 
65% of our top drive sales were made to other Nabors companies. 
We also rent top drives and provide top drive installation, repair 
and maintenance services to our customers. Canrig Drilling  
Technology Canada Ltd. manufactures catwalks and wrenches 
which are installed on both onshore and offshore drilling rigs. 
During the last nineteen months of operations since acquisition, 
approximately 62% of the equipment sales were made to other 
Nabors companies. Epoch Well Services, Inc., our well services 
subsidiary, offers rig instrumentation equipment, including sensors, 
proprietary RIGWATCH™ software and computerized equipment 
that monitors the real-time performance of a rig. In addition, Epoch 
specializes in daily reporting software for drilling operations, mak-
ing this data available through the internet via mywells.com. Epoch 
also provides mudlogging services. Ryan Energy Technologies, 
Inc., another one of our subsidiaries, manufactures and sells direc-
tional drilling and rig instrumentation and data collection services 
to oil and gas exploration and service companies. Nabors has a 
50% interest in Peak Oilfield Services Company, a general partner-
ship with a subsidiary of Cook Inlet Region, Inc., a leading Alaskan 
native corporation. Peak Oilfield Services provides heavy equip-
ment to move drilling rigs, water, other fluids and construction 
materials, primarily on Alaska’s North Slope and in the Cook 

Inlet region. The partnership also provides construction and 
maintenance for ice roads, pads, facilities, equipment, drill sites 
and pipelines. Nabors also has a 50% interest in Alaska Interstate 
Construction, a limited liability company whose other primary 
partner is Cook Inlet Region, Inc. Alaska Interstate Construction 
is a general contractor involved in the construction of roads, bridges, 
dams, drill sites and other facility sites, as well as providing mining 
support in Alaska. Revenues are derived from services to companies 
engaged in mining and public works. Our subsidiary, Peak USA 
Energy Services, Ltd., provides hauling and maintenance services 
for customers in the U.S. Lower 48 states. Nabors Blue Sky Ltd. 
leases aircraft used for logistics services for onshore drilling in 
Canada using helicopters and fixed-winged aircraft.

Our Employees
As of December 31, 2007, Nabors employed approximately 

23,965 persons, of whom approximately 3,044 were employed  
by unconsolidated affiliates. We believe our relationship with  
our employees generally is good.

Certain rig employees in Argentina and Australia are  
represented by collective bargaining units.

Seasonality
Our Canadian and Alaskan drilling and workover operations 

are subject to seasonal variations as a result of weather conditions 
and generally experience reduced levels of activity and financial 
results during the second calendar quarter of each year. Seasonality 
does not have a material impact on the remaining portions of our 
business. Our overall financial results reflect the seasonal variations 
experienced in our Canadian and Alaskan operations.

Research and Development
Research and development constitutes a growing part of our 

overall business. The effective use of technology is critical to  
the maintenance of our competitive position within the drilling 
industry. As a result of the importance of technology to our busi-
ness, we expect to continue to develop technology internally or  
to acquire technology through strategic acquisitions.

Industry/Competitive Conditions
To a large degree, Nabors’ businesses depend on the level of 

capital spending by oil and gas companies for exploration, devel-
opment and production activities. A sustained increase or decrease 
in the price of natural gas or oil could have a material impact on 
exploration, development and production activities by our cus-
tomers and could also materially affect our financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows. See Part I – Item 1A. – Risk 
Factors – Fluctuations in oil and gas prices could adversely affect 
drilling activity and Nabors’ revenues, cash flows and profitability.



33

Our industry remains competitive. Historically, the number  
of rigs has exceeded demand in many of our markets, resulting  
in strong price competition. More recently, as a result of improved 
demand for drilling services driven by a sustained high level of 
commodity prices, supply and demand have been in balance in 
most of our markets, with demand actually exceeding supply in 
some of our markets. This economic reality has resulted in an 
increase in rates being charged for rigs across our North Ameri-
can, Offshore and International markets. Furthermore, over the 
last three years, the dramatic increase in rates along with our  
customers’ willingness to enter into firm three-year commitments 
has resulted in our building of new rigs in significant quantities 
for the first time in over 20 years. However, as many existing rigs 
can be readily moved from one region to another in response to 
changes in levels of activity and many of the total available con-
tracts are currently awarded on a bid basis, competition based on 
price for both existing and new rigs still exists across all of our 
markets. The land drilling, workover and well-servicing market  
is generally more competitive than the offshore market due to  
the larger number of rigs and market participants.

In all of our geographic market areas, we believe price and 
availability and condition of equipment are the most significant 
factors in determining which drilling contractor is awarded a job. 
Other factors include the availability of trained personnel possess-
ing the required specialized skills; the overall quality of service 
and safety record; and domestically, the ability to offer ancillary 
services. Increasingly, as the market requires additional rigs and  
as a result of new build capacity, the ability to deliver rigs within 
certain time frames is becoming a competitive factor. In interna-
tional markets, experience in operating in certain environments 
and customer alliances, also have been factors in the selection  
of Nabors.

Certain competitors are present in more than one of Nabors’ 
operating regions, although no one competitor operates in all of 
these areas. In the U.S. Lower 48 states, there are several hundred 
competitors with national, regional or local rig operations. In 
domestic land workover and well-servicing, we compete with 
Basic Energy Services, Inc. and Key Energy Services, Inc. and 
with numerous other competitors having smaller regional or local 
rig operations. In Canada and offshore, Nabors competes with 
many firms of varying size, several of which have more significant 
operations in those areas than Nabors. Internationally, Nabors 
competes directly with various contractors at each location where 
it operates. Nabors believes that the market for land drilling, 
workover and well-servicing contracts will continue to be com-
petitive for the foreseeable future.

Our other operating segments represent a relatively smaller 
part of our business, and we have numerous competitors in each 
area. Our Canrig subsidiary is one of the four major manufac-
turers of top drives. Its largest competitors are National Oilwell 
Varco, Tesco and MH Pyramid. Epoch’s largest competitors in 
the manufacture of rig instrumentation systems are Pason and 
National Oilwell Varco’s Totco subsidiary. Mudlogging services 

are provided by a number of entities that serve the oil and gas 
industry on a regional basis. Epoch competes for mudlogging  
customers with Baker Hughes, Sperry Sun, Diversified, and  
Stratagraph in the Gulf Coast region, California and Alaska.  
In the U.S. Lower 48 states, there are hundreds of rig transporta-
tion companies, and there are at least three or four that compete 
with Peak USA in each of its operating regions. In Alaska, Peak 
Oilfield Services principally competes with Alaska Petroleum 
Contractors for road, pad and pipeline maintenance, and is one  
of many drill site and road construction companies, the largest of 
which is VECO Corporation, and Alaska Interstate Construction 
principally competes with Wilder Construction Company and 
Cruz Construction Company for the construction of roads, 
bridges, dams, drill sites and other facility sites.

Our Business Strategy
Since 1987, with the installation of our current management 

team, Nabors has adhered to a consistent strategy aimed at posi-
tioning our Company to grow and prosper in good times and to 
mitigate adverse effects during periods of poor market conditions. 
We have maintained a financial posture that allows us to capital-
ize on market weakness and strength by adding to our business 
base, thereby enhancing our upside potential. The principal  
elements of our strategy have been to:

 Maintain flexibility to respond to changing conditions. 
 Maintain a conservative and flexible balance sheet. 
 Build cost effectively a base of premium assets. 
 Build and maintain low operating costs through  

 economies of scale. 
 Develop and maintain long-term, mutually attractive  

 relationships with key customers and vendors.
 Build a diverse business in long-term, sustainable and  

 worthwhile geographic markets.
 Recognize and seize opportunities as they arise. 
 Continually improve safety, quality and efficiency. 
 Implement leading-edge technology where cost effective  

 to do so. 
 Build shareholder value by an expansion of our oil and gas  

 reserves and production.
Our business strategy is designed to allow us to grow and 

remain profitable in any market environment. The major develop-
ments in our business in the past three years illustrate our imple-
mentation of this strategy and its continuing success. Specifically, 
we have taken advantage of the robust rig market to obtain a high 
volume of contracts for newly constructed rigs. A large proportion 
of these rigs are subject to long-term contracts with creditworthy 
customers with the most significant impact occurring in our 
International operations. This will not only expand our operations 
with the latest state-of-the-art rigs, which should better weather 
downturns in market activity, but eventually replace the oldest 
least capable rigs in our existing fleet.
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Acquisitions and Divestitures
We have grown from a land drilling business centered in the 

U.S. Lower 48 states, Canada and Alaska to an international busi-
ness with operations on land and offshore in many of the major 
oil, gas and geothermal markets in the world. At the beginning  
of 1990, our fleet consisted of 44 actively marketed land drilling 
rigs in Canada, Alaska and in various international markets. 
Today, Nabors’ worldwide fleet of actively marketed rigs consist  
of approximately 535 land drilling rigs, approximately 564 domes-
tic and 173 international land workover and well-servicing rigs,  
35 offshore platform rigs, 12 jack-up units, 4 barge rigs and a 
large component of trucks and fluid hauling vehicles. This growth 
was fueled in part by strategic acquisitions. Although Nabors con-
tinues to examine opportunities, there can be no assurance that 
attractive rigs or other acquisition opportunities will continue to 
be available, that the pricing will be economical or that we will  
be successful in making such acquisitions in the future.

On January 3, 2006, we completed an acquisition of 1183011 
Alberta Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Airborne Energy  
Solutions Ltd., through the purchase of all common shares out-
standing for cash for a total purchase price of Cdn. $41.7 mil-
lion (U.S. $35.8 million). In addition, we assumed debt, net 
of working capital, totaling approximately Cdn. $10.0 million 
(U.S. $8.6 million). Nabors Blue Sky Ltd. (formerly 1183011 
Alberta Ltd.) owns 42 helicopters and fixed-wing aircraft and 
owns and operates a fleet of heliportable well-service equipment. 
The purchase price has been allocated based on final valuations 
of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of 
the acquisition date and resulted in goodwill of approximately 
U.S. $18.8 million.

On May 31, 2006, we completed an acquisition of Pragma 
Drilling Equipment Ltd.’s business, which manufactures catwalks, 
iron roughnecks and other related oilfield equipment, through an 
asset purchase consisting primarily of intellectual property for a 
total purchase price of Cdn. $46.1 million (U.S. $41.5 million). 
The purchase price has been allocated based on final valuations of 
the fair market value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as 
of the acquisition date and resulted in goodwill of approximately 
U.S. $10.5 million.

On August 8, 2007, we sold our Sea Mar business which had 
previously been included in Other Operating segments. The assets 
included 20 offshore supply vessels and certain related assets, 
including a right under a vessel construction contract. The oper-
ating results of this business for all periods presented are accounted 
for as a discontinued operation in the accompanying audited  
consolidated statements of income.

From time to time, we may sell a subsidiary or group of assets 
outside of our core markets or business, if it is economically 
advantageous for us to do so.

Environmental Compliance
Nabors does not presently anticipate that compliance with  

currently applicable environmental regulations and controls will 
significantly change its competitive position, capital spending or 
earnings during 2008. Nabors believes it is in material compli-
ance with applicable environmental rules and regulations, and the 
cost of such compliance is not material to the business or financial 
condition of Nabors. For a more detailed description of the envi-
ronmental laws and regulations applicable to Nabors operations, 
see Part I – Item 1A. – Risk Factors – Changes to or noncompli-
ance with governmental regulation or exposure to environmental 
liabilities could adversely affect Nabors’ results of operations.

Item 1A  Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth elsewhere in this 
Form 10-K, the following factors should be carefully considered 
when evaluating Nabors.

Fluctuations in oil and gas prices could adversely affect  
drilling activity and our revenues, cash flows and profitability

Our operations are materially dependent upon the level of 
activity in oil and gas exploration and production. Both short-
term and long-term trends in oil and gas prices affect the level of 
such activity. Oil and gas prices and, therefore, the level of drill-
ing, exploration and production activity can be volatile. World-
wide military, political and economic events, including initiatives 
by the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, may 
affect both the demand for, and the supply of, oil and gas. 
Weather conditions, governmental regulation (both in the United 
States and elsewhere), levels of consumer demand, the availability 
of pipeline capacity, and other factors beyond our control may 
also affect the supply of and demand for oil and gas. We believe 
that any prolonged reduction in oil and gas prices would depress 
the level of exploration and production activity. This would likely 
result in a corresponding decline in the demand for our services 
and could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, cash 
flows and profitability. Lower oil and gas prices could also cause 
our customers to seek to terminate, renegotiate or fail to honor 
our drilling contracts; affect the fair market value of our rig fleet 
which in turn could trigger a write-down for accounting pur-
poses; affect our ability to retain skilled rig personnel; and affect 
our ability to obtain access to capital to finance and grow our 
business. There can be no assurances as to the future level of 
demand for our services or future conditions in the oil and  
gas and oilfield services industries.
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We operate in a highly competitive industry with excess drilling 
capacity, which may adversely affect our results of operations

The oilfield services industry in which we operate is very  
competitive. Contract drilling companies compete primarily on  
a regional basis, and competition may vary significantly from 
region to region at any particular time. Many drilling, workover 
and well-servicing rigs can be moved from one region to another 
in response to changes in levels of activity and provided market 
conditions warrant, which may result in an oversupply of rigs in 
an area. In many markets in which we operate, the number of rigs 
available for use exceeds the demand for rigs, resulting in price 
competition. Most drilling and workover contracts are awarded 
on the basis of competitive bids, which also results in price com-
petition. The land drilling market generally is more competitive 
than the offshore drilling market because there are larger numbers 
of rigs and competitors.

The nature of our operations presents inherent risks of loss that,  
if not insured or indemnified against, could adversely affect our 
results of operations

Our operations are subject to many hazards inherent in the 
drilling, workover and well-servicing industries, including blow-
outs, cratering, explosions, fires, loss of well control, loss of hole, 
damaged or lost drilling equipment and damage or loss from 
inclement weather or natural disasters. Any of these hazards could 
result in personal injury or death, damage to or destruction of 
equipment and facilities, suspension of operations, environmental 
damage and damage to the property of others. Our offshore oper-
ations are also subject to the hazards of marine operations includ-
ing capsizing, grounding, collision, damage from hurricanes and 
heavy weather or sea conditions and unsound ocean bottom con-
ditions. In addition, our international operations are subject to 
risks of war, civil disturbances or other political events. Generally, 
drilling contracts provide for the division of responsibilities 
between a drilling company and its customer, and we seek to 
obtain indemnification from our customers by contract for certain 
of these risks. To the extent that we are unable to transfer such 
risks to customers by contract or indemnification agreements, we 
seek protection through insurance. However, there is no assurance 
that such insurance or indemnification agreements will adequately 
protect us against liability from all of the consequences of the 
hazards described above. The occurrence of an event not fully 
insured or indemnified against, or the failure of a customer or 
insurer to meet its indemnification or insurance obligations, could 
result in substantial losses. In addition, there can be no assurance 
that insurance will be available to cover any or all of these risks, 
or, even if available, that it will be adequate or that insurance pre-
miums or other costs will not rise significantly in the future, so as 

to make such insurance prohibitive. It is possible that we will face 
continued upward pressure in our upcoming insurance renewals, 
our premiums and deductibles will be higher, and certain insur-
ance coverage either will be unavailable or more expensive than it 
has been in the past. Moreover, our insurance coverage generally 
provides that we assume a portion of the risk in the form of a 
deductible. We may choose to increase the levels of deductibles 
(and thus assume a greater degree of risk) from time to time in 
order to minimize the overall cost to the Company.

The profitability of our international operations could be adversely 
affected by war, civil disturbance or political or economic turmoil

We derive a significant portion of our business from interna-
tional markets, including major operations in Canada, South 
America, Mexico, the Caribbean, the Middle East, the Far East, 
Russia and Africa. These operations are subject to various risks, 
including the risk of war, civil disturbances and governmental 
activities that may limit or disrupt markets, restrict the movement 
of funds or result in the deprivation of contract rights or the tak-
ing of property without fair compensation. In certain countries, 
our operations may be subject to the additional risk of fluctuating 
currency values and exchange controls. In the international mar-
kets in which we operate, we are subject to various laws and regu-
lations that govern the operation and taxation of our business and 
the import and export of our equipment from country to country, 
the imposition, application and interpretation of which can prove 
to be uncertain.

Changes to or noncompliance with governmental regulation or 
exposure to environmental liabilities could adversely affect our 
results of operations

The drilling of oil and gas wells is subject to various federal, 
state, local and foreign laws, rules and regulations. Our cost of 
compliance with these laws and regulations may be substantial. 
For example, federal law imposes a variety of regulations on 
“responsible parties” related to the prevention of oil spills and lia-
bility for damages from such spills. As an owner and operator of 
onshore and offshore rigs and transportation equipment, we may 
be deemed to be a responsible party under federal law. In addition, 
our well-servicing, workover and production services operations 
routinely involve the handling of significant amounts of waste 
materials, some of which are classified as hazardous substances. 
Our operations and facilities are subject to numerous state and  
federal environmental laws, rules and regulations, including, 
without limitation, laws concerning the containment and disposal 
of hazardous substances, oilfield waste and other waste materials, 
the use of underground storage tanks and the use of underground 
injection wells. We generally require customers to contractually 
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assume responsibility for compliance with environmental regu-
lations. However, we are not always successful in allocating to  
customers all of these risks nor is there any assurance that the  
customer will be financially able to bear those risks assumed.

We employ personnel responsible for monitoring environmen-
tal compliance and arranging for remedial actions that may be 
required from time to time and also use consultants and to advise 
on and assist with our environmental compliance efforts. Liabili-
ties are recorded when the need for environmental assessments 
and/or remedial efforts become known or probable and the cost 
can be reasonably estimated.

Laws protecting the environment generally have become more 
stringent than in the past and are expected to continue to become 
more so. Violation of environmental laws and regulations can lead 
to the imposition of administrative, civil or criminal penalties, 
remedial obligations, and in some cases injunctive relief. Such  
violations could also result in liabilities for personal injuries,  
property damage, and other costs and claims.

Under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compen-
sation and Liability Act, also known as CERCLA or Superfund, 
and related state laws and regulations, liability can be imposed 
jointly on the entire group of responsible parties or separately on 
any one of the responsible parties, without regard to fault or the 
legality of the original conduct on certain classes of persons that 
contributed to the release of a “hazardous substance” into the 
environment. Under CERCLA, such persons may be liable for  
the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been 
released into the environment and for damages to natural resources.

Changes in federal and state environmental regulations may 
also negatively impact oil and natural gas exploration and produc-
tion companies, which in turn could have a material adverse effect 
on us. For example, legislation has been proposed from time to 
time in Congress which would reclassify certain oil and natural 
gas production wastes as hazardous wastes, which would make  
the reclassified wastes subject to more stringent handling, disposal 
and clean-up requirements. If enacted, such legislation could  
dramatically increase operating costs for oil and natural gas com-
panies and could reduce the market for our services by making 
many wells and/or oilfields uneconomical to operate.

The Oil Pollution Act of 1990, as amended, contains provi-
sions specifying responsibility for removal costs and damages 
resulting from discharges of oil into navigable waters or onto the 
adjoining shorelines. In addition, the Outer Continental Shelf 
Lands Act provides the federal government with broad discretion 
in regulating the leasing of offshore oil and gas production sites.

As a holding company, we depend on our subsidiaries to  
meet our financial obligations

We are a holding company with no significant assets other 
than the stock of our subsidiaries. In order to meet our financial 
needs, we rely exclusively on repayments of interest and principal 
on intercompany loans made by us to our operating subsidiaries 
and income from dividends and other cash flow from such subsid-
iaries. There can be no assurance that our operating subsidiaries 
will generate sufficient net income to pay upstream dividends or 
cash flow to make payments of interest and principal to us in 
respect of their intercompany loans. In addition, from time to 
time, our operating subsidiaries may enter into financing arrange-
ments which may contractually restrict or prohibit such upstream 
payments to us. There may also be adverse tax consequences  
associated with making dividend payments upstream.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends
We have not paid any cash dividends on our common shares 

since 1982. Nabors does not currently intend to pay any cash  
dividends on its common shares. However, we note that there 
have been recent positive industry trends and changes in tax law 
providing more favorable treatment of dividends. As a result, we 
can give no assurance that we will not reevaluate our position on 
dividends in the future.

Because our option, warrant and convertible securities holders 
have a considerable number of common shares available for  
issuance and resale, significant issuances or resales in the future 
may adversely affect the market price of our common shares

As of February 22, 2008, we had 800,000,000 authorized com-
mon shares, of which 280,678,568 shares were outstanding. In addi-
tion, 29,557,933 common shares were reserved for issuance pursuant 
to option and employee benefit plans, and 99,156,387 shares were 
reserved for issuance upon conversion or repurchase of outstand-
ing zero coupon convertible debentures and zero coupon senior 
exchangeable notes. In addition, up to 121,008 of our common 
shares could be issuable on exchange of the shares of Nabors 
Exchangeco (Canada) Inc. We also may sell up to $700 million 
of securities of various types in connection with a shelf registra-
tion statement declared effective on January 16, 2003 by the SEC. 
The sale, or availability for sale, of substantial amounts of our 
common shares in the public market, whether directly by us or 
resulting from the exercise of warrants or options (and, where 
applicable, sales pursuant to Rule 144) or the conversion into 
common shares, or repurchase of debentures and notes using 
common shares, would be dilutive to existing security holders, 
could adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common 
shares and could impair our ability to raise additional capital 
through the sale of equity securities.
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Provisions of our organizational documents may deter a  
change of control transaction and decrease the likelihood  
of a shareholder receiving a change of control premium

Our board of directors is divided into three classes, with each 
class serving a staggered three-year term. In addition, our board  
of directors has the authority to issue a significant amount of 
common shares and up to 25,000,000 preferred shares and to 
determine the price, rights (including voting rights), conversion 
ratios, preferences and privileges of the preferred shares, in each 
case without further vote or action by the holders of the common 
shares. Although we have no present plans to issue preferred 
shares, the classified board and our board’s ability to issue addi-
tional preferred shares may discourage, delay or prevent changes 
in control of Nabors that are not supported by our board, thereby 
possibly preventing certain of our shareholders from realizing a 
possible premium on their shares. In addition, the requirement  
in the indenture for our $2.75 billion senior exchangeable notes 
due 2011 and Series B of our $700 million zero coupon senior 
exchangeable notes due 2023 to pay a make-whole premium in 
the form of an increase in the exchange rate in certain circum-
stances could have the effect of making a change in control of 
Nabors more expensive.

We have a substantial amount of debt outstanding
As of December 31, 2007, we have long-term debt of approxi-

mately $4.0 billion, including current maturities of $700 million, 
and cash and cash equivalents and investments of $1.1 billion, includ-
ing $236.3 million of long-term investments and $53.1 million in 
cash proceeds receivable from the sale of certain non-marketable 
securities that is included in other current assets. If either of our 
$2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable notes or the $700 mil-
lion zero coupon senior exchangeable notes are exchanged or our 
$700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes are put to 
us, we believe that we have the ability to access capital markets 
or otherwise obtain financing in order to satisfy any payment 
obligations that might arise upon exchange of these notes and 
that any cash payment due of this magnitude, in addition to our 
other cash obligations, will not ultimately have a material adverse 
impact on our liquidity or financial position. We have a gross 
funded debt to capital ratio of 0.44:1 and a net funded debt to 
capital ratio of 0.37:1. The gross funded debt to capital ratio is 
calculated by dividing funded debt by funded debt plus deferred 
tax liabilities net of deferred tax assets plus capital. Funded debt 
is defined as the sum of (1) short-term borrowings, (2) current 
portion of long-term debt and (3) long-term debt. Capital is defined 
as shareholders’ equity. The net funded debt to capital ratio is  
calculated by dividing net funded debt by net funded debt plus 
deferred tax liabilities net of deferred tax assets plus capital. Net 
funded debt is defined as the sum of (1) short-term borrowings, 
(2) current portion of long-term debt and (3) long-term debt 
reduced by the sum of cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
and long-term investments. Capital is defined as shareholders’ 
equity. Both of these ratios are methods for calculating the 
amount of leverage a company has in relation to its capital.

On February 20, 2008, Nabors Industries, Inc., our wholly-
owned subsidiary, issued $575 million aggregate principal amount 
of 6.15% senior notes due 2018 that are fully and unconditionally 
guaranteed by Nabors Industries Ltd. See Note 21 Subsequent 
Event of our accompanying consolidated financial statements  
for additional information.

Our ability to perform under new contracts and to grow our  
business as forecasted depends to a substantial degree on  
timely delivery of rigs and equipment from our suppliers

The forecasted growth in the operating revenues and net 
income for our Contract Drilling subsidiaries depends to a sub-
stantial degree on the timely delivery of rigs and equipment from 
our suppliers as part of our recently expanded capital programs. 
We can give no assurances that our suppliers will meet expected 
delivery schedules for delivery of these new rigs and equipment or 
that the new rigs and equipment will be free from defects. Delays 
in the delivery of new rigs and equipment and delays incurred in 
correcting any defects in such rigs and equipment could cause us 
to fail to meet our operating forecasts and could subject us to late 
delivery penalties under contracts with our customers.

We may have additional tax liabilities
We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and 

numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required 
in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. In the 
ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and 
calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
We are regularly under audit by tax authorities. Although we 
believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination  
of tax audits and any related litigation could be materially differ-
ent than that which is reflected in historical income tax provisions 
and accruals. Based on the results of an audit or litigation, a mate-
rial effect on our financial position, income tax provision, net 
income, or cash flows in the period or periods for which that 
determination is made could result.

It is possible that future changes to tax laws (including tax 
treaties) could have an impact on our ability to realize the tax  
savings recorded to date as well as future tax savings as a result  
of our corporate reorganization, depending on any responsive 
action taken by us.

On September 14, 2006, Nabors Drilling International  
Limited (“NDIL”), a wholly-owned Bermuda subsidiary of 
Nabors, received a Notice of Assessment (the “Notice”) from  
the Mexican Servicio de Administracion Tributaria (the “SAT”) 
in connection with the audit of NDIL’s Mexican branch for tax 
year 2003. The Notice proposes to deny a depreciation expense 
deduction that relates to drilling rigs operating in Mexico in 
2003, as well as a deduction for payments made to an affiliated 
company for the provision of labor services in Mexico. The 
amount assessed by the SAT is approximately $19.8 million 
(including interest and penalties). Nabors and its tax advisors  
previously concluded that the deduction of said amounts was 
appropriate and more recently that the position of the SAT lacks 
merit. NDIL’s Mexican branch took similar deductions for depre-
ciation and labor expenses in 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007. It is 
likely that the SAT will propose the disallowance of these deduc-
tions upon audit of NDIL’s Mexican branch’s 2004, 2005, 2006 
and 2007 tax years.
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Proposed tax legislation could mitigate or eliminate the  
benefits of our 2002 reorganization as a Bermuda company

Various bills have been introduced in Congress which could 
reduce or eliminate the tax benefits associated with our reorgani-
zation as a Bermuda company. Legislation enacted by Congress  
in 2004 provides that a corporation that reorganized in a foreign 
jurisdiction on or after March 4, 2003 shall be treated as a  
domestic corporation for United States federal income tax pur-
poses. Nabors’ reorganization was completed June 24, 2002. 
There have been and we expect that there may continue to be  
legislation proposed by Congress from time to time applicable  
to certain companies that completed such reorganizations on or 
after March 20, 2002 which, if enacted, could limit or eliminate 
the tax benefits associated with our reorganization.

Because we cannot predict whether legislation will ultimately 
be adopted, no assurance can be given that the tax benefits associ-
ated with our reorganization will ultimately accrue to the benefit 
of the Company and its shareholders. It is possible that future 
changes to the tax laws (including tax treaties) could have an 
impact on our ability to realize the tax savings recorded to date  
as well as future tax savings resulting from our reorganization.

Legal proceedings could affect our financial condition and  
results of operations

We are from time to time subject to legal proceedings or govern-
mental investigations which include employment, tort, intellectual 
property and other claims, and purported class action and share-
holder derivative actions. We also are subject to complaints or 
allegations from former, current or prospective employees from 
time to time, alleging violations of employment-related laws. Law-
suits or claims could result in decisions against us which could 
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results 
of operations.

Our financial results could be affected by changes in the value  
of our investment portfolio

We invest our excess cash in a variety of investment vehicles, 
many of which are subject to fluctuations resulting from a variety 
of economic factors or factors associated with a particular invest-
ment, including without limitation, overall declines in the equity 
markets, currency and interest rate fluctuations, volatility in the 
credit markets, exposures related to concentrations of investments 
in a particular fund or investment, exposures related to hedges of 
financial positions, and the performance of particular fund or 
investment managers. As a result, events or developments which 
negatively affect the value of our investments could have a  
material adverse effect on our results of operations.

The loss of key executives could reduce our competitiveness  
and prospects for future success

The successful execution of our strategies central to our future 
success will depend, in part, on a few of our key executive officers. 
We have entered into employment agreements with our Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Eugene M. Isenberg and our 
Deputy Chairman, President and Chief Operating Officer,  
Mr. Anthony G. Petrello, to secure their employment through 
September 30, 2010. We do not carry key man insurance. The  
loss of Mr. Isenberg or Mr. Petrello could have an adverse effect 
on our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 1B  Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2  Properties

Many of the international drilling rigs and certain of the 
Alaska rigs in our fleet are supported by mobile camps which 
house the drilling crews and a significant inventory of spare parts 
and supplies. In addition, we own various trucks, forklifts, cranes, 
earth moving and other construction and transportation equip-
ment and own various helicopters, fixed-wing aircraft and heli-
portable well-service equipment, which are used to support  
drilling and logistics operations.

Nabors and its subsidiaries own or lease executive and admin-
istrative office space in Hamilton, Bermuda (principal executive 
office); Houston, Texas; Anchorage, Alaska; Harvey, Houma, 
New Iberia and Lafayette, Louisiana; Bakersfield, California; 
Magnolia, Texas; Calgary, Red Deer and Nisku, Alberta, Canada; 
Sana’a, Yemen; Dubai, U.A.E.; Dhahran, Saudi Arabia; Anaco, 
Venezuela; and Luanda, Angola. We also own or lease a number 
of facilities and storage yards used in support of operations in 
each of our geographic markets.

Nabors and its subsidiaries own certain mineral interests  
in connection with their investing and operating activities. 
Nabors does not consider these properties to be material to its 
overall operations.

Additional information about our properties can be found  
in Notes 2 and 6 (each, under the caption Property, Plant and 
Equipment) and 14 (under the caption Operating Leases) of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8. 
The revenues and property, plant and equipment by geographic 
area for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 
2007, can be found in Note 19 of the Notes to Consolidated 
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Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8. A description of our 
rig fleet is included under the caption Introduction in Part I, 
Item 1. – Business.

Nabors’ management believes that our existing equipment 
and facilities and our planned expansion of our equipment and 
facilities through our capital expenditure programs currently in 
process are adequate to support our current level of operations as 
well as an expansion of drilling operations in those geographical 
areas where we may expand.

Item 3  Legal Proceedings

Nabors and its subsidiaries are defendants or otherwise involved 
in a number of lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. We esti-
mate the range of our liability related to pending litigation when  
we believe the amount and range of loss can be estimated. We 
record our best estimate of a loss when the loss is considered proba-
ble. When a liability is probable and there is a range of estimated 
loss with no best estimate in the range, we record the minimum 
estimated liability related to the lawsuits or claims. As additional 
information becomes available, we assess the potential liability 
related to our pending litigation and claims and revise our esti-
mates. Due to uncertainties related to the resolution of lawsuits  
and claims, the ultimate outcome may differ from our estimates.  
In the opinion of management and based on liability accruals pro-
vided, our ultimate exposure with respect to these pending lawsuits 
and claims is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our  
consolidated financial position or cash flows, although they could 
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations for a  
particular reporting period.

On December 22, 2005, we received a grand jury subpoena 
from the United States Attorney’s Office in Anchorage, Alaska, 
seeking documents and information relating to an alleged spill,  
discharge, overflow or cleanup of drilling mud or sludge involv-
ing one of our rigs during March 2003. We are cooperating with 
the authorities in this matter.

On February 6, 2007, a purported shareholder derivative action 
entitled Kenneth H. Karstedt v. Eugene M. Isenberg, et al was filed 
in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 
Texas against the Company’s officers and directors, and against 
the Company as a nominal defendant. The complaint alleged 
that stock options were priced retroactively and were improperly 
accounted for, and alleged various causes of action based on that 
assertion. The complaint sought, among other things, payment 
by the defendants to the Company of damages allegedly suffered 
by it and disgorgement of profits. On March 5, 2007, another pur-
ported shareholder derivative action entitled Gail McKinney v. 
Eugene M. Isenberg, et al was also filed in the United States  
District Court for the Southern District of Texas. The complaint 

made substantially the same allegations against the same defen-
dants and sought the same elements of damages. The two derivative 
actions were consolidated into one proceeding. On December 31, 
2007, the Company and the individual defendants agreed with the 
plaintiffs-shareholders to settle the derivative action. The settlement 
is subject to preliminary and final approval of the United States 
District Court for the Southern District of Texas. Under the terms 
of the proposed settlement, the Company and the individual 
defendants have implemented or will implement certain corporate 
governance reforms and adopt certain modifications to our equity 
award policy and our Compensation Committee charter. The 
Company and its insurers have agreed to pay up to $2.85 million 
to plaintiffs’ counsel for their attorneys’ fees and the reimburse-
ment of their expenses and costs.

During the fourth quarter of 2006 and the first quarter of 2007, 
a review was conducted of the Company’s granting practices and 
accounting for certain employee equity awards to both the senior 
executives of the Company and other employees from 1988 
through 2006. Based on the results of the review, the Company 
recorded a noncash charge of $38.3 million, net of tax, at Decem-
ber 31, 2006. The Company determined that no restatement of its 
historical financial statements was necessary because there were no 
findings of fraud or intentional wrongdoing, and because the effects 
of certain revised measurement dates were not material in any fiscal 
year. In a letter dated December 28, 2006, the SEC staff advised  
us that it had commenced an informal inquiry regarding our stock 
option grants and related practices, procedures and accounting.  
By letter dated May 7, 2007, the SEC staff informed us they had 
closed the investigation without any recommendation of enforce-
ment action.

On July 5, 2007, we received an inquiry from the U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice relating to its investigation of one of our vendors 
and compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Our Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors has engaged outside counsel 
to review certain transactions with this vendor, which provides 
freight forwarding and customs clearance services, and we are  
cooperating with the Department of Justice inquiry. The ultimate 
outcome of this review cannot be determined at this time.

On October 17, 2007, we settled a dispute with a vendor.  
Pursuant to the settlement, we received an equity interest in a  
parent company of the vendor, we granted the vendor a nonexclu-
sive, royalty-free license to use certain technology, and the parties 
each executed a mutual release of claims against each other.

Item 4   Submission of Matters to a  
Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable.
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Item 5   Market for Registrant’s Common Equity,  
Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer  
Purchases of Equity Securities

Stock Performance Graph
The following graph illustrates comparisons of five-year cumulative total returns among Nabors Industries Ltd., the S&P 500 Index 

and the Dow Jones Oil Equipment and Services Index. Total return assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2002 in shares of Nabors 
Industries Ltd., the S&P 500 Index, and the Dow Jones Oil Equipment and Services Index. It also assumes reinvestment of dividends  
and is calculated at the end of each calendar year, December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2007.

PA RT I I

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

 

 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Nabors Industries Ltd. 118 145 215 169 155 
S&P 500 Index 129 143 150 173 183 
Dow Jones Oil Equipment and Services Index 115 155 236 267 388
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No common shares were repurchased during October 2007. 
See Part III, Item 12. for a description of securities authorized 

for issuance under equity compensation plans.

II. Dividend Policy
See Part I – Item 1A. – Risk Factors – We do not currently 

intend to pay dividends.

III. Shareholder Matters 
Bermuda has exchange controls which apply to residents  

in respect to the Bermudian dollar. As an exempt company, 
Nabors is considered to be nonresident for such controls; conse-
quently, there are no Bermuda governmental restrictions on the 
Company’s ability to make transfers and carry out transactions  
in all other currencies, including currency of the United States.

There is no reciprocal tax treaty between Bermuda and  
the United States regarding withholding taxes. Under existing 
Bermuda law, there is no Bermuda income or withholding tax on 
dividends, if any, paid by Nabors to its shareholders. Furthermore, 
no Bermuda tax or other levy is payable on the sale or other trans-
fer (including by gift or on the death of the shareholder) of Nabors 
common shares (other than by shareholders resident in Bermuda).

I. Market and Share Prices
Our common shares are traded on the New York Stock 

Exchange under the symbol “NBR”. At December 31, 2007,  
there were approximately 2,006 shareholders of record. We have 
not paid any cash dividends on our common shares since 1982. 
Nabors does not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on  
its common shares. However, we note that there have been recent 
positive industry trends and changes in tax law providing more 
favorable treatment of dividends. As a result, we can give no 
assurance that we will not reevaluate our position on dividends  
in the future.

On December 13, 2005, our Board of Directors approved a two-
for-one stock split of our common shares to be effectuated in the 
form of a stock dividend. The stock dividend was distributed on 
April 17, 2006 to shareholders of record on March 31, 2006. For all 
balance sheets presented, capital in excess of par value was reduced 
by $.2 million and common shares were increased by $.2 million.

The following table sets forth the reported high and low sales 
prices of our common shares as reported on the New York Stock 
Exchange for the periods indicated.

 Share Price

Calendar Year High Low

2006 First quarter $ 41.35 $ 31.36
 Second quarter  40.71  29.75
 Third quarter  36.04  28.35
 Fourth quarter  34.62  27.26

2007 First quarter  32.74  27.53
 Second quarter  36.42  29.59
 Third quarter  34.10  27.05
 Fourth quarter  31.23  26.00

The following table provides information relating to Nabors’ repurchase of common shares during the fourth quarter of 2007:

   Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value 
   Purchased as Part  of Shares that May Yet 
 Total Number of Average Price of Publicly Announced  Be Purchased Under the 
Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs Plans or Programs(1)

(In thousands, except per share prices) 
November 1 – November 30, 2007 951 $ 26.87 951 $ 380,721 
December 1 – December 31, 2007 2,831 $ 27.16 2,831 $ 303,810

(1)  In July 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program under which we may repurchase up to $500 million of our common shares in the open market or in privately negotiated 
transactions. This program supersedes and cancels our previous share repurchase program. Through December 31, 2007, approximately $196.2 million of our common shares had been repurchased 
under this program. As of December 31, 2007, we had $303.8 million of shares that still may be purchased under the July 2006 share repurchase program.
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Operating Data(1)(2)  
 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts and ratio data) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Revenues and other income: 
 Operating revenues $ 4,938,848 $ 4,707,289 $ 3,394,472 $ 2,351,571 $ 1,814,520 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  17,724  20,545  5,671  4,057  10,058 
 Investment (loss) income  (15,891)  102,007  85,428  50,044  33,800

 Total revenues and other income  4,940,681  4,829,841  3,485,571  2,405,672  1,858,378

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  2,764,559  2,511,392  1,958,538  1,542,364  1,225,960 
 General and administrative expenses  436,282  416,610  247,129  192,692  164,136 
 Depreciation and amortization  467,730  364,653  285,054  248,057  219,841 
 Depletion  72,182  38,580  46,894  45,460  8,599 
 Interest expense  53,702  46,586  44,849  48,507  70,740 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, impairment charges  
  and other expense (income), net  10,895  24,118  45,952  (5,036)  1,362

 Total costs and other deductions  3,805,350  3,401,939  2,628,416  2,072,044  1,690,638

Income from continuing operations before income taxes  1,135,331  1,427,902  857,155  333,628  167,740 
Income tax expense (benefit)  239,664  434,893  219,000  32,660  (19,968)

Income from continuing operations, net of tax  895,667  993,009  638,155  300,968  187,708 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  35,024  27,727  10,540  1,489  4,520

Net income $ 930,691 $ 1,020,736 $ 648,695 $ 302,457 $ 192,228

Earnings per share: 
 Basic from continuing operations $ 3.21 $ 3.42 $ 2.05 $ 1.01 $ .64 
 Basic from discontinued operations  .13  .10  .03  .01  .02

Total Basic $ 3.34 $ 3.52 $ 2.08 $ 1.02 $ .66

 Diluted from continuing operations $ 3.13 $ 3.31 $ 1.97 $ .96 $ .61 
 Diluted from discontinued operations  .12  .09  .03  –  .01

Total Diluted $ 3.25 $ 3.40 $ 2.00 $ .96 $ .62

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding: 
 Basic  279,026  290,241  312,134  297,872  292,989 
 Diluted  286,606  299,827  324,378  328,060  313,794 
Capital expenditures and acquisitions of businesses(3) $ 1,979,831 $ 1,997,971 $ 1,003,269 $ 544,429 $ 353,138 
Interest coverage ratio(4)  32.5:1  38.1:1  25.6:1  12.9:1  6.1:1

Item 6  Selected Financial Data

Balance Sheet Data(2)
 As of December 31,

(In thousands, except ratio data) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments(5) $ 1,056,358 $ 1,653,285 $ 1,646,327 $ 1,411,047 $ 1,579,090 
Working capital  710,980  1,650,496  1,264,852  821,120  1,529,691 
Property, plant and equipment, net  6,689,126  5,410,101  3,886,924  3,275,495  2,990,792 
Total assets  10,103,382  9,142,303  7,230,407  5,862,609  5,602,692 
Long-term debt  3,306,433  4,004,074  1,251,751  1,201,686  1,985,553 
Shareholders’ equity $ 4,514,121 $ 3,536,653 $ 3,758,140 $ 2,929,393 $ 2,490,275 
Funded debt to capital ratio: 
 Gross(6)   0.44:1   0.50:1   0.32:1   0.38:1   0.45:1  
 Net(7)  0.37:1  0.37:1  0.08:1  0.15:1  0.20:1

(1) All periods present the Sea Mar business as a discontinued operation. 
(2)  Our acquisitions’ results of operations and financial position have been included beginning on the respective dates of acquisition and include Pragma Drilling Equipment Ltd. assets (May 2006), 1183011 

Alberta Ltd. (January 2006), Sunset Well Service, Inc. (August 2005), Alexander Drilling, Inc. assets (June 2005), Phillips Trucking, Inc. assets (June 2005), and Rocky Mountain Oil Tools, Inc. assets 
(March 2005).

(3) Represents capital expenditures and the portion of the purchase price of acquisitions allocated to fixed assets and goodwill based on their fair market value.
(4)  The interest coverage ratio from continuing operations is computed by calculating the sum of income from continuing operations before income taxes, interest expense, depreciation and amortization, 

and depletion expense less investment income (loss) and then dividing by interest expense. This ratio is a method for calculating the amount of operating cash flows available to cover interest expense. 
The “interest coverage ratio from continuing operations” is not a measure of operating performance or liquidity defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and 
may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.

(5)  The December 31, 2007 amount includes $53.1 million in cash proceeds receivable from brokers from the sale of certain long-term investments that are included in other current assets. These proceeds 
were received during January 2008.

(6)  The gross funded debt to capital ratio is calculated by dividing funded debt by funded debt plus deferred tax liabilities, net of deferred tax assets plus capital. Funded debt is defined as the sum of  
(1) short-term borrowings, (2) current portion of long-term debt and (3) long-term debt. Capital is defined as shareholders’ equity.

(7)  The net funded debt to capital ratio is calculated by dividing net funded debt by net funded debt plus deferred tax liabilities, net of deferred tax assets plus capital. Net funded debt is defined as the sum 
of (1) short-term borrowings, (2) current portion of long-term debt and (3) long-term debt reduced by the sum of cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments. Capital is defined 
as shareholders’ equity. The “net funded debt to capital ratio” is not a measure of operating performance or liquidity defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.
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Item 7   Management’s Discussion  
and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations

Management Overview
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to help 
the reader understand the results of our operations and our finan-
cial condition. This information is provided as a supplement to, 
and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial 
statements and the accompanying notes to our consolidated 
financial statements.

Nabors is the largest land drilling contractor in the world. We 
conduct oil, gas and geothermal land drilling operations in the 
U.S. Lower 48 states, Alaska, Canada, South America, Mexico, 
the Caribbean, the Middle East, the Far East, Russia and Africa. 
Nabors also is one of the largest land well-servicing and workover 
contractors in the United States and Canada and is a leading  
provider of offshore platform workover and drilling rigs in the 
United States and multiple international markets. To further sup-
plement and complement our primary business, we offer a wide 
range of ancillary well-site services, including engineering, con-
struction, maintenance, well logging, directional drilling, rig 
instrumentation, data collection and other support services, in 
selected domestic and international markets. We offer logistics 
services for onshore drilling in Canada using helicopter and fixed-
winged aircraft. We manufacture and lease or sell top drives for a 
broad range of drilling applications, directional drilling systems, 

rig instrumentation and data collection equipment, and rig 
reporting software. We also invest in oil and gas exploration, 
development and production activities worldwide.

The majority of our business is conducted through our various 
Contract Drilling operating segments, which include our drilling, 
workover and well-servicing operations, on land and offshore. 
Our oil and gas exploration, development and production opera-
tions are included in a category labeled Oil and Gas for segment 
reporting purposes. Our operating segments engaged in drilling 
technology and top drive manufacturing, directional drilling, 
rig instrumentation and software, and construction and logistics 
operations are aggregated in a category labeled Other Operating 
Segments for segment reporting purposes.

Our businesses depend, to a large degree, on the level of 
spending by oil and gas companies for exploration, development 
and production activities. Therefore, a sustained increase or 
decrease in the price of natural gas or oil, which could have a 
material impact on exploration, development and production 
activities, could also materially affect our financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows.

The magnitude of customer spending on new and existing 
wells is the primary driver of our business. The primary determi-
nate of customer spending is the degree of their cash flow and 
earnings which are largely determined by natural gas prices in our 
U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling, Canadian and U.S. Offshore (Gulf 
of Mexico) operations, while oil prices are the primary determi-
nate in our Alaskan, International and U.S. Land Well-servicing 
operations. The following table sets forth natural gas and oil price 
data per Bloomberg for the last three years:

 
Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006 2006 to 2005

Commodity prices:  
 Average Henry Hub natural gas spot price ($/million cubic feet (mcf)) $ 6.97 $ 6.73 $ 8.89 $ 0.24 4% $ (2.16) (24%)

 Average West Texas intermediate crude oil spot price ($/barrel) $ 72.23 $ 66.09 $ 56.59 $ 6.14 9% $ 9.50 17%

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates 
for the year ended December 31, 2007 totaled $5.0 billion, repre-
senting an increase of $228.7 million, or 5%, compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2006. Adjusted income derived from 
operating activities and net income for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007 totaled $1.2 billion and $930.7 million ($3.25 per 
diluted share), respectively, representing decreases of 13% and 
9%, respectively, compared to the year ended December 31, 2006. 
Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates 
for the year ended December 31, 2006 totaled $4.7 billion, repre-
senting an increase of $1.3 billion, or 39%, compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2005. Adjusted income derived from oper-
ating activities and net income for the year ended December 31, 
2006 totaled $1.4 billion and $1.0 billion ($3.40 per diluted 
share), respectively, representing increases of 62% and 57%, 
respectively, compared to the year ended December 31, 2005.

The decrease in our adjusted income derived from operating 
activities from 2006 to 2007 related primarily to our U.S. Lower 
48 Land Drilling, Canada Drilling and Well-servicing, and 
our U.S. Well-servicing operations, where activity levels have 
decreased despite slightly higher natural gas prices and higher 
oil prices. Operating results were further negatively impacted by 
higher levels of depreciation expense due to our capital expendi-
tures. Partially offsetting the decreases in our adjusted income 
derived from operating activities were the increases in operating 
results from our International operations and to a lesser extent 
by our Alaska operations, driven by continuing high oil prices. 
In addition, our net income and earnings per share for 2007 has 
decreased compared to 2006 as a result of investment net losses 
during 2007 only partially offset by a lower effective tax rate and 
a lower number of average shares outstanding.
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Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages and rig activity) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006 2006 to 2005

Reportable segments: 
 Operating revenues and earnings from uncon- 
  solidated affiliates from continuing operations:(1) 
  Contract Drilling:(2) 
   U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 1,710,990 $ 1,890,302 $ 1,306,963 $ (179,312) (9%) $ 583,339 45% 
   U.S. Land Well-servicing  715,414  704,189  491,704  11,225 2%  212,485 43% 
   U.S. Offshore  212,160  221,676  158,888  (9,516) (4%)  62,788 40% 
   Alaska  152,490  110,718  85,768  41,772 38%  24,950 29% 
   Canada  545,035  686,889  553,537  (141,854) (21%)  133,352 24% 
   International  1,094,802  746,460  552,656  348,342 47%  193,804 35%

    Subtotal Contract Drilling(3)  4,430,891  4,360,234  3,149,516  70,657 2%  1,210,718 38% 
  Oil and Gas(4)(5)  152,320  59,431  62,913  92,889 156%  (3,482) (6%) 
  Other Operating Segments(6)(7)  588,483  505,286  282,910  83,197 16%  222,376 79% 
  Other reconciling items(8)  (215,122)  (197,117)  (95,196)  (18,005) (9%)  (101,921) (107%)

   Total $ 4,956,572 $ 4,727,834 $ 3,400,143 $ 228,738 5% $ 1,327,691 39%

 Adjusted income (loss) derived from operating 
  activities from continuing operations:(1)(9) 
  Contract Drilling: 
   U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 596,302 $ 821,821 $ 464,570 $ (225,519) (27%) $ 357,251 77% 
   U.S. Land Well-servicing  156,243  199,944  107,728  (43,701) (22%)  92,216 86% 
   U.S. Offshore  51,508  65,328  38,783  (13,820) (21%)  26,545 68% 
   Alaska  37,394  17,542  16,608  19,852 113%  934 6% 
   Canada  87,046  185,117  136,368  (98,071) (53%)  48,749 36% 
   International  332,283  208,705  135,588  123,578 59%  73,117 54%

    Subtotal Contract Drilling(3)  1,260,776  1,498,457  899,645  (237,681) (16%)  598,812 67%
  Oil and Gas  56,133  4,065  10,194  52,068 N/M(10)  (6,129) (60%)
  Other Operating Segments(6)  35,273  30,028  17,619  5,245 17%  12,409 70%
  Other reconciling items(11)  (136,363)  (135,951)  (64,930)  (412) 0%  (71,021) (109%)

    Total  1,215,819  1,396,599  862,528  (180,780) (13%)  534,071 62% 
 Interest expense  (53,702)  (46,586)  (44,849)  (7,116) (15%)  (1,737) (4%) 
 Investment (loss) income  (15,891)  102,007  85,428  (117,898) (116%)  16,579 19% 
 (Losses) gains on sales of long-lived assets, 
  impairment charges and other income 
  (expense), net  (10,895)  (24,118)  (45,952)  13,223 55%  21,834 48%

 Income from continuing operations 
  before income taxes $ 1,135,331 $ 1,427,902 $ 857,155 $ (292,571) (20%) $ 570,747 67%

The increase in operating results from 2005 to 2006 resulted 
from higher revenues realized by essentially all of our operating 
segments. Revenues increased as a result of higher average dayrates 
and activity levels during 2006 compared to 2005. This increase 
in average dayrates and activity reflects an increase in demand for 
our services in these markets during 2006, which resulted from 
continuing higher expenditures by our customers for drilling and 
workover services as a result of historically high oil and natural 
gas prices throughout 2006.

Our operating results for 2008 are expected to approximate the 
levels realized during 2007. We expect our International opera-
tions to show substantial increases resulting from the deployment 

of additional rigs under long-term contracts and the renewal of 
existing contracts at higher current market rates. However, our 
North American natural gas driven operations are expected to 
decrease. In our U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling operations, we 
expect a significant number of expiring term contracts for older 
rigs to rollover in 2008 at lower margins. These decreases should 
be partially offset by the remaining new rig deployments at higher 
margins and improved margins of the previously deployed new 
rigs. We expect our Canadian operations to decrease as a result  
of the depressed market conditions there.

The following tables set forth certain information with respect 
to our reportable segments and rig activity:
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Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages and rig activity) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006 2006 to 2005

Rig activity: 
 Rig years:(12) 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling  229.4  255.5  235.9  (26.1) (10%)  19.6 8% 
  U.S. Offshore  15.8  16.4  15.6  (0.6) (4%)  0.8 5% 
  Alaska  8.7  8.6  7.1  0.1 1%  1.5 21% 
  Canada  36.7  53.3  53.0  (16.6) (31%)  0.3 1% 
  International(13)  115.2  97.1  82.3  18.1 19%  14.8 18%

   Total rig years  405.8  430.9  393.9  (25.1) (6%)  37.0 9%

 Rig hours:(14) 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  1,119,497  1,256,141  1,216,453  (136,644) (11%)  39,688 3% 
  Canada Well-servicing  283,471  360,129  367,414  (76,658) (21%)  (7,285) (2%)

Total rig hours  1,402,968  1,616,270  1,583,867  (213,302) (13%)  32,403 2%

 (1) Information excludes the Sea Mar business, which has been classified as a discontinued operation.
 (2) These segments include our drilling, workover and well-servicing operations, on land and offshore.
 (3)  Includes earnings (losses), net from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $5.6 million, $4.0 million and $(1.3) million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005, respectively.
 (4) Represents our oil and gas exploration, development and production operations.
 (5)  Includes earnings (losses), net, from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $(3.9) million for the year ended December 31, 2007 and $0 for the years ended Decem- 

ber 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
 (6) Includes our drilling technology and top drive manufacturing, directional drilling, rig instrumentation and software, and construction and logistics operations.
 (7) Includes earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $16.0 million, $16.5 million and $7.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
 (8) Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions. 
 (9)  Adjusted income derived from operating activities is computed by: subtracting direct costs, general and administrative expenses, and depreciation and amortization, and depletion expense from Operat-

ing revenues and then adding Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates. Such amounts should not be used as a substitute to those amounts reported under accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP). However, management evaluates the performance of our business units and the consolidated company based on several criteria, including adjusted income derived 
from operating activities, because it believes that this financial measure is an accurate reflection of the ongoing profitability of our Company. A reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure to income from 
continuing operations before income taxes, which is a GAAP measure, is provided within the above table.

(10) The percentage is so large that it is not meaningful. 
(11) Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions and unallocated corporate expenses.
(12)  Excludes well-servicing rigs, which are measured in rig hours. Includes our equivalent percentage ownership of rigs owned by unconsolidated affiliates. Rig years represent a measure of the  

number of equivalent rigs operating during a given period. For example, one rig operating 182.5 days during a 365-day period represents 0.5 rig years.
(13)  International rig years include our equivalent percentage ownership of rigs owned by unconsolidated affiliates which totaled 4.0 years during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,  

respectively, and 3.9 years during the year ended December 31, 2005.
(14) Rig hours represents the number of hours that our well-servicing rig fleet operated during the year.
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Segment Results of Operations

Contract Drilling
Our Contract Drilling operating segments contain one or more of the following operations: drilling, workover and well-servicing,  

on land and offshore.
U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling  The results of operations for this reportable segment are as follows:

 
Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages and rig activity) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 1,710,990 $ 1,890,302 $ 1,306,963 $ (179,312) (9%) $ 583,339 45% 
Adjusted income derived from operating activities $ 596,302 $ 821,821 $ 464,570 $ (225,519) (27%) $ 357,251 77% 
Rig years  229.4  255.5  235.9  (26.1) (10%)  19.6 8%

The decrease in operating results from 2006 to 2007 is a result of year-over-year decreases in drilling activity. Additionally, the decrease 
in operating results is due to higher drilling rig operating costs, including depreciation expense related to capital expansion projects.

The increase in our operating results from 2005 to 2006 primarily resulted from year-over-year increases in average dayrates and drill-
ing activity, which is reflected in the increase in rig years from 2005 to 2006. Average dayrates and activity levels improved during 2005 
and 2006 as a result of an increase in demand for drilling services, which resulted primarily from continuing higher price levels for natural 
gas during 2006.

U.S. Land Well-servicing  The results of operations for this reportable segment are as follows:

 
Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages and rig activity) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 715,414 $ 704,189 $ 491,704 $ 11,225 2% $ 212,485 43% 
Adjusted income derived from operating activities $ 156,243 $ 199,944 $ 107,728 $ (43,701) (22%) $ 92,216 86% 
Rig hours  1,119,497  1,256,141  1,216,453  (136,644) (11%)  39,688 3%

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates increased from 2006 to 2007 primarily due to year-over-year higher 
average dayrates, supported by the sustained level of high oil prices and an expansion of our geographic market through nine additional 
service centers from our capital spending program. Higher average dayrates were partially offset by lower rig utilization. The decrease in 
adjusted income derived from operating activities from 2006 to 2007 reflects lower rig utilization, higher operating costs, higher SG&A 
costs and higher depreciation expense related to capital expansion projects.

The increase in our operating results from 2005 to 2006 primarily resulted from a year-over-year increase in average dayrates and from 
higher well-servicing hours. This increase in dayrates and well-servicing hours resulted from higher customer demand for our services in a 
number of markets in which we operate, which was driven by a sustained level of higher oil prices.

U.S. Offshore  The results of operations for this reportable segment are as follows:

 
Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages and rig activity) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 212,160 $ 221,676 $ 158,888 $ (9,516) (4%) $ 62,788 40% 
Adjusted income derived from operating activities $ 51,508 $ 65,328 $ 38,783 $ (13,820) (21%) $ 26,545 68% 
Rig years  15.8  16.4  15.6  (0.6) (4%)  0.8 5%

The decrease in operating results from 2006 to 2007 primarily resulted from a decrease in average dayrates and utilization for our 
jack-up rigs partially offset by the deployment of two new-built Barge and one Platform Workover Drilling rigs in early 2007. Operating 
results were further negatively impacted by increased depreciation expense relating to the new rigs added to the fleet.

The increase in operating results from 2005 to 2006 primarily resulted from an increase in dayrates for our entire rig fleet due to higher 
customer demand for our services stemming from higher natural gas prices. Additionally, our fourth quarter operating results for 2006 
were increased by $4.0 million of net business interruption insurance proceeds related to rigs of ours that were significantly damaged  
during Hurricane Rita in the third quarter of 2005.
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Alaska  The results of operations for this reportable segment are as follows:

 Year Ended December 31, Increase

(In thousands, except percentages and rig activity) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 152,490 $ 110,718 $ 85,768 $ 41,772 38% $ 24,950 29% 
Adjusted income derived from operating activities $ 37,394 $ 17,542 $ 16,608 $ 19,852 113% $ 934 6% 
Rig years  8.7  8.6  7.1  0.1 1%  1.5 21%

The increase in operating results from 2006 to 2007 and from 2005 to 2006 is primarily due to year-over-year increases in average  
dayrates, driven by the sustained level of high oil prices. Drilling activity levels have increased as a result from new customer demand and 
deployment and utilization of additional rigs in 2006 and 2007. The increases in 2006 and 2007 were partially offset by increased labor 
and repairs and maintenance costs in 2006 and 2007 as compared to prior years.

Canada  The results of operations for this reportable segment are as follows:

 Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages and rig activity) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 545,035 $ 686,889 $ 553,537 $ (141,854) (21%) $ 133,352 24% 
Adjusted income derived from operating activities $ 87,046 $ 185,117 $ 136,368 $ (98,071) (53%) $ 48,749 36% 
Rig years – Drilling  36.7  53.3  53.0  (16.6) (31%)  0.3 1% 
Rig hours – Well-servicing  283,471  360,129  367,414  (76,658) (21%)  (7,285) (2%)

The decrease in operating results from 2006 to 2007 resulted from year-over-year decreases in drilling and well-servicing activity. Our 
operating results for 2007 were further negatively impacted by proposed changes to the Alberta royalty and tax regime causing customers to 
assess the impact of such changes. The continued strengthening of the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar positively impacted operating 
results in 2007 when translated to U.S. dollar equivalents, but negatively impacted demand for our services as much of our customers reve-
nue is denominated in U.S. dollars while their costs are denominated in Canadian dollars. Additionally, operating results were negatively 
impacted by increased operating expenses, including depreciation expense related to capital expansion projects.

The increase in our operating results from 2005 to 2006 primarily resulted from year-over-year increases in average dayrates and hourly 
rates for our Canadian drilling and well-servicing operations, respectively, and from year-over-year increases in drilling activity. Average day-
rates and hourly rates and drilling activity levels improved as a result of increased demand for our services in this market, which was driven 
by increased commodity prices from 2005 to 2006. The increases in drilling activity are reflected in the year-over-year increases in rig years. 
Well-servicing hours decreased from 2005 to 2006 as lower natural gas prices during the fourth quarter of 2006 reduced the demand for 
completion work on gas wells. Our results for 2006 and 2005 were also positively impacted by the strengthening of the Canadian dollar  
versus the U.S. dollar during those years. 

International  The results of operations for this reportable segment are as follows:

 Year Ended December 31, Increase

(In thousands, except percentages and rig activity) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 1,094,802 $ 746,460 $ 552,656 $ 348,342 47% $ 193,804 35% 
Adjusted income derived from operating activities $ 332,283 $ 208,705 $ 135,588 $ 123,578 59% $ 73,117 54% 
Rig years  115.2  97.1  82.3  18.1 19%  14.8 18%

The increase in operating results from 2006 to 2007 and from 2005 to 2006 primarily resulted from year-over-year increases in average 
dayrates and increases in drilling activities which is reflected in the increase in rig years from 2006 to 2007 and from 2005 to 2006. Aver-
age dayrates and activity levels improved during 2007 and 2006 as a result of an increase in demand for drilling services, due to the con-
tinuing high price for oil during 2006 and 2007. Results for 2007 have also been positively impacted from an expansion of our rig fleet 
and renewal of existing multi-year contracts at higher average dayrates.

Oil and Gas  This operating segment represents our oil and gas exploration, development and production operations. The results of 
operations for this reportable segment are as follows:

 Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 152,320 $ 59,431 $ 62,913 $ 92,889 156% $ (3,482) (6%)
Adjusted income derived from operating activities $ 56,133 $ 4,065 $ 10,194 $ 52,068 N/M(1) $ (6,129) (60%)

(1) The percentage is so large that it is not meaningful.
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The increase in our operating results from 2006 to 2007 was primarily a result of year-over-year increases in income attributable  
to earnings related to production payment contracts and gains totaling $88 million recognized on the sale of certain properties during 
2007. Additionally, operating results were higher year-over-year due to increases in production and increases in oil, gas and natural gas  
liquid prices. These increases to operating results were partially offset by a $33.6 million increase in depletion expense and approximately  
$3.9 million in net losses from the First Reserve joint ventures which commenced operations in 2007, as well as higher seismic costs and 
workover expenses compared to the prior year. The higher depletion expense resulted from increased units-of-production depletion and 
impairment charges, related to higher costs and lower than expected performance of certain oil and gas developmental wells.

The decrease in our operating results from 2005 to 2006 primarily resulted from a reduction in production stemming from the payout 
of one investment with El Paso Corporation in late 2005 and the reversion of our net profits interest to an overriding royalty interest. The 
net impact of changes in commodity prices from 2005 to 2006 further contributed to the decrease in operating results from 2005 to 2006. 
Additionally, we incurred higher seismic costs and workover expenses as compared to prior period and also recorded an impairment of oil 
and gas properties totaling approximately $9.9 million that was recorded as depletion expense. This impairment resulted from lower than 
expected performance of certain asset groups. These decreases were partially offset by a $20.7 million gain on the sale of certain leasehold 
interests in the first quarter of 2006.

Other Operating Segments  These operations include our drilling technology and top drive manufacturing, directional drilling,  
rig instrumentation and software, and construction and logistics operations. The results of operations for these operating segments  
are as follows:

 
Year Ended December 31, Increase

(In thousands, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 588,483 $ 505,286 $ 282,910 $ 83,197 16% $ 222,376 79% 
Adjusted income (loss) derived from operating activities $ 35,273 $ 30,028 $ 17,619 $ 5,245 17% $ 12,409 70%

The increase in our operating results from 2006 to 2007 and from 2005 to 2006 primarily resulted from increased sales of top drives 
driven by the strengthening of the oil market and increased equipment sales associated with the acquisition of Pragma Drilling Equipment 
Ltd. in May 2006 and increased demand for the directional drilling market in the U.S. and increased market share in Canada. Results for 
construction and logistics services decreased during 2007 compared to 2006 due to lower demand for our services and increased in 2006 
compared to 2005 due to higher demand for our services.

Discontinued Operations  During the third quarter of 2007, we sold our Sea Mar business which had previously been included in Other 
Operating Segments for a cash purchase price of $194.3 million. The assets included 20 offshore supply vessels and certain related assets, 
including a right under a vessel construction contract. The operating results of this business for all periods presented are accounted for as 
discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, including a gain, net of tax of $19.6 million recorded  
in the third quarter of 2007. The results of operations from discontinued operations are as follows:

 
Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Revenues $ 58,887 $ 112,873 $ 65,436 $ (53,986) (48%) $ 47,437 72% 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 35,024 $ 27,727 $ 10,540 $ 7,297 26% $ 17,187 163%

The decrease in revenues from 2006 to 2007 resulted from seven months of operations before our sale of the Sea Mar business in 
August 2007. The increase in income, net of tax, from 2006 to 2007 resulted from the gain recognized on the sale. The increase in our 
operating results from 2005 to 2006 primarily resulted from increased margins for our marine transportation and supply services driven  
by higher average dayrates and higher utilization, which was primarily driven by an improvement in the offshore drilling market that 
resulted in increased demand for our services.
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Other Financial Information

General and administrative expenses

 Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

General and administrative expenses $ 436,282 $ 416,610 $ 247,129 $ 19,672 5% $ 169,481 69% 
General and administrative expenses as a  
 percentage of operating revenues  8.8%  8.9%  7.3%  (.1%) (1%)  1.6% 22%

General and administrative expenses increased from 2006 to 
2007 and from 2005 to 2006 primarily as a result of increases  
in wages and burden for a majority of our operating segments 
compared to the prior year period, which primarily resulted from 
an increase in the number of employees required to support the 
increase in activity levels and from higher wages, and increased 
corporate compensation expense, which primarily resulted from 

higher bonuses and non-cash compensation expenses recorded for 
stock options and restricted stock grants during each sequential 
year. During 2006, the increase was also impacted by $51.6 mil-
lion additional compensation expense recorded during the fourth 
quarter relating to the review of employee stock option granting 
practices performed by the Company as more fully described  
in Note 3.

Depreciation and amortization, and depletion expense

 Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Depreciation and amortization expense $ 467,730 $ 364,653 $ 285,054 $ 103,077 28% $ 79,599 28% 
Depletion expense $ 72,182 $ 38,580 $ 46,894 $ 33,602 87% $ (8,314) (18%)

Depreciation and amortization expense  Depreciation and 
amortization expense increased from 2006 to 2007 and from 
2005 to 2006 as a result of depreciation on capital expenditures 
made throughout 2005, 2006 and 2007 from our expanded  
capital expenditure program commenced in early 2005.

Depletion expense  Depletion expense increased from 2006 
to 2007 as a result of increased units-of-production depletion and 
impairment charges resulting from higher costs and lower than 
expected performance of certain oil and gas developmental wells.

Depletion expense decreased from 2005 to 2006 as a result of 
lower oil and gas production due to the payout of the El Paso Red 
River program in late 2005. These decreases were partially offset 
due to increases in depletion expense on non-El Paso properties 
due to impairments of approximately $9.9 million. The impair-
ments resulted from lower than expected performance of certain 
asset groups.

Interest expense

 Year Ended December 31, Increase

(In thousands, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006 2006 to 2005

Interest expense  $ 53,702 $ 46,586 $ 44,849 $ 7,116 15% $ 1,737 4%

Interest expense increased from 2006 to 2007 and from 2005 
to 2006 as a result of the additional interest expense related to the 
May 2006 issuance of the $2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchange-
able notes due 2011. This increase was partially offset by interest 
expense reductions resulting from the redemption of 93% or 

$769.8 million of our zero coupon convertible senior debentures 
due 2021 on February 6, 2006. These zero coupon notes accreted 
at a rate of 2.5% per annum. See further discussion of these trans-
actions in Note 9 to our accompanying consolidated financial 
statements in Part II, Item 8.
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The amount of gains (losses) on sales of long-lived assets, 
impairment charges and other income (expense), net for 2007 
includes losses on retirements and impairment charges on long-
lived assets of approximately $40.0 million and increases to litiga-
tion reserves of $9.6 million. These losses were partially offset by 
the $38 million gain on the sale of three accommodation jack-up 
rigs in the second quarter of 2007.

The amount of gains (losses) on sales of long-lived assets, 
impairment charges and other income (expense), net for 2006 
primarily includes losses on sales of long-lived assets of approxi-
mately $21.6 million, of which approximately $12.4 million 
relates to asset impairment charges.

Income tax rate

 Year Ended December 31,

 2007 2006 2005

Effective income tax rate from  
 continuing operations 21% 30% 26%

The decrease in our effective income tax rate from 2006 to 
2007 is a direct result of (1) the reversal of certain tax reserves 
during 2007 in the amount of $25.5 million, (2) a decrease in tax 
expense of approximately $16 million resulting from a reduction 
in Canadian tax rates, and (3) a decrease in the proportion of 
income generated in the U.S. versus the international jurisdictions 
in which we operate. Income generated in the U.S. is generally 
taxed at a higher rate than international jurisdictions. During 
2006, a tax expense relating to the redemption of common shares 
held by a foreign parent of a U.S. based Nabors’ subsidiary in the 

amount of $36.2 million increased taxes while a reduction in 
Canadian tax rates decreased tax expense in the amount of  
$20.5 million.

Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide 
provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our business, 
there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain. We are regularly under audit by 
tax authorities. Although we believe our tax estimates are reason-
able, the final determination of tax audits and any related litiga-
tion could be materially different than that which is reflected in 
our income tax provisions and accruals. Based on the results of  
an audit or litigation, a material effect on our financial position, 
income tax provision, net income, or cash flows in the period or 
periods for which that determination is made could result.

In October 2004, the U.S. Congress passed and the President 
signed into law the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“the 
Act”). The Act did not impact the corporate reorganization com-
pleted by Nabors effective June 24, 2002, that made us a foreign 
entity. It is possible that future changes to tax laws (including  
tax treaties) could have an impact on our ability to realize the tax 
savings recorded to date as well as future tax savings as a result of 
our corporate reorganization, depending on any responsive action 
taken by Nabors.

We expect our effective tax rate during 2008 to be in the 
22–24% range. We are subject to income taxes in both the U.S. 
and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is 
required in determining our worldwide provision for income  
tax. One of the most volatile factors in this determination is  
the relative proportion of our income being recognized in high 
versus low tax jurisdictions.

Investment (loss) income during 2007 was a net loss of  
$15.9 million compared to income of $102.0 million during the 
prior year. The current year loss reflected a net loss of $61.4 mil-
lion from the portion of our long-term investments comprised of 
our actively managed funds inclusive of substantial gains from 
sales of our marketable equity securities. Investment income from 
our short-term investments was approximately $45.5 million dur-
ing 2007 and slightly lower than 2006 primarily due to a combi-
nation of decreasing interest rates and a lower average cash balance.

Investment income increased from 2005 to 2006 as a result  
of higher interest income earned on investments in cash and 

short-term and long-term investments due to rising interest rates 
and a higher average investment balance related to the proceeds 
from the issuance of the $2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable 
notes due 2011 received in May 2006. The proceeds from the 
note issuance were reduced by approximately $1.2 billion, which 
represents the cost of the purchase of the call options and the  
buy back of our stock, net of the sale of warrants. In addition, 
earnings on our long-term investments increased during 2006  
as compared to the prior year period. The increase was partially 
reduced in 2006 compared to the prior year periods by reduced 
gains realized from the sale of equity securities. 

Investment (loss) income

 Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(In thousands, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Investment (loss) income $ (15,891) $ 102,007 $ 85,428 $ (117,898) (116%) $ 16,579 19%

Gains (losses) on sales of long-lived assets,  
impairment charges and other income (expense), net

 Year Ended December 31, Increase

(In thousands, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005 2007 to 2006  2006 to 2005

Gains (losses) on sales of long-lived assets,  
 impairment charges and other income (expense), net $ (10,895) $ (24,118) $ (45,952) $ 13,223 55% $ 21,834 48%
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows
Our cash flows depend, to a large degree, on the level of 

spending by oil and gas companies for exploration, development 
and production activities. Sustained increases or decreases in the 
price of natural gas or oil could have a material impact on these 
activities, and could also materially affect our cash flows. Certain 
sources and uses of cash, such as the level of discretionary capital 
expenditures, purchases and sales of investments, issuances and 
repurchases of debt and of our common shares are within our 
control and are adjusted as necessary based on market conditions. 
The following is a discussion of our cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Operating Activities  Net cash provided by operating activities 
totaled $1.4 billion during 2007 compared to net cash provided 
by operating activities of $1.5 billion during 2006. During 2007 
and 2006, net income was increased for non-cash items, such as 
depreciation and amortization, depletion, and deferred income tax 
expense and was reduced for changes in our working capital and 
other balance sheet accounts.

Investing Activities  Net cash used for investing activities 
totaled $1.5 billion during 2007 compared to net cash used for 
investing activities of $1.8 billion during 2006. During 2007 and 
2006, cash was primarily used for capital expenditures. During 
2007, cash was provided by sales of investments, net of purchases, 
totaling $482.1 million, proceeds from sales of assets and insur-
ance claims totaling $162.1 million primarily from the sale of 
three accommodation jack-up rigs in the second quarter and 
$194.3 million from the sale of our Sea Mar business. During 
2006, cash was provided by sales of investments, net of purchases, 
totaling $190.4 million.

Financing Activities  Net cash used for financing activities 
totaled $78.9 million during 2007 compared to net cash provided 
by financing activities of $418.3 million during 2006. During 
2007, cash was used to repurchase our common shares totaling 
$102.5 million, which was partially offset by our receipt of pro-
ceeds totaling $61.6 million from the exercise of options to 
acquire our common shares by our employees.

During 2006, cash was provided by approximately $2.72 bil-
lion in net proceeds from the issuance of the $2.75 billion 0.94% 
senior exchangeable notes due 2011 by Nabors Delaware, our 
receipt of proceeds totaling $25.7 million from the exercise of 
options to acquire our common shares by our employees, and  
by approximately $421.2 million from the sale of the warrants. 
During 2006, cash was used for the purchase of call options in 
the amount of $583.6 million, the redemption of 93% of our  
zero coupon senior convertible debentures due 2021 for a total 
redemption price of $769.8 million and for repurchases of our 
common shares in the open market for $1.4 billion.

Future Cash Requirements
As of December 31, 2007, we had long-term debt, includ-

ing current maturities, of $4.0 billion and cash and cash equiva-
lents and investments of $1.1 billion, including $236.3 million  
of long-term investments and $53.1 million in cash proceeds 
receivable from the sale of certain non-marketable securities  
that is included in other current assets. The cash proceeds  
were received during January.

Nabors Delaware’s $2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable 
notes due 2011 provide that upon an exchange of these notes, it 
will be required to pay holders of the notes, in lieu of common 
shares, cash up to the principal amount of the notes and our  
common shares for any amount exceeding the principal amount 
of the notes required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the note 
indentures. The notes cannot be exchanged until the price of our 
shares exceeds approximately $59.57 for at least 20 trading days 
during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the 
last trading day of the previous calendar quarter; or during the 
five business days immediately following any ten consecutive  
trading day period in which the trading price per note for each 
day of that period was less than 95% of the product of the sale 
price of Nabors’ common shares and the then applicable exchange 
rate; or upon the occurrence of specified corporate transactions  
set forth in the indenture.

The $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 
2023 provide that upon an exchange of these notes, we will be 
required to pay holders of the notes, in lieu of common shares, 
cash up to the principal amount of the notes and, at our option, 
consideration in the form of either cash or our common shares  
for any amount above the principal amount of the notes required 
to be paid pursuant to the terms of the note indentures. The  
notes cannot be exchanged until the price of our shares exceeds 
$42.06 for at least 20 trading days during the period of 30 con-
secutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the pre-
vious calendar quarter, or with respect to all calendar quarters 
beginning on or after July 1, 2008, $38.56 on such last trading 
day, or subject to certain exceptions, during the five business day 
period after any ten consecutive trading day period in which the 
trading price per note for each day of that period was less than 
95% of the product of the sale price of Nabors’ common shares 
and the then applicable exchange rate; or if Nabors Delaware calls 
the notes for redemption; or upon the occurrence of specified cor-
porate transactions described in the note indenture. The notes can 
be put to us on June 15, 2008, June 15, 2013 and June 15, 2018 
for a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of 
the notes plus contingent interest and additional amounts, if any. 
Accordingly, as our $700 million zero coupon senior exchange-
able notes can be put to us on June 15, 2008, the outstanding 
principal amount of these notes of $700 million were reclassified 
from long-term debt to current liabilities in our balance sheet 
as of June 30, 2007. If these notes are not put to us on June 15, 
2008, the notes will be reclassified back to long-term debt in our 
balance sheet at that time. See a detailed discussion of the terms 
of these notes included in Note 9 to our accompanying consoli-
dated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.

As of December 31, 2007, we had outstanding purchase  
commitments of approximately $318.0 million, primarily for rig-
related enhancing, construction and sustaining capital expendi-
tures. Total capital expenditures over the next twelve months, 
including these outstanding purchase commitments, are currently 
expected to be approximately $.9–1.1 billion, including currently 
planned rig-related enhancing, construction and sustaining capital 
expenditures. This amount could change significantly based on 
market conditions and new business opportunities. The level of 
our outstanding purchase commitments and our expected level  
of capital expenditures over the next twelve months represent a  
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The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2007:

  Payments due by Period 

(In thousands) Total < 1 Year 1–3 Years 3–5 Years Thereafter Other

Contractual cash obligations: 
Long-term debt: 
 Principal $ 4,014,557 $ 700,000(1) $ 225,000(2) $ 3,089,557(3) $ – $ – 
 Interest  186,320  51,600  92,232  42,488  –  – 
Operating leases(4)  34,940  12,794  15,061  5,117  1,968  – 
Purchase commitments(5)  317,980  317,942  38  –  –  – 
Employment contracts(4)  6,685  2,616  4,069  –  –  – 
Pension funding obligations(6)  1,050  1,050  –  –  –  – 
Tax reserves(7)  83,989  –  –  –  –  83,989

 Total contractual cash obligations $ 4,645,521 $ 1,086,002 $ 336,400 $ 3,137,162 $ 1,968 $ 83,989

(1)  Represents the $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes, which can be put to us on June 15, 2008 and can be exchanged for cash in certain circumstances including when the price  
of our shares exceeds approximately $42.06 for the required period of time.

(2)  Represents our $225 million 4.875% senior notes due August 2009. 
(3)  Includes our $2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable notes due 2011, the remainder of our $82 million zero coupon senior debentures due 2021, which can be put to us on February 5, 2011  

and the $275 million 5.375% senior notes due 2012.
(4)  See Note 14 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
(5)  Purchase commitments include agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities  

to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable pricing provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction.
(6)  See Note 12 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
(7)  Tax reserves are included in Other due to the difficulty in making reasonably reliable estimates of the timing of cash settlements to taxing authorities.

number of capital programs that are currently underway or 
planned. These programs have resulted in an expansion in the 
number of drilling and well-servicing rigs that we own and oper-
ate and consist primarily of land drilling and well-servicing rigs.

On September 22, 2006, we entered into an agreement with 
First Reserve Corporation to form a new joint venture, NFR 
Energy LLC, to invest in oil and gas exploration opportunities 
worldwide. First Reserve Corporation is a private equity firm  
specializing in the energy industry. Each party initially made  
a non-binding commitment to fund its proportionate share of  
$1.0 billion in equity. During 2007, joint venture operations in 
the U.S., Canada, and International areas, were divided among 
three separate joint venture entities, including NFR Energy LLC 
(“NFR”), Stone Mountain Ventures Partnership (“Stone Moun-
tain”), and Remora Energy International LP (“Remora”), respec-
tively. We hold a 49% ownership interest in these joint ventures. 
Each joint venture pursues development and exploration projects 
with both existing customers of ours and with other operators in  

a variety of forms including operated and non-operated working 
interests, joint ventures, farm-outs and acquisitions. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2007, we had made capital contributions of approximately 
$243.1 million, $19.1 million and $14.7 million, respectively, to 
NFR, Stone Mountain and Remora.

We have historically completed a number of acquisitions and 
will continue to evaluate opportunities to acquire assets or busi-
nesses to enhance our operations. Several of our previous acqui-
sitions were funded through issuances of our common shares. 
Future acquisitions may be paid for using existing cash or issu-
ance of debt or Nabors’ shares. Such capital expenditures and 
acquisitions will depend on our view of market conditions and 
other factors.

See our discussion of guarantees issued by Nabors that could 
have a potential impact on our financial position, results of opera-
tions or cash flows in future periods included under Off-Balance 
Sheet Arrangements (Including Guarantees).

In July 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a share repur-
chase program under which we may repurchase up to $500 mil-
lion of our common shares in the open market or in privately 
negotiated transactions. This program supersedes and cancels our 
previous share repurchase program. Through December 31, 2007, 
approximately $196.2 million of our common shares had been 
repurchased under this program. As of December 31, 2007, we 
had $303.8 million of shares that still may be purchased under 
the July 2006 share repurchase program.

See Note 14 to our accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments for discussion of commitments and contingencies relating 
to (i) employment contracts that could result in significant cash 
payments by the Company if there are terminations of certain 
executives in the event of death, disability, termination without 
cause or in the event of a change in control and (ii) off-balance 
sheet arrangements (including guarantees).

Financial Condition and Sources of Liquidity
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents, 

short-term and long-term investments and cash generated from 
operations. As of December 31, 2007, we had cash and cash 
equivalents investments of $1.1 billion (including $236.3 million 
of long-term investments and $53.1 million in cash proceeds 
receivable from the sale of certain non-marketable securities  
that is included in other current assets) and working capital  
of $711.0 million. This compares to cash and cash equivalents 
and investments of $1.7 billion (including $513.3 million of  
long-term investments) and working capital of $1.7 billion as  
of December 31, 2006.

Our gross funded debt to capital ratio was 0.44:1 as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007 and 0.50:1 as of December 31, 2006. Our net funded 
debt to capital ratio was 0.37:1 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. The gross funded debt to capital ratio is calculated 
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by dividing funded debt by funded debt plus deferred tax liabili-
ties net of deferred tax assets plus capital. Funded debt is defined 
as the sum of (1) short-term borrowings, (2) current portion 
of long-term debt and (3) long-term debt. Capital is defined as 
shareholders’ equity. The net funded debt to capital ratio is cal-
culated by dividing net funded debt by net funded debt plus 
deferred tax liabilities net of deferred tax assets plus capital. Net 
funded debt is defined as the sum of (1) short-term borrowings, 
(2) current portion of long-term debt and (3) long-term debt 
reduced by the sum of cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
and long-term investments. Capital is defined as shareholders’ 
equity. Both of these ratios are a method for calculating the 
amount of leverage a company has in relation to its capital.

Long-term investments consist of investments in overseas funds 
investing primarily in a variety of public and private U.S. and 
non-U.S. securities (including asset-backed securities and mortgage-
backed securities, global structured asset securitizations, whole 
loan mortgages, and participations in whole loans and whole loan 
mortgages). These investments are classified as non-marketable, 
because they do not have published fair values. Our interest cover-
age ratio from continuing operations was 32.5:1 as of December 31, 
2007, compared to 38.1:1 as of December 31, 2006. The interest 
coverage ratio is a trailing twelve-month computation of the sum 
of income from continuing operations before income taxes, interest 
expense, depreciation and amortization, and depletion expense 
less investment income and then dividing by interest expense. 
This ratio is a method for calculating the amount of operating 
cash flows available to cover interest expense.

We have four letter of credit facilities with various banks as of 
December 31, 2007. Availability and borrowings under our credit 
facilities as of December 31, 2007 are as follows:

(In thousands) 

Credit available $ 211,165 
Letters of credit outstanding  (157,877)

Remaining availability $ 53,288

We have a shelf registration statement on file with the SEC to 
allow us to offer, from time to time, up to $700 million in debt 
securities, guarantees of debt securities, preferred shares, depository 
shares, common shares, share purchase contracts, share purchase 
units and warrants. We currently have not issued any securities 
registered under this registration statement.

Our current cash and cash equivalents, investments and pro-
jected cash flows generated from current operations are expected 
to more than adequately finance our purchase commitments, our 
debt service requirements, and all other expected cash requirements 
for the next twelve months. However, as discussed under Future 
Cash Requirements above, the $2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchange-
able notes and $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes 
can be exchanged when the price of our shares exceeds $59.57 and 
$42.06, respectively, for the required periods of time, resulting in 
our payment of the principal amount of the notes, or $2.75 billion 
and $700 million, respectively, in cash. Our $700 million zero 

coupon senior exchangeable notes can be put to us on June 15, 
2008 resulting in our payment of cash or we may redeem some or 
all of the notes at any time on or after June 15, 2008, at a redemp-
tion price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes 
plus contingent interest, if any, and accordingly, the outstanding 
principal amount of these notes of $700 million was reclassified 
from long-term debt to current liabilities in our balance sheet as 
of June 30, 2007.

On February 20, 2008, Nabors Industries, Inc. (“Nabors  
Delaware”), our wholly-owned subsidiary, completed a private 
placement of $575 million aggregate principal amount of 6.15% 
senior notes due 2018 with registration rights, which are unse-
cured and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by us. The 
issue of senior notes was resold by a placement agent to qualified 
institutional buyers under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (“Securities Act”). The notes bear interest at  
a rate of 6.15% per year, payable semiannually on February 15 
and August 15 of each year, beginning August 15, 2008. We 
intend to use the remaining proceeds of the offering for general 
corporate purposes, including the repayment of debt.

On February 22, 2008, the market price for our shares  
closed at $30.90. If the market price threshold of $59.57 for our 
$2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable notes or $42.06 for our 
$700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes was exceeded 
and the notes were exchanged or if the holders of the $700 mil-
lion zero coupon senior exchangeable notes require us to repur-
chase the notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal 
amount of the notes on June 15, 2008, the required cash payment 
could have a significant impact on our level of cash and cash 
equivalents and investments available to meet our other cash  
obligations. Management believes that the holders of these notes 
would not be likely to exchange the notes as it would be more 
economically beneficial to them if they sold the notes on the open 
market. However, there can be no assurance that the holders 
would not exchange the notes. If either of the notes were 
exchanged or the $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable 
notes are put to us on June 15, 2008, management believes, in 
addition to our current cash and cash equivalents and invest-
ments, that we have the ability to access capital markets or other-
wise obtain financing in order to satisfy any payment obligations 
that might arise upon exchange of these notes and that any cash 
payment due of this magnitude, in addition to our other cash 
obligations, will not ultimately have a material adverse impact on 
our liquidity or financial position. Our ability to access capital 
markets or to otherwise obtain sufficient financing is enhanced by 
our senior unsecured debt ratings as provided by Dominion Bond 
Rating Service (“DBRS”), Fitch Ratings, Moody’s Investor Ser-
vice and Standard & Poor’s, which are currently “A-1”, “A-”, “A3” 
and “BBB+”, respectively, and our historical ability to access those 
markets as needed.

See our discussion of the impact of changes in market condi-
tions on our derivative financial instruments discussed under  
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market 
Risk on page 58.
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Other Matters

Recent Legislation and Actions
Our Sea Mar division time chartered supply vessels to offshore 

operations in U.S. waters. The vessels were owned by one of our 
financing company subsidiaries, but were operated and managed 
by a U.S. citizen-controlled company pursuant to long-term bare-
boat charters. As a result of legislation, beginning in August 2007, 
Sea Mar no longer qualified to charter vessels for employment in 
the U.S. coastwise trade. In August 2007, we sold our Sea Mar 
business to an unrelated third party for a cash purchase price of 
$194.3 million, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $49.5 million. The 
operating results of this business for all periods presented are 
accounted for as a discontinued operation in the accompanying 
audited consolidated statements of income.

As a result of our internal stock option review concluded in  
the first quarter of 2007, we determined that the exercise price  
for certain of our employee stock options was less than the fair 
market value of our common shares on the date the options were 
granted. On November 29, 2007, we made an offer to eligible 
employees to amend certain outstanding options granted under 
the Nabors Industries, Inc. 1996 Employee Stock Plan and the 
Nabors Industries, Inc. 1998 Employee Stock Plan to increase  
the exercise price per option to the fair market value of a common 
share of Nabors on each option’s measurement date for financial 
accounting purposes and to make to eligible employees a cash 
payment equal to the difference between the new exercise price 
per share of the amended option and the original exercise price 
per share, multiplied by the number of unexercised eligible 
options. As a result of the tender offer, we cancelled options  
with a fair value of $24.3 million, replaced with a new award of 
options with a fair value of $22.2 million and paid $3.3 million 
in cash. This resulted in $1.2 million of additional compensation 
expense. See Note 14 regarding our internal stock option review 
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141(R), “Business Combi-
nations.” This statement retains the fundamental requirements 
in SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” that the acquisition 
method of accounting be used for all business combinations and 
expands the same method of accounting to all transactions and 
other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more 
other businesses or assets at the acquisition date and in subsequent 
periods. This statement replaces SFAS No. 141 by requiring  
measurement at the acquisition date of the fair value of assets 
acquired, liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest. 
Additionally, SFAS No. 141(R) requires that acquisition-related 
costs, including restructuring costs, be recognized as expense  
separately from the acquisition. SFAS No. 141(R) applies prospec-
tively to business combinations for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008. We will adopt SFAS No. 141(R) beginning 
January 1, 2009 and apply to future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Non- 
controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an 
amendment of ARB No. 51.” This statement establishes the 
accounting and reporting standards for a noncontrolling interest 
in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. This 
statement clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary  
is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should  
be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. 
SFAS No. 160 requires retroactive adoption of the presenta-
tion and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests 
and applies prospectively to business combinations for fiscal  
years beginning after December 15, 2008. We will adopt  
SFAS No. 160 beginning January 1, 2009. We are currently  
evaluating the impact that this pronouncement may have on  
our consolidated financial statements.

 Maximum Amount

(In thousands) 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Total

Financial standby letters of credit and other financial surety instruments $ 131,732 $ 100 $ 1,953 $ – $ 133,785 
Contingent consideration in acquisitions  –  1,417  1,417  1,416  4,250

Total $ 131,732 $ 1,517 $ 3,370 $ 1,416 $ 138,035

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements (Including Guarantees)
We are a party to certain transactions, agreements or other 

contractual arrangements defined as “off-balance sheet arrange-
ments” that could have a material future effect on our financial 
position, results of operations, liquidity and capital resources.  
The most significant of these off-balance sheet arrangements 
involve agreements and obligations in which we provide financial 
or performance assurance to third parties. Certain of these agree-
ments serve as guarantees, including standby letters of credit 
issued on behalf of insurance carriers in conjunction with our 

workers’ compensation insurance program and other financial 
surety instruments such as bonds. In addition, we have provided 
indemnifications to certain third parties which serve as guarantees. 
These guarantees include indemnification provided by Nabors to 
our share transfer agent and our insurance carriers. We are not 
able to estimate the potential future maximum payments that 
might be due under our indemnification guarantees.

Management believes the likelihood that we would be required 
to perform or otherwise incur any material losses associated with 
any of these guarantees is remote. The following table summarizes 
the total maximum amount of financial and performance guaran-
tees issued by Nabors:
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair 
Value Measurements.” This statement establishes a framework for 
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles 
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements for financial 
assets and liabilities, as well as for any other assets and liabilities 
that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis in financial state-
ments. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued 
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years. There is a one year deferral for 
the implementation of SFAS No. 157 for other nonfinancial assets 
and liabilities. We will adopt SFAS No. 157 beginning January 1, 
2008. We are currently evaluating the impact on our consolidated 
results of operations and financial condition.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair 
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – 
Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.” This state-
ment permits entities to choose to measure many financial instru-
ments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently 
required to be measured at fair value and establishes presentation 
and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons 
between entities that choose different measurement attributes for 
similar types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective 
as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after 
November 15, 2007. We will adopt SFAS No. 159 beginning  
January 1, 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact on our 
consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

Related-Party Transactions
Pursuant to their employment agreements, Nabors and its 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Deputy Chairman,  
President and Chief Operating Officer, and certain other key 
employees entered into split-dollar life insurance agreements  
pursuant to which we paid a portion of the premiums under life 
insurance policies with respect to these individuals and, in certain 
instances, members of their families. Under these agreements,  
we are reimbursed for such premiums upon the occurrence of 
specified events, including the death of an insured individual.  
Any recovery of premiums paid by Nabors could potentially be 
limited to the cash surrender value of these policies under certain 
circumstances. As such, the values of these policies are recorded  
at their respective cash surrender values in our consolidated bal-
ance sheets. We have made premium payments to date totaling 
$11.2 million related to these policies. The cash surrender value  
of these policies of approximately $10.5 million and $10.3 million 
is included in other long-term assets in our consolidated balance 
sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the payment of pre-
miums by Nabors under the agreements with our Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer and with our Deputy Chairman, Presi-
dent and Chief Operating Officer may be deemed to be prohib-
ited loans by us to these individuals. We have paid no premiums 
related to our agreements with these individuals since the adop-
tion of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and have postponed premium 
payments related to our agreements with these individuals.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into various rig 
leases, rig transportation and related oilfield services agreements 
with our unconsolidated affiliates at market prices. Revenues  
from business transactions with these affiliated entities totaled 
$153.4 million, $99.2 million and $82.3 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Expenses 
from business transactions with these affiliated entities totaled 
$6.6 million, $4.7 million and $4.0 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Additionally, 
we had accounts receivable from these affiliated entities of  
$62.3 million and $41.2 million as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively. We had accounts payable to these affiliated 
entities of $14.7 million and $.3 million as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006, respectively, and long-term payables with these affili-
ated entities of $7.8 million and $6.6 million as of December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively, which is included in other long- 
term liabilities.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company entered into 
a transaction with Shona Energy Company, LLC (“Shona”), a 
company in which Mr. Payne, an outside director of the Com-
pany, is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Pursuant to 
the transaction, a subsidiary of the Company acquired and holds 
a minority interest of less than 20% of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of Shona in exchange for certain rights derived 
from an oil and gas concession held by that subsidiary.

Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of our financial statements in conformity  

with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the amounts  
of revenues and expenses recognized during the reporting period. 
We analyze our estimates based on our historical experience and 
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. However, actual results could differ from such 
estimates. The following is a discussion of our critical accounting 
estimates. Management considers an accounting estimate to be 
critical if:

  it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain  
 at the time the estimate was made; and

  changes in the estimate or different estimates that could  
 have been selected could have a material impact on our  
 consolidated financial position or results of operations.

For a summary of all of our significant accounting policies, see 
Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment  The drilling, 
workover and well-servicing industries are very capital intensive. 
Property, plant and equipment represented 66% of our total assets 
as of December 31, 2007, and depreciation constituted 12% of  
our total costs and other deductions for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007.
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Depreciation for our primary operating assets, drilling and 
workover rigs, is calculated based on the units-of-production 
method over an approximate 4,900-day period, with the excep-
tion of our jack-up rigs which are depreciated over an 8,030-day 
period, after provision for salvage value. When our drilling and 
workover rigs are not operating, a depreciation charge is provided 
using the straight-line method over an assumed depreciable life of 
20 years, with the exception of our jack-up rigs, where a 30-year 
depreciable life is used.

Depreciation on our buildings, well-servicing rigs, oilfield haul-
ing and mobile equipment, marine transportation and supply ves-
sels, aircraft equipment, and other machinery and equipment is 
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 
life of the asset after provision for salvage value (buildings – 10 to 
30 years; well-servicing rigs – 3 to 15 years; marine transportation 
and supply vessels – 10 to 25 years; aircraft equipment – 5 to 20 
years; oilfield hauling and mobile equipment and other machinery 
and equipment – 3 to 10 years).

These depreciation periods and the salvage values of our prop-
erty, plant and equipment were determined through an analysis  
of the useful lives of our assets and based on our experience with 
the salvage values of these assets. Periodically, we review our 
depreciation periods and salvage values for reasonableness given 
current conditions. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
is therefore based upon estimates of the useful lives and salvage 
value of those assets. Estimation of these items requires significant 
management judgment. Accordingly, management believes that 
accounting estimates related to depreciation expense recorded on 
property, plant and equipment are critical.

There have been no factors related to the performance of our 
portfolio of assets, changes in technology or other factors that 
indicate that these lives do not continue to be appropriate. Accord-
ingly, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
no significant changes have been made to the depreciation rates 
applied to property, plant and equipment, the underlying assump-
tions related to estimates of depreciation, or the methodology 
applied. However, certain events could occur that would materi-
ally affect our estimates and assumptions related to depreciation. 
Unforeseen changes in operations or technology could substan-
tially alter management’s assumptions regarding our ability to 
realize the return on our investment in operating assets and  
therefore affect the useful lives and salvage values of our assets.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  As discussed above, the  
drilling, workover and well-servicing industries are very capital 
intensive, which is evident in the fact that our property, plant  
and equipment represented 66% of our total assets as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007. Other long-lived assets subject to impairment consist 
primarily of goodwill, which represented 4% of our total assets as 
of December 31, 2007. We review our long-lived assets for impair-
ment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amounts of such assets may not be recoverable. In addi-
tion, we review goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives 
for impairment annually, as required by SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets.” An impairment loss is recorded in 

the period in which it is determined that the carrying amount of 
the long-lived asset is not recoverable. Such determination requires 
us to make judgments regarding long-term forecasts of future reve-
nues and costs related to the assets subject to review in order to 
determine the future cash flows associated with the asset or, in the 
case of goodwill, our reporting units. These long-term forecasts are 
uncertain in that they require assumptions about demand for our 
products and services, future market conditions, technological 
advances in the industry, and changes in regulations governing the 
industry. Significant and unanticipated changes to the assumptions 
could require a provision for impairment in a future period. As the 
determination of whether impairment charges should be recorded 
on our long-lived assets is subject to significant management judg-
ment and an impairment of these assets could result in a material 
charge on our consolidated statements of income, management 
believes that accounting estimates related to impairment of long-
lived assets are critical.

Assumptions made in the determination of future cash flows are 
made with the involvement of management personnel at the opera-
tional level where the most specific knowledge of market conditions 
and other operating factors exists. For the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, no significant changes have been 
made to the methodology utilized to determine future cash flows.

Given the nature of the evaluation of future cash flows and the 
application to specific assets and specific times, it is not possible to 
reasonably quantify the impact of changes in these assumptions.

Income Taxes  Deferred taxes represent a substantial liability 
for Nabors. For financial reporting purposes, management deter-
mines our current tax liability as well as those taxes incurred as a 
result of current operations yet deferred until future periods. In 
accordance with the liability method of accounting for income 
taxes as specified in SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income 
Taxes,” the provision for income taxes is the sum of income  
taxes both currently payable and deferred. Currently payable  
taxes represent the liability related to our income tax return for 
the current year while the net deferred tax expense or benefit  
represents the change in the balance of deferred tax assets or  
liabilities reported on our consolidated balance sheets. The tax 
effects of unrealized gains and losses on investments and deriv-
ative financial instruments are recorded through accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders’ equity. 
The changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined 
based upon changes in differences between the basis of assets  
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the basis of 
assets and liabilities for tax purposes as measured by the enacted 
tax rates that management estimates will be in effect when these 
differences reverse. Management must make certain assumptions 
regarding whether tax differences are permanent or temporary 
and must estimate the timing of their reversal, and whether tax-
able operating income in future periods will be sufficient to fully 
recognize any gross deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances are 
established to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely 
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will 
not be realized. In determining the need for valuation allowances, 
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management has considered and made judgments and estimates 
regarding estimated future taxable income and ongoing prudent 
and feasible tax planning strategies. These judgments and esti-
mates are made for each tax jurisdiction in which we operate as 
the calculation of deferred taxes is completed at that level. Fur-
ther, under U.S. federal tax law, the amount and availability of 
loss carryforwards (and certain other tax attributes) are subject  
to a variety of interpretations and restrictive tests applicable to 
Nabors and our subsidiaries. The utilization of such carryfor-
wards could be limited or effectively lost upon certain changes  
in ownership. Accordingly, although we believe substantial loss 
carryforwards are available to us, no assurance can be given con-
cerning the realization of such loss carryforwards, or whether or 
not such loss carryforwards will be available in the future. These 
loss carryforwards are also considered in our calculation of taxes 
for each jurisdiction in which we operate. Additionally, we record 
reserves for uncertain tax positions which are subject to a signifi-
cant level of management judgment related to the ultimate resolu-
tion of those tax positions. Accordingly, management believes that 
the estimate related to the provision for income taxes is critical 
to our results of operations. We have received notifications from 
the IRS on various matters as a result of IRS audits of certain tax 
years. See Item 1A. Risk Factors – We may have additional tax 
liabilities and Note 10 under Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data for additional discussion.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of the 
FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” In connection with the adoption  
of FIN 48, we recognized increases of $24 million and $21 mil-
lion to our tax reserves for uncertain tax positions and interest 
and penalties, respectively. See Note 10 under Item 8. Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data for additional discussion.

We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and 
numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required 
in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. In the 
ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and 
calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
We are regularly under audit by tax authorities. Although we 
believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determina- 
tion of tax audits and any related litigation could be materially 
different than that which is reflected in historical income tax  
provisions and accruals. Based on the results of an audit or  
litigation, a material effect on our financial position, income tax 
provision, net income, or cash flows in the period or periods for 
which that determination is made could result. However, certain 
events could occur that would materially affect management’s 
estimates and assumptions regarding the deferred portion of 
our income tax provision, including estimates of future tax rates 
applicable to the reversal of tax differences, the classification of 
timing differences as temporary or permanent, reserves recorded 
for uncertain tax positions, and any valuation allowance recorded 
as a reduction to our deferred tax assets. Management’s assump-
tions related to the preparation of our income tax provision 
have historically proved to be reasonable in light of the ultimate 
amount of tax liability due in all taxing jurisdictions.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, our provision for 
income taxes from continuing operations was $239.7 million,  
consisting of $228.0 million of current tax expense and $11.7 mil-
lion of deferred tax expense. Changes in management’s estimates 
and assumptions regarding the tax rate applied to deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, the ability to realize the value of deferred tax 
assets, or the timing of the reversal of tax basis differences could 
potentially impact the provision for income taxes. Changes in 
these assumptions could potentially change the effective tax rate. 
A 1% change in the effective tax rate from 21% to 22% would 
increase the current year income tax provision by approximately 
$11.4 million.

Self-Insurance Reserves  Our operations are subject to many 
hazards inherent in the drilling, workover and well-servicing 
industries, including blowouts, cratering, explosions, fires, loss  
of well control, loss of hole, damaged or lost drilling equipment 
and damage or loss from inclement weather or natural disasters. 
Any of these hazards could result in personal injury or death, 
damage to or destruction of equipment and facilities, suspension 
of operations, environmental damage and damage to the property 
of others. Generally, drilling contracts provide for the division of 
responsibilities between a drilling company and its customer, and 
we seek to obtain indemnification from our customers by contract 
for certain of these risks. To the extent that we are unable to 
transfer such risks to customers by contract or indemnification 
agreements, we seek protection through insurance. However, 
there is no assurance that such insurance or indemnification 
agreements will adequately protect us against liability from all of 
the consequences of the hazards described above. Moreover, our 
insurance coverage generally provides that we assume a portion  
of the risk in the form of a deductible or self-insured retention.

Based on the risks discussed above, it is necessary for us to 
estimate the level of our liability related to insurance and record 
reserves for these amounts in our consolidated financial state-
ments. Reserves related to self-insurance are based on the facts 
and circumstances specific to the claims and our past experience 
with similar claims. The actual outcome of self-insured claims 
could differ significantly from estimated amounts. We maintain 
actuarially-determined accruals in our consolidated balance sheets 
to cover self-insurance retentions for workers’ compensation, 
employers’ liability, general liability and automobile liability 
claims. These accruals are based on certain assumptions devel-
oped utilizing historical data to project future losses. Loss esti-
mates in the calculation of these accruals are adjusted based upon 
actual claim settlements and reported claims. These loss estimates 
and accruals recorded in our financial statements for claims have 
historically been reasonable in light of the actual amount of 
claims paid.



58

As the determination of our liability for self-insured claims  
is subject to significant management judgment and in certain 
instances is based on actuarially-estimated and calculated 
amounts, and such liabilities could be material in nature,  
management believes that accounting estimates related to  
self-insurance reserves are critical.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, no 
significant changes have been made to the methodology utilized 
to estimate insurance reserves. For purposes of earnings sensitivity 
analysis, if the December 31, 2007 reserves for insurance were 
adjusted (increased or decreased) by 10%, total costs and other 
deductions would have changed by $15.7 million, or 0.4%.

Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed  We have 
completed a number of acquisitions in recent years as discussed in 
Note 4 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements. In 
conjunction with our accounting for these acquisitions, it was nec-
essary for us to estimate the values of the assets acquired and liabil-
ities assumed in the various business combinations, which involved 
the use of various assumptions. These estimates may be affected by 
such factors as changing market conditions, technological advances 
in the industry or changes in regulations governing the industry. 
The most significant assumptions, and the ones requiring the most 
judgment, involve the estimated fair values of property, plant and 
equipment, and the resulting amount of goodwill, if any. Unfore-
seen changes in operations or technology could substantially alter 
management’s assumptions and could result in lower estimates of 
values of acquired assets or of future cash flows. This could result 
in impairment charges being recorded in our consolidated state-
ments of income. As the determination of the fair value of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed is subject to significant manage-
ment judgment and a change in purchase price allocations could 
result in a material difference in amounts recorded in our consoli-
dated financial statements, management believes that accounting 
estimates related to the valuation of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed are critical.

The determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities are 
based on the market for the assets and the settlement value of the 
liabilities. These estimates are made by management based on our 
experience with similar assets and liabilities. For the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, no significant changes have 
been made to the methodology utilized to value assets acquired  
or liabilities assumed. Our estimates of the fair values of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed have proved to be reliable.

Given the nature of the evaluation of the fair value of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed and the application to specific 
assets and liabilities, it is not possible to reasonably quantify  
the impact of changes in these assumptions.

Share-Based Compensation  We have historically compen-
sated our executives and employees through the awarding of  
stock options and restricted stock. Based on the requirements  
of SFAS 123(R), which we adopted on January 1, 2006, we 
account for stock option awards in 2006 and 2007 using a fair-
value based method, resulting in compensation expense for stock 
option awards being recorded in our consolidated statements 
of income. Additionally, under the provisions of SFAS No. 148, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – an Amendment to 
FAS 123,” we are currently required to disclose the effect on our 

net income and earnings per share as if we had applied the fair 
value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to the periods presented 
in our consolidated statements of income. This tabular disclosure 
is included in Note 3 to our accompanying consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2005. Determining 
the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date requires 
judgment, including estimating the expected term of stock 
options, the expected volatility of our stock and expected divi-
dends. In addition, judgment is also required in estimating the 
amount of stock-based awards that are expected to be forfeited.  
As the determination of these various assumptions is subject to 
significant management judgment and different assumptions 
could result in material differences in amounts recorded in our 
consolidated financial statements beginning in the first quarter  
of 2006 and in our disclosure presented in the footnotes to our 
accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2005, management believes that accounting 
estimates related to the valuation of stock options are critical.

The assumptions used to estimate the fair market value of our 
stock options are based on historical and expected performance  
of our common shares in the open market, expectations with 
regard to the pattern with which our employees will exercise their 
options and the likelihood that dividends will be paid to holders 
of our common shares. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 
2006 and 2005, no significant changes have been made to the 
methodology utilized to determine the assumptions used in  
these calculations.

Item 7A   Quantitative and Qualitative  
Disclosures About Market Risk

We may be exposed to certain market risks arising from the 
use of financial instruments in the ordinary course of business. 
This risk arises primarily as a result of potential changes in the 
fair market value of financial instruments that would result from 
adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, credit risk, 
interest rates, and marketable and non-marketable security prices 
as discussed below.

Foreign Currency Risk  We operate in a number of interna-
tional areas and are involved in transactions denominated in  
currencies other than U.S. dollars, which exposes us to foreign 
exchange rate risk. The most significant exposures arise in con-
nection with our operations in Canada, which usually are sub-
stantially unhedged.

At various times, we utilize local currency borrowings (foreign 
currency-denominated debt), the payment structure of customer 
contracts and foreign exchange contracts to selectively hedge  
our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in connection with 
monetary assets, liabilities, cash flows and commitments denomi-
nated in certain foreign currencies. A foreign exchange contract  
is a foreign currency transaction, defined as an agreement to 
exchange different currencies at a given future date and at a  
specified rate. A hypothetical 10% decrease in the value of all  
our foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007 would result in a $24.0 million decrease in the fair 
value of our net monetary assets denominated in currencies other 
than U.S. dollars.
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Credit Risk  Our financial instruments that potentially subject 
us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equiv-
alents, investments and marketable and non-marketable securities, 
accounts receivable and our range cap and floor derivative instru-
ment. Cash equivalents such as deposits and temporary cash 
investments are held by major banks or investment firms. Our 
investments in marketable and non-marketable securities are  
managed within established guidelines which limit the amounts 
that may be invested with any one issuer and which provide guid-
ance as to issuer credit quality. Certain of our non-marketable 
securities are invested in a fund that invests in securities which 
have been significantly impacted by the current credit market 
and comprise approximately $26.2 million of our $236.3 million 
long-term investments in our cash and investment portfolio as 
of December 31, 2007. We believe that the credit risk in our cash 
and investment portfolio is minimized as a result of the mix of 
our investments. In addition, our trade receivables are with a  
variety of U.S., international and foreign-country national oil and 
gas companies. Management considers this credit risk to be limited 
due to the financial resources of these companies. We perform 
ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and we generally do 
not require material collateral. However, we do occasionally require 
prepayment of amounts from customers whose creditworthiness 
is in question prior to provision of services to those customers. 
We maintain reserves for potential credit losses, and such losses 
have been within management’s expectations.

Interest Rate, and Marketable and Non-marketable Security 
Price Risk  Our financial instruments that are potentially sensitive 
to changes in interest rates include the $2.75 billion 0.94% senior 
exchangeable notes due 2011, our $82.8 million zero coupon con-
vertible senior debentures, our $700 million zero coupon senior 
exchangeable notes, our 4.875% and 5.375% senior notes, our 
range cap and floor derivative instrument, our investments in debt 
securities (including corporate, asset-backed, U.S. Government, 
Government agencies, foreign government, mortgage-backed debt 
and mortgage-CMO debt securities) and our investments in over-
seas funds investing primarily in a variety of public and private 
U.S. and non-U.S. securities (including asset-backed securities and 
mortgage-backed securities, global structured asset securitizations, 
whole loan mortgages, and participations in whole loans and whole 
loan mortgages), which are classified as non-marketable securities.

We may utilize derivative financial instruments that are 
intended to manage our exposure to interest rate risks. We 
account for derivative financial instruments under SFAS No. 133, 
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” 
SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments 
and Certain Hedging Activities,” and SFAS No. 149, “Amend-
ment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities,” (collectively, “SFAS 133, as amended”). The use of 
derivative financial instruments could expose us to further credit 
risk and market risk. Credit risk in this context is the failure of  
a counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative con-
tract. When the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the 
counterparty would owe us, which can create credit risk for us. 
When the fair value of a derivative contract is negative, we would 
owe the counterparty, and therefore, we would not be exposed  

to credit risk. We attempt to minimize credit risk in derivative 
instruments by entering into transactions with major financial 
institutions that have a significant asset base. Market risk related 
to derivatives is the adverse effect to the value of a financial 
instrument that results from changes in interest rates. We try  
to manage market risk associated with interest-rate contracts by 
establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the type and 
degree of market risk that we undertake.

Our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes 
include a contingent interest provision, discussed under Liquidity 
and Capital Resources above, which qualifies as an embedded 
derivative under SFAS 133, as amended. This embedded deriva-
tive is required to be separated from the notes and valued at its 
fair value at the inception of the note indenture. Any subsequent 
change in fair value of this embedded derivative would be recorded 
in our consolidated statements of income. The fair value of the 
contingent interest provision at inception of the note indenture 
was nominal. In addition, there was no significant change in 
the fair value of this embedded derivative through December 31, 
2007, resulting in no impact on our consolidated statements of 
income for the year ended December 31, 2007 or 2006.

On October 21, 2002, we entered into an interest rate swap 
transaction with a third-party financial institution to hedge our 
exposure to changes in the fair value of $200 million of our fixed 
rate 5.375% senior notes due 2012, which has been designated as 
a fair value hedge under SFAS 133, as amended. Additionally, on 
October 21, 2002, we purchased a LIBOR range cap and sold a 
LIBOR floor, in the form of a cashless collar, with the same third-
party financial institution with the intention of mitigating and 
managing our exposure to changes in the three-month U.S. dollar 
LIBOR rate. This transaction does not qualify for hedge account-
ing treatment under SFAS 133, as amended, and any change in 
the cumulative fair value of this transaction is reflected as a gain 
or loss in our consolidated statements of income. In June 2004, we 
unwound $100 million of the $200 million range cap and floor 
derivative instrument. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we 
unwound the interest rate swap resulting in a loss of $2.7 million, 
which has been deferred and will be recognized as an increase to 
interest expense over the remaining life of our 5.375% senior 
notes due 2012. During the year ended December 31, 2005, we 
recorded interest savings related to our interest rate swap agree-
ment accounted for as a fair value hedge of $2.7 million, which 
served to reduce interest expense.

The fair value of our range cap and floor transaction is recorded 
as a derivative asset, included in other long-term assets, and was 
nominal as of December 31, 2007 and totaled approximately  
$2.3 million as of December 31, 2006. We recorded a loss of 
approximately $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 
and gains of approximately $1.4 million and $1.1 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, related to 
this derivative instrument; such amounts are included in losses 
(gains) on sales of long-lived assets, impairment charges and other 
expense (income), net in our consolidated statements of income.

A hypothetical 10% adverse shift in quoted interest rates as of 
December 31, 2007 would decrease the fair value of our range cap 
and floor derivative instrument by approximately $.5 million.
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The fair values of our cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables approximate their carrying values due to the short-term 
nature of these instruments. Our cash and cash equivalents, and investments are included in the table below:

 December 31,

(In thousands, except interest rates) 2007 2006

   Weighted-   Weighted- 
   Average Life   Average Life 
 Fair Value Interest Rates (Years) Fair Value Interest Rates (Years)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 531,306 3.15%–6.07% 0.01 $ 700,549 4.12%–5.37% 0.1
Available-for-sale marketable equity securities  – – –  117,220 N/A N/A
Marketable debt securities: 
 Commercial paper and CDs  – – –  16,778 5.04%–5.69% 0.3
 Corporate debt securities  95,456 4.38%–7.60% 0.5  131,079 4.86%–5.76% 1.0
 U.S. Government debt securities  20,048 3.06%–3.32% 1.2  – – –
Government agencies debt securities  39,634 4.25%–5.14% 1.1  61,318 5.05%–5.76% 0.7
Mortgage-backed debt securities  6,788 2.79%–5.39% 1.5  1,373 5.20%–5.69% 1.4
Mortgage-CMO debt securities  23,784 2.49%–5.68% 0.9  49,629 4.99%–5.98% 1.0
Asset-backed debt securities  50,035 3.96%–10.53% 1.1  62,070 4.60%–5.83% 1.0

Total marketable debt securities  235,745    322,247  
Long-term investments  236,253 N/A N/A  513,269 N/A N/A

Total cash and cash equivalents and investments $ 1,003,304   $ 1,653,285  

Our investments in marketable debt securities listed in the above table and a portion of our investment in non-marketable securities are 
sensitive to changes in interest rates. Additionally, our investment portfolio of marketable debt and equity securities, which are carried at 
fair value, expose us to price risk. A hypothetical 10% decrease in the market prices for all marketable securities as of December 31, 2007 
would decrease the fair value of our debt securities by $23.6 million.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments  The fair value of our fixed rate long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market prices or  
prices quoted from third-party financial institutions. The carrying and fair values of our long-term debt, including the current portion,  
are as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands, except interest rates) 2007 2006

 Effective   Effective   
 Interest Carrying  Interest Carrying  
 Rate Value Fair Value Rate Value Fair Value

$2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable notes due May 2011 1.15% $ 2,750,000 $ 2,595,313 1.09% $ 2,750,000 $ 2,628,725
$700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due June 2023 0.32%  700,000  696,990 0.32%  700,000  730,380
5.375% senior notes due August 2012 5.69%(1)  272,097(2)  279,043 5.69%(1)  271,470(2)  270,545
4.875% senior notes due August 2009 5.10%  224,562  225,709 5.10%  224,296  221,749
$82.8 million zero coupon convertible  
 senior debentures due February 2021 2.48%(3)  59,774  56,897 2.94%(3)  58,308  50,354

     $ 4,006,433 $ 3,853,952  $ 4,004,074 $ 3,901,753

(1) Includes the effect of interest savings realized from the interest rate swap executed on October 21, 2002.
(2) Includes $1.9 million and $2.3 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, related to the unamortized loss on the interest rate swap that was unwound during the fourth quarter of 2005.
(3) Represents the rate at which accretion of the original discount at issuance of these debentures is charged to interest expense.
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R EPORT OF INDEPENDENT R EGISTER ED PU BLIC ACCOU NT ING FIR M

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors 
of Nabors Industries Ltd.: 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
and the related consolidated statements of income, of cash flows 
and of changes in shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all mate-
rial respects, the financial position of Nabors Industries Ltd. and 
its subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of 
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed 
in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all 
material respects, the information set forth therein when read in 
conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. 
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal  
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 
The Company’s management is responsible for these financial 
statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control 
over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our respon-
sibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on 
the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal  
control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement and whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audits of financial statements included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our 
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtain-
ing an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 

assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing  
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included per-
forming such other procedures as we consider necessary in the  
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts 
for share-based compensation in 2006 and the manner in which  
it accounts for uncertain tax positions effective January 1, 2007.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a  
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control  
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reason-
able detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and  
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expendi-
tures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and 
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of  
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finan-
cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, pro-
jections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP 

Houston, Texas
February 28, 2008
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 December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006

ASSETS 
Current assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 531,306 $ 700,549 
 Short-term investments  235,745  439,467 
 Accounts receivable, net  1,039,238  1,109,738 
 Inventory  133,786  100,487 
 Deferred income taxes  12,757  38,081 
 Other current assets  252,280  116,534

  Total current assets  2,205,112  2,504,856

Long-term investments  236,253  513,269 
Property, plant and equipment, net  6,689,126  5,410,101 
Goodwill  368,432  362,269 
Other long-term assets  604,459  351,808

  Total assets $ 10,103,382 $ 9,142,303

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
 Current portion of long-term debt $ 700,000 $ – 
 Trade accounts payable  348,524  459,179 
 Accrued liabilities  348,515  294,958 
 Income taxes payable  97,093  100,223

  Total current liabilities  1,494,132  854,360

Long-term debt  3,306,433  4,004,074 
Other long-term liabilities  246,714  208,553 
Deferred income taxes  541,982  538,663

  Total liabilities  5,589,261  5,605,650

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Shareholders’ equity:     
 Common shares, par value $.001 per share:  
  Authorized common shares 800,000; issued 305,458 and 299,333, respectively  305  299 
 Capital in excess of par value  1,710,036  1,637,204 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income  322,635  201,261 
 Retained earnings  3,359,080  2,473,373 
 Less: treasury shares, at cost, 26,122 and 22,340 common shares, respectively  (877,935)  (775,484)

  Total shareholders’ equity  4,514,121  3,536,653

  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 10,103,382 $ 9,142,303

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  2007 2006 2005

Revenues and other income: 
 Operating revenues $ 4,938,848 $ 4,707,289 $ 3,394,472 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  17,724  20,545  5,671 
 Investment (loss) income  (15,891)  102,007  85,428

  Total revenues and other income  4,940,681  4,829,841  3,485,571

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  2,764,559  2,511,392  1,958,538 
 General and administrative expenses  436,282  416,610  247,129 
 Depreciation and amortization  467,730  364,653  285,054 
 Depletion  72,182  38,580  46,894 
 Interest expense  53,702  46,586  44,849 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets,  
  impairment charges and other expense (income), net  10,895  24,118  45,952

Total costs and other deductions  3,805,350  3,401,939  2,628,416

Income from continuing operations before income taxes  1,135,331  1,427,902  857,155

Income tax expense: 
 Current  227,951  213,866  21,324 
 Deferred  11,713  221,027  197,676

  Total income tax expense  239,664  434,893  219,000

Income from continuing operations, net of tax  895,667  993,009  638,155 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  35,024  27,727  10,540

Net income $ 930,691 $ 1,020,736 $ 648,695

Earnings per share: 
 Basic from continuing operations $ 3.21 $ 3.42 $ 2.05
 Basic from discontinued operations  .13  .10  .03

Total Basic $ 3.34 $ 3.52 $ 2.08

 Diluted from continuing operations $ 3.13 $ 3.31 $ 1.97 
 Diluted from discontinued operations  .12  .09  .03

Total Diluted $ 3.25 $ 3.40 $ 2.00

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding:
 Basic  279,026  290,241  312,134
 Diluted  286,606  299,827  324,378

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF C A SH FLOWS

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income $ 930,691 $ 1,020,736 $ 648,695 
Adjustments to net income: 
 Depreciation and amortization  472,077  371,127  291,638 
 Depletion  72,182  38,580  46,894 
 Deferred income tax (benefit) expense  (24,725)  218,323  194,738 
 Deferred financing costs amortization  8,352  6,241  4,880 
 Pension liability amortization and adjustments  277  484  401 
 Discount amortization on long-term debt  1,958  3,798  20,729 
 Amortization of loss on hedges  551  554  218 
 Losses on long-lived assets, net  4,318  22,648  19,465 
 Losses (gains) on investments, net  61,395  (46,260)  (40,197) 
 Gain on disposition of Sea Mar business  (49,500)  –  – 
 Losses (gains) on derivative instruments  1,347  (1,363)  (1,076) 
 Share-based compensation  30,176  79,888  4,819 
 Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses, net  (3,223)  354  465 
 Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of dividends  (5,136)  (18,111)  (2,600) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:       
 Accounts receivable  93,490  (279,686)  (271,969) 
 Inventory  (28,668)  (48,631)  (21,704) 
 Other current assets  (47,959)  (31,536)  (6,808) 
 Other long-term assets  (117,237)  (106,357)  811 
 Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities  4,501  145,046  121,850 
 Income taxes payable  (80,692)  71,767  8,262 
 Other long-term liabilities  46,023  38,656  9,989

Net cash provided by operating activities  1,370,198  1,486,258  1,029,500

Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of investments  (378,318)  (1,135,525)  (745,743) 
 Sales and maturities of investments  860,385  1,325,903  749,562 
 Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses, net  (8,391)  (82,407)  (46,201) 
 Deposits released (held) on acquisitions  –  35,844  (36,005) 
 Investment in unconsolidated affiliates  (278,100)  (2,433)  – 
 Capital expenditures  (2,014,469)  (1,927,407)  (907,316) 
 Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims  162,055  17,556  27,463 
 Proceeds from sale of Sea Mar business  194,332  –  –

Net cash used for investing activities  (1,462,506)  (1,768,469)  (958,240)

Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Proceeds from sale of warrants  –  421,162  – 
 Purchase of exchangeable note hedge  –  (583,550)  – 
 (Decrease) increase in cash overdrafts  (38,416)  2,154  10,805 
 Proceeds from long-term debt  –  2,750,000  – 
 Reduction in long-term debt  –  (769,789)  (424) 
 Debt issuance costs  –  (28,683)  – 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  61,620  25,682  194,464 
 Repurchase of common shares  (102,451)  (1,402,840)  (99,483) 
 Purchase of restricted stock  (1,811)  –  – 
 Tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options  2,159  4,139  – 
 Termination payment for interest rate swap  –  –  (2,736)

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities  (78,899)  418,275  102,626

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  1,964  (516)  6,406

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (169,243)  135,548  180,292 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  700,549  565,001  384,709

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 531,306 $ 700,549 $ 565,001

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CH A NGE S IN SH A R EHOLDER S’  EQU IT Y

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

 Common Shares  Unrealized 
   Capital in  Gains (Losses)  Cumulative   Total
  Par Excess of Unearned on Marketable Translation  Retained  Shareholders’
 Shares Value Par Value Compensation Securities Adjustment Other Earnings Equity

(In thousands)

Balances, December 31, 2004 299,722 $ 300 $ 1,358,224 $ – $ 271 $ 151,520 $ (3,562) $ 1,422,640 $ 2,929,393

Comprehensive income (loss):  
 Net income               648,695  648,695 
 Translation adjustment           26,589      26,589 
 Unrealized gains on 
  marketable securities, 
  net of income taxes of $812         34,987        34,987 
  Less: reclassification 
   adjustment for gains 
   included in net income, 
   net of income taxes of $131         (16,393)        (16,393) 
 Pension liability amortization, 
  net of income taxes of $148             253    253 
 Minimum pension liability 
  adjustment, net of income 
  taxes of $615             (836)    (836) 
 Amortization of loss on 
  cash flow hedges             151    151

  Total comprehensive 
   income (loss) –  –  –  –  18,594  26,589  (432)  648,695  693,446

Issuance of common shares 
 for stock options exercised 18,396  17  194,447            194,464 
Nabors Exchangeco 
 shares exchanged 220                – 
Repurchase of common shares (3,578)  (2)  (17,672)          (81,809)  (99,483) 
Tax effect of stock option deductions     35,501            35,501 
Restricted stock awards, net 633    20,468  (20,468)          – 
Amortization of 
 unearned compensation       4,819          4,819

Subtotal 15,671  15  232,744  (15,649)  –  –  –  (81,809)  135,301

Balances, December 31, 2005 315,393 $ 315 $ 1,590,968 $ (15,649) $ 18,865 $ 178,109 $ (3,994) $ 1,989,526 $ 3,758,140

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CH A NGE S IN SH A R EHOLDER S’  EQU IT Y

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

 Common Shares  Unrealized 
  Capital in Gains (Losses)  Cumulative   Total
  Par Excess of Unearned on Marketable Translation Retained  Treasury Shareholders’
 Shares Value Par Value Compensation Securities Adjustment Other Earnings Shares Equity

(In thousands)

Balances, December 31, 2005   315,393 $315 $ 1,590,968 $ (15,649) $ 18,865 $ 178,109 $ (3,994) $ 1,989,526 $ – $ 3,758,140

Comprehensive income (loss): 
 Net income                 1,020,736    1,020,736 
 Translation adjustment             (6,949)        (6,949) 
 Unrealized gains on 
  marketable securities, 
  net of income taxes of $623          17,620          17,620 
  Less: reclassification adjust- 
   ment for gains included in 
   net income, net of income 
   tax benefit of $12           (3,085)          (3,085) 
 Pension liability amortization, 
  net of income taxes of $179              305      305 
 Minimum pension liability 
  adjustment, net of 
  income taxes of $140               239      239 
 Amortization of loss on 
  cash flow hedges               151      151

  Total comprehensive 
   income (loss)    – –  –  –  14,535  (6,949)  695  1,020,736  –  1,029,017

Adoption of SFAS 123-R       (15,649)  15,649            – 
Issuance of common shares 
 for stock options exercised    1,226 1  25,681              25,682 
Nabors Exchangeco 
 shares exchanged    45                 – 
Purchase of call options       (583,550)              (583,550) 
Sale of warrants       421,162              421,162 
Tax benefit from the 
 purchase of call options       215,914              215,914 
Repurchase and retirement 
 of common shares    (17,935) (18)  (90,449)          (536,889)    (627,356) 
Repurchase of 22,340 
 treasury shares                   (775,484)  (775,484) 
Tax effect of exercised 
 stock option deductions       (6,761)              (6,761) 
Restricted stock awards, net    604 1                1 
Share-based compensation       79,888              79,888

Subtotal    (16,060) (16)  46,236  15,649  –  –  –  (536,889)  (775,484)  (1,250,504)

Balances, December 31, 2006   299,333 $299 $ 1,637,204 $ – $ 33,400 $ 171,160 $ (3,299) $ 2,473,373 $ (775,484) $ 3,536,653

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CH A NGE S IN SH A R EHOLDER S’  EQU IT Y

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

 Common Shares  Unrealized 
    Capital in Gains (Losses)  Cumulative    Total
   Par Excess of on Marketable Translation  Retained  Treasury Shareholders’
  Shares Value Par Value Securities Adjustment Other Earnings Shares Equity

(In thousands)

Balances, December 31, 2006    299,333 $299 $ 1,637,204 $ 33,400 $ 171,160 $ (3,299) $ 2,473,373 $ (775,484) $ 3,536,653

Comprehensive income (loss): 
 Net income               930,691    930,691 
 Translation adjustment           153,487        153,487 
 Unrealized gains on 
  marketable securities, 
  net of income taxes of $704         14,164          14,164 
  Less: reclassification adjust- 
   ment for gains included in 
   net income, net of income 
   taxes of $2,664         (47,283)          (47,283) 
 Pension liability amortization, 
  net of income taxes of $101             176      176 
 Pension liability adjustment, 
  net of income taxes of $319             679      679 
 Amortization of loss on 
  cash flow hedges             151      151

  Total comprehensive 
   income (loss)    – –  –  (33,119)  153,487  1,006  930,691  –  1,052,065

Cumulative effect of adoption 
 of FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007             (44,984)    (44,984) 
Issuance of common shares 
 for stock options exercised, 
 net of surrender of unexercised 
 stock options    4,521 5  61,615            61,620 
Nabors Exchangeco 
 shares exchanged    51               – 
Repurchase of 3,782  
 treasury shares                 (102,451)  (102,451) 
Tax effect of exercised 
 stock option deductions       (17,147)            (17,147) 
Restricted stock awards, net    1,553 1  (1,812)            (1,811) 
Share-based compensation,  
 net of tender offer for stock options     30,176            30,176

  Subtotal    6,125 6  72,832  –  –  –  (44,984)  (102,451)  (74,597)

Balances, December 31, 2007    305,458 $305 $ 1,710,036 $ 281 $ 324,647 $ (2,293) $ 3,359,080 $ (877,935) $ 4,514,121

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE S TO CONSOLIDATED FINA NCI A L STATEMENTS

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

1 Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

Nabors is the largest land drilling contractor in the world, 
with approximately 535 actively marketed land drilling rigs. We 
conduct oil, gas and geothermal land drilling operations in the 
U.S. Lower 48 states, Alaska, Canada, South America, Mexico, 
the Caribbean, the Middle East, the Far East, Russia and Africa. 
We are also one of the largest land well-servicing and workover 
contractors in the United States and Canada. We actively market 
approximately 564 land workover and well-servicing rigs in the 
United States, primarily in the southwestern and western United 
States, and approximately 173 land workover and well-servicing 
rigs in Canada. Nabors is a leading provider of offshore platform 
workover and drilling rigs, and actively markets 35 platform, 
12 jack-up units and 4 barge rigs in the United States and multi-
ple international markets. These rigs provide well-servicing, work-
over and drilling services. We have a 51% ownership interest in 
a joint venture in Saudi Arabia, which actively markets 9 rigs. 
We also offer a wide range of ancillary well-site services, including 
engineering, transportation, construction, maintenance, well log-
ging, directional drilling, rig instrumentation, data collection and 
other support services in selected domestic and international mar-
kets. We provide logistics services for onshore drilling in Canada 
using helicopters and fixed-winged aircraft. We manufacture and 
lease or sell top drives for a broad range of drilling applications, 
directional drilling systems, rig instrumentation and data collec-
tion equipment, pipeline handling equipment and rig reporting 
software. We also invest in oil and gas exploration, development 
and production activities and have 49% ownership interests in 
joint ventures in the U.S., Canada and International areas.

The majority of our business is conducted through our vari-
ous Contract Drilling operating segments, which include our 
drilling, workover and well-servicing operations, on land and  
offshore. Our oil and gas exploration, development and produc-
tion operations are included in a category labeled Oil and Gas 
for segment reporting purposes. Our operating segments engaged 
in drilling technology and top drive manufacturing, directional 
drilling, rig instrumentation and software, and construction and 
logistics operations are aggregated in a category labeled Other 
Operating Segments for segment reporting purposes.

During the third quarter of 2007, we sold our Sea Mar busi-
ness to an unrelated third party. Accordingly, the accompanying 
consol idated statements of income, and certain accompanying 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, have been updated 
to retroactively reclassify the operating results of this Sea Mar 
business, previously included in Other Operating Segments, as 
a discontinued operation for all periods presented. See Note 18 
under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
for additional discussion.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and 
related footnotes are presented in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“GAAP”). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior  
periods to conform to the current period presentation, with no 
effect on our consolidated financial position, results of opera-
tions or cash flows.

On December 15, 2005, our Board of Directors approved a 
two-for-one stock split of our common shares to be effectuated in 
the form of a stock dividend. The stock dividend was distributed 
on April 17, 2006 to shareholders of record on March 31, 2006. 
All common share, per share, stock option and restricted stock 
amounts included in the accompanying Consolidated Financial 
Statements and related notes have been restated to reflect the 
effect of the stock split.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation
Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts 

of Nabors, all majority-owned subsidiaries, and all non-majority 
owned subsidiaries required to be consolidated under Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46(R), 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of 
ARB No. 51” (“FIN 46R”), which are not material to our financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows. All significant inter-
company accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Investments in operating entities where we have the ability 
to exert significant influence, but where we do not control their 
operating and financial policies, are accounted for using the 
equity method. Our share of the net income of these entities is 
recorded as Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates in our consol-
idated statements of income, and our investment in these entities 
is included in other long-term assets as a single amount in our 
consolidated balance sheets. Investments in net assets of uncon-
solidated affiliates accounted for using the equity method totaled 
$383.4 million and $98.0 million as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively. Similarly, investments in certain offshore 
funds classified as non-marketable are accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting based on our ownership interest 
in each fund. Our share of the gains and losses of these funds 
is recorded in investment income in our consolidated statements 
of income, and our investments in these funds are included in 
long-term investments in our consolidated balance sheets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and  

various other short-term investments with original maturities 
of three months or less.
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Investments

Short-term investments
Short-term investments consist of equity securities, certificates 

of deposit, corporate debt securities, U.S. Government debt secu-
rities, Government agencies debt securities, foreign government 
debt securities, mortgage-backed debt securities and asset-backed 
debt securities. Securities classified as available-for-sale or trading 
are stated at fair value. Unrealized holding gains and temporary 
losses for available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings 
and, until realized, are reported net of taxes in a separate com-
ponent of shareholders’ equity. Other than temporary losses are 
included in earnings. Unrealized and realized gains and losses on 
securities classified as trading are reported in earnings currently.

In computing realized gains and losses on the sale of equity 
securities, the specific identification method is used. In accordance 
with this method, the cost of the equity securities sold is determined 
using the specific cost of the security when originally purchased.

Long-term investments
We are also invested in overseas funds investing primarily in 

a variety of public and private U.S. and non-U.S. securities (includ-
ing asset-backed securities and mortgage-backed securities, global 
structured asset securitizations, whole loan mortgages, and partic-
ipations in whole loans and whole loan mortgages). These invest-
ments are classified as non-marketable, because they do not have 
published fair values. We account for these funds under the equity 
method of accounting based on our percentage ownership interest 
and recognize gains or losses, as investment income, on a quarterly 
basis based on changes in the net asset value of our investment.

Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is  

determined using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method and 
includes the cost of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including renewals and better-

ments, are stated at cost, while maintenance and repairs are expensed 
currently. Interest costs applicable to the construction of qualify-
ing assets are capitalized as a component of the cost of such assets. 
We provide for the depreciation of our drilling and workover 
rigs using the units-of-production method over an approximate 
4,900-day period, with the exception of our jack-up rigs which 
are depreciated over an 8,030-day period, after provision for sal-
vage value. When our drilling and workover rigs are not operating, 
a depreciation charge is provided using the straight-line method 
over an assumed depreciable life of 20 years, with the exception 
of our jack-up rigs, where a 30-year depreciable life is used.

Depreciation on our buildings, well-servicing rigs, oilfield 
hauling and mobile equipment, marine transportation and  
supply vessels, aircraft equipment, and other machinery and 
equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful life of the asset after provision for salvage value 
(buildings – 10 to 30 years; well-servicing rigs – 3 to 15 years; 
marine transportation and supply vessels – 10 to 25 years;  
aircraft equipment – 5 to 20 years; oilfield hauling and mobile 
equipment and other machinery and equipment – 3 to 10 years). 

Amortization of capitalized leases is included in depreciation and 
amortization expense. Upon retirement or other disposal of fixed 
assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed 
from the respective accounts and any gains or losses are included 
in our results of operations.

We review our assets for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the net book value of property, 
plant and equipment may not be recovered over its remaining  
service life. Provisions for asset impairment are charged to income 
when the sum of estimated future cash flows, on an undiscounted 
basis, is less than the asset’s net book value. Impairment charges 
are recorded using discounted cash flows which requires the esti-
mation of dayrates and utilization, and such estimates can change 
based on market conditions, technological advances in the indus-
try or changes in regulations governing the industry. We recorded 
impairment charges of approximately $40.0 million and $12.4 mil-
lion in 2007 and 2006, respectively, related to asset retirements. 
See Note 16. There were no impairment charges related to assets 
held for use recorded by Nabors in 2005. Damage incurred to cer-
tain of our rigs during Hurricanes Katrina and Rita in the third 
quarter of 2005 resulted in an involuntary conversion loss of approx-
imately $7.8 million, net of insurance proceeds. Impairment charges 
and the involuntary conversion loss are included in losses (gains) 
on sales of long-lived assets, impairment charges and other expense 
(income), net in the consolidated statements of income.

Oil and Gas Properties
We follow the successful efforts method of accounting for our 

oil and gas activities. Under the successful efforts method, lease 
acquisition costs and all development costs are capitalized. Proved 
oil and gas properties are reviewed when circumstances suggest 
the need for such a review and, if required, the proved properties 
are written down to their estimated fair value. Unproved proper-
ties are reviewed to determine if there has been impairment of 
the carrying value, with any such impairment charged to expense 
in that period. We recorded impairment charges of approximately 
$21.9 million, $9.9 million and $1.6 million during 2007, 2006 
and 2005, respectively, related to our oil and gas properties. Esti-
mated fair value includes the estimated present value of all reason-
ably expected future production, prices, and costs. Exploratory 
drilling costs are capitalized until the results are determined. If 
proved reserves are not discovered, the exploratory drilling costs 
are expensed. Interest costs related to financing major oil and 
gas projects in progress are capitalized until the projects are eval-
uated or until the projects are substantially complete and ready 
for their intended use if the projects are evaluated as successful. 
Other exploratory costs are expensed as incurred. Our provision 
for depletion is based on the capitalized costs as determined above 
and is determined on a property-by-property basis using the units-
of-production method, with costs being amortized over proved 
developed reserves.

During 2007 and 2006, the Company completed sales of  
certain properties and leasehold interests, which resulted in gains 
of approximately $88.0 million and $20.7 million, respectively. 
Gains from the sale of our interests in oil and gas properties are 
included in operating revenues.
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the cost in excess of fair value of the net assets of companies acquired. We review goodwill and intangible assets 

with indefinite lives for impairment annually. The change in the carrying amount of goodwill for our various Contract Drilling segments 
and our Other Operating Segments for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

(In thousands) Balance as of Acquisitions and Sales and Cumulative Translation Balance as of 
 December 31, 2005 Purchase Price Adjustments Disposals Adjustment December 31, 2006

Contract Drilling: 
U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 30,154 $ – $ – $ – $ 30,154 
U.S. Land Well-servicing  50,786  53  –  –  50,839 
U.S. Offshore  18,003  –  –  –  18,003 
Alaska  19,995  –  –  –  19,995 
Canada  154,552  –  –  (395)  154,157 
International  18,983  –  –  –  18,983

Subtotal Contract Drilling  292,473  53  –  (395)  292,131 
Other Operating Segments  49,466  20,815  –  (143)  70,138

Total $ 341,939 $ 20,868 $ – $ (538) $ 362,269

(In thousands) Balance as of Acquisitions and Sales and Cumulative Translation Balance as of 
 December 31, 2006 Purchase Price Adjustments Disposals Adjustment December 31, 2007

Contract Drilling: 
U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 30,154 $ – $ – $ – $ 30,154 
U.S. Land Well-servicing  50,839  –  –  –  50,839 
U.S. Offshore  18,003  –  –  –  18,003 
Alaska  19,995  –  –  –  19,995 
Canada  154,157  –  –  27,110  181,267 
International  18,983  –  –  –  18,983

Subtotal Contract Drilling  292,131  –  –  27,110  319,241 
Other Operating Segments  70,138  8,391  (34,989)(1)  5,651  49,191

Total $ 362,269 $ 8,391 $ (34,989) $ 32,761 $ 368,432

(1)  Represents goodwill associated with our Sea Mar business which was sold in August 2007.

Our Oil and Gas segment does not have any goodwill.  
Goodwill totaling approximately $10.0 million is expected to 
be deductible for tax purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments
We record derivative financial instruments (including certain 

derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) in our consol-
idated balance sheets at fair value as either assets or liabilities. The 
accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument 
depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting 
designation, which is established at the inception of a derivative. 
Accounting for derivatives qualifying as fair value hedges allows a 
derivative’s gains and losses to offset related results on the hedged 
item in the statement of income. For derivative instruments desig-
nated as cash flow hedges, changes in fair value, to the extent the 
hedge is effective, are recognized in other comprehensive income 
until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. Hedge effective-
ness is measured quarterly based on the relative cumulative changes 
in fair value between the derivative contract and the hedged item 
over time. Any change in fair value resulting from ineffectiveness 
is recognized immediately in earnings. Any change in fair value of 
derivative financial instruments that are speculative in nature and 
do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment is also recognized 
immediately in earnings. Proceeds received upon termination of 
derivative financial instruments qualifying as fair value hedges 
are deferred and amortized into income over the remaining life 
of the hedged item using the effective interest rate method.

Litigation and Insurance Reserves
We estimate our reserves related to litigation and insurance 

based on the facts and circumstances specific to the litigation 
and insurance claims and our past experience with similar claims. 
We maintain actuarially-determined accruals in our consolidated 
balance sheets to cover self-insurance retentions. See Note 14 
regarding self insurance accruals. We estimate the range of our 
liability related to pending litigation when we believe the amount 
and range of loss can be estimated. We record our best estimate 
of a loss when the loss is considered probable. When a liability 
is probable and there is a range of estimated loss with no best  
estimate in the range, we record the minimum estimated liabil-
ity related to the lawsuits or claims. As additional information 
becomes available, we assess the potential liability related to 
our pending litigation and claims and revise our estimates.

Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenues and costs on daywork contracts daily 

as the work progresses. For certain contracts, we receive lump-sum 
payments for the mobilization of rigs and other drilling equipment. 
Deferred fees related to mobilization periods are recognized over 
the term of the related drilling contract. Costs incurred to relocate 
rigs and other drilling equipment to areas in which a contract has 
not been secured are expensed as incurred. We defer recognition 
of revenue on amounts received from customers for prepayment 
of services until those services are provided.

We recognize revenue for top drives and instrumentation  
systems we manufacture when the earnings process is complete. 
This generally occurs when products have been shipped, title and 
risk of loss have been transferred, collectibility is probable, and 
pricing is fixed and determinable.
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We recognize, as operating revenue, proceeds from business 
interruption insurance claims in the period that the applicable 
proof of loss documentation is received. Proceeds from casualty 
insurance settlements in excess of the carrying value of damaged 
assets are recognized in losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, 
impairment charges and other expense (income), net in the period 
that the applicable proof of loss documentation is received. Proceeds 
from casualty insurance settlements that are expected to be less than 
the carrying value of damaged assets are recognized at the time 
the loss is incurred and recorded in losses (gains) on sales of long-
lived assets, impairment charges and other expense (income), net.

We recognize reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred as revenues and account for out-of-pocket expenses as 
direct costs.

We recognize revenue on our interests in oil and gas properties 
as production occurs and title passes. We recognize as operating 
revenues gains on sales of our interests in oil and gas properties 
when title passes and our earnings associated with production  
contracts when realized.

Share-Based Compensation
Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for awards granted 

under our stock-based employee compensation plans following 
the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Prin-
ciples Bulletin Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees,” (“APB 25”) and related interpretations. Under APB 25, 
no compensation expense is recognized for stock options when the 
option price is equal to the market price of the underlying stock 
on the date of award. We generally did not recognize compensation 
expense in connection with stock option awards to employees, 
directors and officers under our plans. Under the provisions of 
SFAS 123, the pro forma effects on income for stock options were 
instead disclosed in a footnote to the financial statements. Com-
pensation expense was recorded in the income statement for 
restricted stock awards over the vesting period of the award.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recog-
nition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” 
(“SFAS 123-R”), using the modified prospective application 
method. Under this transition method, the Company records 
compensation expense for all stock option awards granted after 
the date of adoption and for the unvested portion of previously 
granted stock option awards that remain outstanding at the date 
of adoption. The amount of compensation cost recognized is 
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with 
the original provisions of SFAS No. 123. Results for the year 
ended December 31, 2005 have not been restated.

Income Taxes
We are a Bermuda-exempt company and are not subject to 

income taxes in Bermuda. Consequently, income taxes have been 
provided based on the tax laws and rates in effect in the countries 
in which our operations are conducted and income is earned. The 
income taxes in these jurisdictions vary substantially. Our effective 
tax rate for financial statement purposes will continue to fluctuate 
from year to year as our operations are conducted in different  
taxing jurisdictions.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of the 
FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” In connection with the adoption 
of FIN 48, the Company recognized increases to its tax reserves 
for uncertain tax positions and interest and penalties which was 
accounted for as an increase to other long-term liabilities and as 
a reduction to retained earnings at January 1, 2007. Results for 
prior periods have not been restated.

For U.S. and other foreign jurisdiction income tax purposes, 
we have net operating and other loss carryforwards that we are 
required to assess annually for potential valuation allowances. 
We consider the sufficiency of existing temporary differences and 
expected future earnings levels in determining the amount, if any, 
of valuation allowance required against such carryforwards and 
against deferred tax assets.

We do not provide for U.S. or foreign income or withholding 
taxes on unremitted earnings of all U.S. and certain foreign  
entities, as these earnings are considered permanently reinvested. 
Unremitted earnings, representing tax basis accumulated earnings 
and profits, totaled approximately $477.6 million, $397.5 million 
and $303.5 million as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of deferred 
income taxes associated with these unremitted earnings.

In circumstances where our drilling rigs and other assets are 
operating in certain foreign taxing jurisdictions, and it is expected 
that we will redeploy such assets before they give rise to future tax 
consequences, we do not recognize any deferred tax liabilities on 
the earnings from these assets.

Nabors realizes an income tax benefit associated with certain 
stock options issued under its stock plan. Prior to our adoption 
of SFAS 123-R, these benefits were reflected as an increase in cap-
ital in excess of par, and were not reflected in our consolidated 
income statements. Since adoption of SFAS 123-R, we recognize 
the benefits related to tax deductions up to the amount of the 
compensation expense recorded for the award in the consoli-
dated income statement. Any excess tax benefit is reflected as 
an increase in capital in excess of par.

Foreign Currency Translation
For certain of our foreign subsidiaries, such as those in Canada 

and Argentina, the local currency is the functional currency, 
and therefore translation gains or losses associated with foreign- 
denominated monetary accounts are accumulated in a separate 
section of shareholders’ equity. For our other international sub-
sidiaries, the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, and therefore 
local currency transaction gains and losses, arising from remeasure-
ment of payables and receivables denominated in local currency, 
are included in our consolidated statements of income.

Cash Flows
We treat the redemption price, including accrued original 

issue discount, on our convertible debt instruments as a financing 
activity for purposes of reporting cash flows in our consolidated 
statements of cash flows.
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 

GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent 
assets and lia bilities at the balance sheet date and the amounts of 
revenues and expenses recognized during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from such estimates. Areas where criti-
cal accounting estimates are made by management include:

  depreciation and amortization of property, plant  
 and equipment; 

 impairment of long-lived assets; 
 income taxes; 
 litigation and insurance reserves; 
 fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and 
 share-based compensation. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141(R), “Business Combi-
nations.” This statement retains the fundamental requirements 
in SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” that the acquisition 
method of accounting be used for all business combinations and 
expands the same method of accounting to all transactions and 
other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more 
other businesses or assets at the acquisition date and in subsequent 
periods. This statement replaces SFAS No. 141 by requiring mea-
surement at the acquisition date of the fair value of assets acquired, 
liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest. Additionally, 
SFAS No. 141(R) requires that acquisition-related costs, including 
restructuring costs, be recognized as expense separately from the 
acquisition. SFAS No. 141(R) applies prospectively to business 
combinations for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. 
We will adopt SFAS No. 141(R) beginning January 1, 2009 and 
apply to future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncon-
trolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amend-
ment of ARB No. 51.” This statement establishes the accounting 
and reporting standards for a noncontrolling interest in a subsid-
iary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. This statement 
clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an owner-
ship interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported 
as equity in the consolidated financial statements. SFAS No. 160 
requires retroactive adoption of the presentation and disclosure 
requirements for existing minority interests and applies prospec-
tively to business combinations for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008. We will adopt SFAS No. 160 beginning Jan-
uary 1, 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact that this pro-
nouncement may have on our consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value 
Measurements.” This statement establishes a framework for mea-
suring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and 
expands disclosures about fair value measurements for financial 
assets and liabilities, as well as for any other assets and liabilities 
that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis in financial state-
ments. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued 
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years. There is a one-year deferral for 
the implementation of SFAS No. 157 for other nonfinancial assets 

and liabilities. We will adopt SFAS No. 157 beginning January 1, 
2008. We are currently evaluating the impact on our consolidated 
results of operations and financial condition.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair 
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Includ-
ing an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.” This statement 
permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments 
and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required 
to be measured at fair value and establishes presentation and dis-
closure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between 
entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar 
types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective as of the 
beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after Novem-
ber 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of a 
fiscal year that begins on or before November 15, 2007, provided 
the entity also elects to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 157. 
We will adopt SFAS No. 159 beginning January 1, 2008. We are 
currently eval uating the impact on our consolidated results of 
operations and financial condition.

3 Share-Based Compensation

As a result of adopting SFAS 123-R on January 1, 2006, Nabors’ 
income before income taxes and net income for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, were $16.6 million and $12.4 million lower, 
respectively, than if we had continued to account for share-based 
compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted earnings per share 
were $.04 and $.05 lower, respectively, for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2006, as a result of adopting SFAS 123-R.

Compensation expense related to awards of restricted stock was 
recognized before the adoption of SFAS 123-R. Compensation 
expense for restricted stock totaled $26.4 million, $11.8 million 
and $4.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 
and 2005, respectively, and is included in direct costs and general 
and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of 
income. Total stock-based compensation expense, which includes 
both stock options and restricted stock totaled $33.5 million 
and $79.9 million (inclusive of the $51.6 million noncash charge 
related to our 2006 employee stock option review) for the years 
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Share-based 
compensation expense has been allocated to our various operat-
ing segments. See Note 19.

Prior to adoption of SFAS 123-R, Nabors presented all tax 
ben efits of deductions resulting from the exercise of options as 
oper ating cash flows in the Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flows. SFAS 123-R requires the cash flows resulting from tax 
deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized for 
those options (excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing 
cash flows. The actual tax benefit realized from options exer-
cised during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 
was $3.3 million and $5.2 million, respectively.

Under the provisions of SFAS 123-R, the recognition of 
unearned compensation, a contra-equity account representing 
the amount of unrecognized restricted stock compensation expense, 
is no longer required. Therefore, in the first quarter of 2006 the 
unearned compensation amount that was included in our Decem-
ber 31, 2005 consolidated balance sheet in the amount of $15.6 mil-
lion was reduced to zero with a corresponding decrease to capital 
in excess of par value.
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Prior Period Pro Forma Presentation
Under the modified prospective application method, results for prior periods have not been restated to reflect the effects of implement-

ing SFAS 123-R. The following pro forma information, as required by SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – an 
Amendment to FAS 123,” is presented for comparative purposes and illustrates the effect on our net income and earnings per share as if 
we had applied the provisions of SFAS 123-R effective January 1, 2005:

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  2005

Net income, as reported $ 648,695 
Add: Stock-based compensation expense, relating to restricted stock awards, included in reported net income, net of related tax effects  3,635 
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effects  (72,281)

Pro forma net income-basic  580,049

Add: Interest expense on assumed conversion of our zero coupon convertible/exchangeable senior debentures/notes, net of tax  –

Adjusted pro forma net income-diluted $ 580,049

Earnings per share: 
 Basic–as reported $ 2.08

 Basic–pro forma $ 1.86

 Diluted–as reported $ 2.00

 Diluted–pro forma $ 1.79

Stock Option Plans
As of December 31, 2007, we have several stock option plans 

under which options to purchase Nabors common shares may be 
granted to key officers, directors and managerial employees of 
Nabors and its subsidiaries. Options granted under the plans gen-
erally are at prices equal to the fair market value of the shares on 
the date of the grant. Options granted under the plans generally 
are exercisable in varying cumulative periodic installments after 
one year. In the case of certain key executives, options granted 
under the plans are subject to accelerated vesting related to tar-
geted common share prices, or may vest immediately on the grant 
date. Options granted under the plans cannot be exercised more 
than ten years from the date of grant. Options to purchase 14.4 mil-
lion and 9.9 million Nabors common shares remained available 
for grant as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Of 
the common shares available for grant as of December 31, 2007, 
approximately 13.2 million of these shares are also available for 
issuance in the form of restricted shares.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model that uses the 
assumptions for the risk-free interest rate, volatility, dividend yield 
and the expected term of the options. The risk-free interest rate is 
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of 
grant for a period equal to the expected term of the option. Expected 
volatilities are based on implied volatilities from traded options on 
the Nabors’ common shares, historical volatility of Nabors’ com-
mon shares, and other factors. We do not assume any dividend 
yield, as the Company does not pay dividends. We use historical 
data to estimate the expected term of the options and employee 
terminations within the option-pricing model; separate groups of 
employees that have similar historical exercise behavior are consid-
ered separately for valuation purposes. The expected term of the 
options represents the period of time that the options granted 
are expected to be outstanding.

We also consider an estimated forfeiture rate for these option 
awards, and we only recognize compensation cost for those shares 
that are expected to vest, on a straight-line basis over the requisite 
service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of 
three to four years. The forfeiture rate is based on historical expe-
rience. Estimated forfeitures have been adjusted to reflect actual 
forfeitures during 2007.

As a result of our internal stock option review concluded in 
the first quarter of 2007, we determined that the exercise price for 
certain of our employee stock options was less than the fair market 
value of one of our common shares on the date the options were 
granted. On November 29, 2007, we made an offer to eligible 
employees to amend certain outstanding options granted under 
the Nabors Industries, Inc. 1996 Employee Stock Plan and the 
Nabors Industries, Inc. 1998 Employee Stock Plan to increase 
the exercise price per share to the fair market value of a common 
share of Nabors on each option’s measurement date for financial 
accounting purposes and to make to eligible employees a cash 
payment equal to the difference between the new exercise price 
per share of the amended option and the original exercise price 
per share, multiplied by the number of unexercised eligible options. 
As a result of the tender offer, we cancelled options with a fair 
value of $24.3 million, replaced with a new award of options with 
a fair value of $22.2 million and paid $3.3 million in cash. This 
resulted in $1.2 million of additional compensation expense. See 
Note 14 regarding our internal stock option review in the accom-
panying consolidated financial statements.

Other than those discussed above, there were no stock options 
granted, and as a result, no fair value determinations were made 
during the year ended December 31, 2007 or 2006. For stock 
options granted during the year ended December 31, 2005, the 
following weighted-average assumptions were utilized: risk-free 
interest rates of 4.13%; volatility of 29.50%; dividend yield of 
0.0%; and expected life of 3.4 years. Stock option transactions 
under the Company’s various stock-based employee compensation 
plans are presented on next page:
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  Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate 
Options Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Intrinsic Value 
(In thousands, except exercise price)

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 37,172 $ 21.89 
 Granted –  – 
 Exercised (4,521)  20.20 
 Surrendered (4,143)  23.25 
 Forfeited (154)  25.66

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2007 28,354 $ 22.06 5.13 years $ 191,647

Options exercisable as of December 31, 2007 27,752 $ 22.03 5.10 years $ 189,322

Of the options outstanding, 27.8 million, 34.3 million and 
31.5 million were exercisable at weighted-average exercise prices 
of $22.03, $21.85 and $22.03, as of December 31, 2007, 2006 
and 2005, respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value 
of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2005 
was $9.21. There were no options granted during the years ended 
December 31, 2007 or 2006.

A summary of our nonvested stock options as of December 31, 
2007, and the changes during the year then ended is presented below:

  Weighted- 
  Average 
  Grant-Date 
Nonvested Stock Options Outstanding Fair Value
(In thousands, except fair values)

Nonvested as of December 31, 2006 2,870 $ 6.95 
 Granted –  – 
 Vested (1,867)  6.40 
 Forfeited (401)  7.01

Nonvested as of December 31, 2007 602 $ 7.19

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $76.2 million, 
$17.8 million and $336.1 million, respectively. The total fair value 
of options that vested during the years ended December 31, 2007, 
2006 and 2005 was $11.9 million, $30.1 million and $102.9 mil-
lion, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $.7 million of total future 
compensation cost related to nonvested options. That cost is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of less 
than one year. We expect substantially all of the nonvested options 
to vest.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units
Our stock compensation plans allow grants of restricted stock. 

Restricted stock is issued on the grant date, but is restricted as to 
transferability. Restricted stock vests in varying periodic install-
ments ranging from 3 to 4 years.

A summary of our restricted stock as of December 31, 2007, 
and the changes during the year ended is presented below:

  Weighted- 
  Average 
  Grant-Date 
Restricted Stock Outstanding Fair Value
(In thousands, except fair values)

Nonvested as of December 31, 2006 1,274 $ 31.14 
 Granted 1,745  30.18 
 Vested (436)  30.60 
 Forfeited (83)  30.33

Nonvested as of December 31, 2007 2,500 $ 30.47

The fair value of restricted stock that vested during the year 
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $13.2 million and $4.8 mil-
lion, respectively. There was not any restricted stock that vested 
during the year ended December 31, 2005.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $49.5 million of total 
future compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock 
awards. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted- 
average period of 1.1 years. We expect substantially all of the  
nonvested restricted stock awards to vest.

During February 2008, the Company awarded 921,100 and 
390,777 shares of restricted stock to its Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer; and its Deputy Chairman, President and Chief 
Operating Officer, respectively. These awards had an aggregate 
value at the date of grant of $40.5 million and vest over a period 
of three years. See Note 14 regarding employment contracts.

4 Acquisitions

On January 3, 2006, we completed an acquisition of 1183011 
Alberta Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Airborne Energy  
Solutions Ltd., through the purchase of all common shares out-
standing for cash for a total purchase price of Cdn. $41.7 mil-
lion (U.S. $35.8 million). In addition, we assumed debt, net of 
working capital, totaling approximately Cdn. $10.0 million 
(U.S. $8.6 million). Nabors Blue Sky Ltd. (formerly 1183011 
Alberta Ltd.) owns 42 helicopters and fixed-wing aircraft and 
owns and operates a fleet of heliportable well-service equipment. 
The purchase price has been allocated based on final valuations 
of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of 
the acquisition date and resulted in goodwill of approximately 
U.S. $18.8 million.

On May 31, 2006, we completed an acquisition of Pragma 
Drilling Equipment Ltd.’s business, which manufactures catwalks, 
iron roughnecks and other related oilfield equipment, through an 
asset purchase consisting primarily of intellectual property for a 
total purchase price of Cdn. $46.1 million (U.S. $41.5 million). 
The purchase price has been allocated based on final valuations of 
the fair market value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as 
of the acquisition date and resulted in goodwill of approximately 
U.S. $10.5 million.
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5 Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

Certain information related to our cash and cash equivalents and investments in marketable securities follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006

  Gross Unrealized  Gross Unrealized  Gross Unrealized  Gross Unrealized 
 Fair Value Holding Gains Holding Losses Fair Value Holding Gains Holding Losses

Cash and cash equivalents $ 531,306 $ – $ – $ 700,549 $ – $ –

Available-for-sale marketable equity securities  –  –  –  117,220  38,197  (1,740)

Marketable debt securities: 
 Commercial paper and CDs  –  –  –  16,778  –  (6) 
 Corporate debt securities  95,456  –  (22)  131,079  154  – 
 U.S. Government debt securities  20,048  257  –  –  –  – 
 Government agencies debt securities  39,634  245  –  61,318  106  – 
 Mortgage-backed debt securities  6,788  27  –  1,373  5  – 
 Mortgage-CMO debt securities  23,784  22  –  49,629  19  – 
 Asset-backed debt securities  50,035  –  (29)  62,070  –  (9)

Total marketable debt securities $ 235,745 $ 551 $ (51) $ 322,247 $ 284 $ (15)

Our cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term 
investments consist of the following:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006

Cash and cash equivalents $ 531,306 $ 700,549 
Short-term investments:  
 Available-for-sale marketable equity securities  –  117,220 
 Marketable debt securities  235,745  322,247

Total short-term investments  235,745  439,467 
Long-term investments  236,253  513,269

Total cash and cash equivalents  
 and investments $ 1,003,304 $ 1,653,285

The estimated fair values of our corporate, U.S. Government, 
Government agencies, mortgage-backed, mortgage-CMO and 
asset-backed debt securities at December 31, 2007, by contractual 
maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from 
contractual maturities because the issuers of the securities may 
have the right to repay obligations without prepayment penalties 
and we may elect to sell the securities prior to the maturity date.

 Estimated 
 Fair Value

(In thousands) 2007

Marketable debt securities: 
 Due in one year or less $ 162,952 
 Due after one year through five years  72,793

Total marketable securities $ 235,745

Certain information regarding our marketable debt and equity 
securities is presented below:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Available-for-sale: 
 Proceeds from sales  
  and maturities $ 531,230 $ 1,324,882 $ 688,275 
Realized gains,  
 net of realized losses  49,947  3,073  16,524

6 Property, Plant and Equipment

The major components of our property, plant and equipment 
are as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006

Land $ 26,732 $ 26,859 
Buildings  84,000  74,048 
Drilling, workover and well-servicing rigs,  
 and related equipment  7,585,414  5,749,260 
Marine transportation and supply vessels  13,663  156,593 
Oilfield hauling and mobile equipment  417,308  383,387 
Other machinery and equipment  92,792  73,301 
Oil and gas properties  501,549  344,423 
Construction in process(1)  477,343  625,719

    9,198,801  7,433,590 
Less: accumulated depreciation  
 and amortization  (2,275,081)  (1,868,075) 
 accumulated depletion on  
 oil and gas properties  (234,594)  (155,414)

   $ 6,689,126 $ 5,410,101

(1)  Relates to amounts capitalized for new or substantially new drilling, workover and well- 
servicing rigs that were under construction and had not yet been placed in service as of 
December 31, 2007 or 2006.

Repair and maintenance expense included in direct costs in 
our consolidated statements of income totaled $438.0 million, 
$410.6 million and $327.5 million for the years ended Decem- 
ber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Interest costs of $9.9 million, $9.5 million and $4.2 million 
were capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 
and 2005, respectively.

7 Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

Our principal operations accounted for using the equity 
method include a construction and logistics operation (50% own-
ership) in Alaska, drilling and workover operations located in 
Saudi Arabia (51% ownership) and oil and gas exploration,  
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development and production joint ventures in the U.S., Canada 
and internationally (49% ownership). These unconsolidated affili-
ates are integral to our operations in those locations. See Note 13 
for a discussion of transactions with these related parties.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, our investments in net 
assets of unconsolidated affiliates accounted for using the equity 
method totaled $383.4 million and $98.0 million, respectively, 
and are included in other long-term assets in our consolidated  
balance sheets. Combined condensed financial data for invest-
ments in unconsolidated affiliates is summarized as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006

Current assets $ 260,766 $ 154,136 
Long-term assets  801,333  182,310 
Current liabilities  161,761  91,815 
Long-term liabilities  128,073  49,340

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Gross revenues $ 589,923 $ 486,347 $ 346,127 
Gross margin  94,952  85,700  46,722 
Net income  35,332  45,123  16,119 
Nabors’ earnings from  
 unconsolidated affiliates  17,724  20,545  5,671

Cumulative undistributed earnings of our unconsolidated  
affiliates included in our retained earnings as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006 totaled approximately $69.9 million and $64.7 million, 
respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, our other long-term assets include 
a $21.4 million investment in unconsolidated affiliates accounted 
for using the cost method of accounting for our 18% ownership 
interest in a manufacturer of drilling rigs and equipment. There 
were no investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for by 
the cost method of accounting in 2006. The cost recorded was 
determined based on our estimate of the fair value of the shares 
that we received of the privately-held company. See Note 14 for 
further discussion.

8 Financial Instruments and Risk Concentration

We may be exposed to certain market risks arising from the 
use of financial instruments in the ordinary course of business. 
This risk arises primarily as a result of potential changes in the 
fair market value of financial instruments that would result from 
adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, credit risk, 
interest rates, and marketable and non-marketable security prices 
as discussed below.

Foreign Currency Risk
We operate in a number of international areas and are involved 

in transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars, 
which exposes us to foreign exchange rate risk. The most signifi-
cant exposures arise in connection with our operations in Canada, 
which usually are substantially unhedged.

At various times, we utilize local currency borrowings (foreign 
currency-denominated debt), the payment structure of customer 
contracts and foreign exchange contracts to selectively hedge our 
exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in connection with mone-
tary assets, liabilities, cash flows and commitments denominated 
in certain foreign currencies. A foreign exchange contract is a for-
eign currency transaction, defined as an agreement to exchange 
different currencies at a given future date and at a specified rate.

Credit Risk
Our financial instruments that potentially subject us to con-

centrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, 
investments in marketable and non-marketable securities, accounts 
receivable and our range cap and floor derivative instrument. 
Cash equivalents such as deposits and temporary cash investments 
are held by major banks or investment firms. Our investments 
in marketable and non-marketable securities are managed within 
established guidelines which limit the amounts that may be 
invested with any one issuer and which provide guidance as to 
issuer credit quality. Certain of our non-marketable securities are 
invested in a fund that invests in securities which have been sig-
nificantly impacted by the current credit market and comprise 
approximately $26.2 million of our $236.3 million long-term 
investments in our cash and investment portfolio as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007. We believe that the credit risk in our cash and 
investment portfolio is minimized as a result of the mix of our 
investments. In addition, our trade receivables are with a variety 
of U.S., international and foreign-country national oil and gas 
companies. Management considers this credit risk to be limited 
due to the financial resources of these companies. We perform 
ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and we generally 
do not require material collateral. However, we do occasionally 
require prepayment of amounts from customers whose credit-
worthiness is in question prior to provision of services to those 
customers. We maintain reserves for potential credit losses, and 
such losses have been within management’s expectations.

Interest Rate and Marketable and  
Non-marketable Security Price Risk

Our financial instruments that are potentially sensitive to 
changes in interest rates include our $2.75 billion 0.94% senior 
exchangeable notes, our $82.8 million zero coupon convertible 
senior debentures, our $700 million zero coupon senior exchange-
able notes, our 4.875% and 5.375% senior notes, our range cap 
and floor derivative instrument, our investments in debt securities 
(including corporate, asset-backed, U.S. Government, Government 
agencies, foreign government, mortgage-backed debt and mortgage-
CMO debt securities) and our investments in overseas funds invest-
ing primarily in a variety of public and private U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities (including asset-backed securities and mortgage-backed 
securities, global structured asset securitizations, whole loan mort-
gages, and participations in whole loans and whole loan mortgages), 
which are classified as non-marketable securities.
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We may utilize derivative financial instruments that are 
intended to manage our exposure to interest rate risks. The use 
of derivative financial instruments could expose us to further 
credit risk and market risk. Credit risk in this context is the fail-
ure of a counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative 
contract. When the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, 
the counterparty would owe us, which can create credit risk for 
us. When the fair value of a derivative contract is negative, we 
would owe the counterparty, and therefore, we would not be 
exposed to credit risk. We attempt to minimize credit risk in 
derivative instruments by entering into transactions with major 
financial institutions that have a significant asset base. Market risk 
related to derivatives is the adverse effect to the value of a finan-
cial instrument that results from changes in interest rates. We try 
to manage market risk associated with interest-rate contracts by 
establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the type and 
degree of market risk that we undertake.

Our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes 
include a contingent interest provision, discussed in Note 9 below, 
which qualifies as an embedded derivative. This embedded deriva-
tive is separated from the notes and valued at its fair value at the 
inception of the note indenture. Any subsequent change in fair 
value of this embedded derivative would be recorded in our con-
solidated statements of income. The fair value of the contingent 
interest provision at inception of the note indenture was nominal. 
In addition, there was no significant change in the fair value of 
this embedded derivative through December 31, 2007, resulting 
in no impact in any of our consolidated statements of income for 
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 or 2005.

On October 21, 2002, we entered into an interest rate swap 
transaction with a third-party financial institution to hedge our 
exposure to changes in the fair value of $200 million of our fixed 
rate 5.375% senior notes due 2012, which has been designated as 

a fair value hedge. Additionally, on October 21, 2002, we pur-
chased a LIBOR range cap and sold a LIBOR floor, in the form 
of a cashless collar, with the same third-party financial institution 
with the intention of mitigating and managing our exposure to 
changes in the three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR rate. This trans-
action does not qualify for hedge accounting treatment, and any 
change in the cumulative fair value of this transaction will be 
reflected as a gain or loss in our consolidated statements of income. 
In June 2004, we unwound $100 million of the $200 million 
range cap and floor derivative instrument. During the fourth 
quarter of 2005, we unwound the interest rate swap resulting  
in a loss of $2.7 million, which has been deferred and will be  
recognized as an increase to interest expense over the remaining 
life of our 5.375% senior notes due 2012. During the year ended 
December 31, 2005, we recorded interest savings related to our 
interest rate swap agreement accounted for as a fair value hedge  
of $2.7 million, which served to reduce interest expense.

The fair value of our range cap and floor transaction is recorded 
as a derivative asset, included in other long-term assets, and was 
nominal as of December 31, 2007 and totaled approximately 
$2.3 million as of December 31, 2006. We recorded a net loss of 
approximately $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 
and gains of approximately $1.4 million and $1.1 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, related 
to this derivative instrument; such amounts are included in losses 
(gains) on sales of long-lived assets, impairment charges and other 
expense (income), net in our consolidated statements of income.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value of our fixed rate long-term debt is estimated 

based on quoted market prices or prices quoted from third-party 
financial institutions. The carrying and fair values of our long-
term debt, including the current portion, are as follows:

The fair values of our cash equivalents, trade receivables and 
trade payables approximate their carrying values due to the short-
term nature of these instruments.

We maintain an investment portfolio of short-term and long-
term investments that exposes us to price risk. See Note 5. As of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, our short-term investments were 

carried at fair market value and included $235.7 million and 
$439.5 million, respectively, in securities classified as available- 
for-sale. Certain of our long-term investments are also carried at 
fair value. See Note 2. The fair value of our long-term investments 
totaled $236.3 million and $513.3 million as of December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively. We had no investments classified 
as trading as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006

 Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

$2.75 billion, 0.94% senior exchangeable notes due May 2011 $ 2,750,000 $ 2,595,313 $ 2,750,000 $ 2,628,725 
$700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due June 2023  700,000  696,990  700,000  730,380
5.375% senior notes due August 2012  272,097(1)  279,043(1)  271,470(1)  270,545(1)

4.875% senior notes due August 2009  224,562  225,709  224,296  221,749 
$82.8 million zero coupon convertible senior debentures due February 2021  59,774  56,897  58,308  50,354

   $ 4,006,433 $ 3,853,952 $ 4,004,074 $ 3,901,753

(1)  The amount presented as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 includes $1.9 million and $2.3 million, respectively, related to the unamortized loss on the interest rate swap executed on October 21, 2002 and 
unwound during the fourth quarter of 2005.
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9 Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following: 
 December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006

$2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable notes due May 2011 $ 2,750,000 $ 2,750,000 
$700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due June 2023(1)  700,000  700,000 
5.375% senior notes due August 2012(2)  272,097  271,470 
4.875% senior notes due August 2009  224,562  224,296 
$82.8 million zero coupon convertible senior debentures due February 2021  59,774  58,308

   4,006,433  4,004,074 
Less: current portion  700,000  –

  $ 3,306,433 $ 4,004,074

(1)  Our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 2023 can be put to us on June 15, 2008 and are classified as current liabilities.
(2)  The amount presented for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 includes $1.9 million and $2.3 million, respectively, related to the unamortized loss on the interest rate swap executed on  

October 21, 2002 and unwound during the fourth quarter of 2005. See Note 8.

As of December 31, 2007, the maturities of our long-term debt 
for each of the five years after 2007 and thereafter are as follows:

 Assuming Zero Coupon  
 Convertible Debentures Are

(In thousands) Paid at Paid at  
 Maturity First Put Date

2008 $ – $ 700,000(1)

2009  225,000  225,000
2010  –  –
2011  2,750,000(2)  2,814,557(3)

2012  275,000(4)  275,000(4)

Thereafter  782,765(5)  –

  $ 4,032,765 $ 4,014,557

(1)  Represents our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 2023, which can be 
put to us on June 15, 2008.

(2)  Represents our $2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable notes due 2011. 
(3)  Represents our $2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable notes due 2011 and the remainder of 

our $82.8 million zero coupon convertible senior debentures due 2021, which can be put back 
to us on February 5, 2011.

(4)  Represents our $275 million 5.375% senior notes due 2012. 
(5)  Represents our $82.8 million zero coupon convertible senior debentures due 2021 and 

$700 million of our zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 2023.

$2.75 billion Senior Exchangeable Notes Due May 2011 
On May 23, 2006, Nabors Industries, Inc., (“Nabors Delaware”), 

our wholly-owned subsidiary, completed a private placement of 
$2.5 billion aggregate principal amount of 0.94% senior exchange-
able notes due 2011 that are fully and unconditionally guaranteed 
by us. On June 8, 2006, the initial purchasers exercised their option 
to purchase an additional $250 million of the 0.94% senior 
exchangeable notes due 2011, increasing the aggregate issuance of 
such notes to $2.75 billion. Nabors Delaware sold the notes to the 
initial purchasers in reliance on the exemption from registration 
provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. The notes were 
reoffered by the initial purchasers of the notes to qualified institu-
tional buyers under Rule 144A of the Securities Act. Nabors and 
Nabors Delaware filed a registration statement on Form S-3 pur-
suant to the Securities Act with respect to resale of the notes and 
shares received in exchange for the notes on August 21, 2006. 
The notes bear interest at a rate of 0.94% per year payable semi-
annually on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning 
on November 15, 2006. Debt issuance costs of $28.7 million were 
capitalized in connection with the issuance of the notes in other 
long-term assets in our consolidated balance sheet and are being 
amortized through May 2011.

The notes are exchangeable into cash and, if applicable, Nabors’ 
common shares based on an exchange rate of the equivalent value 
of 21.8221 Nabors’ common shares per $1,000 principal amount of 
notes (which is equal to an initial exchange price of approximately 
$45.83 per share), subject to adjustment during the 30 calendar 
days ending at the close of business on the business day immedi-
ately preceding the maturity date and prior thereto only under 
the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter (and 
only during such calendar quarter), if the closing price of Nabors’ 
common shares for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive 
trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately 
preceding calendar quarter is more than 130% of the applicable 
exchange rate; (2) during the five business day period after any 
ten consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per 
note for each day of that period was less than 95% of the product 
of the closing sale price of Nabors’ common shares and the exchange 
rate of the note; and (3) upon the occurrence of specified corpo-
rate transactions set forth in the indenture.

The notes are unsecured and are effectively junior in right of 
payment to any of Nabors Delaware’s future secured debt. The 
notes will rank equally with any of Nabors Delaware’s other exist-
ing and future unsubordinated debt and will be senior in right of 
payment to any of Nabors Delaware’s future subordinated debt. 
Our guarantee of the note is unsecured and ranks equal in right 
of payments to all of our unsecured and unsubordinated indebt-
edness from time to time outstanding. Holders of the notes, who 
exchange their notes in connection with a change in control, as 
defined in the indenture, may be entitled to a make-whole pre-
mium in the form of an increase in the exchange rate. Addition-
ally, in the event of a change in control, the holders of the notes 
may require Nabors Delaware to purchase all or a portion of their 
notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount 
of notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Upon exchange 
of the notes, a holder will receive for each note exchanged an 
amount in cash equal to the lesser of (i) $1,000 or (ii) the exchange 
value, determined in the manner set forth in the indenture. In 
addition, if the exchange value exceeds $1,000 on the exchange 
date, a holder will also receive a number of Nabors’ common 
shares for the exchange value in excess of $1,000 equal to such 
excess divided by the exchange price.
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In connection with the sale of the notes, Nabors Delaware 
entered into exchangeable note hedge transactions with respect 
to our common shares. The call options are designed to cover, 
subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, the net number of 
our common shares that would be deliverable to exchanging note-
holders in the event of an exchange of the notes. Nabors Delaware 
paid an aggregate amount of approximately $583.6 million of the 
proceeds from the sale of the notes to acquire the call options.

Nabors also entered into separate warrant transactions at the 
time of the sale of the notes whereby we sold warrants which give 
the holders the right to acquire approximately 60.0 million of our 
common shares at a strike price of $54.64 per share. On exercise 
of the warrants, we have the option to deliver cash or our common 
shares equal to the difference between the then market price and 
strike price. All of the warrants will be exercisable and will expire 
on August 15, 2011. We received aggregate proceeds of approximately 
$421.2 million from the sale of the warrants and used $353.4 million 
of the proceeds to purchase 10.0 million of Nabors’ common shares.

The purchased call options and sold warrants are separate con-
tracts entered into by Nabors and Nabors Delaware with two finan-
cial institutions, and are not part of the terms of the notes and will 
not affect the holders’ rights under the notes. The purchased call 
options are expected to offset the potential dilution upon exchange 
of the notes in the event that the market value per share of our 
common shares at the time of exercise is greater than the strike 
price of the purchased call options, which corresponds to the initial 
exchange price of the notes and is simultaneously subject to certain 
customary adjustments. The warrants will effectively increase the 
exchange price of the notes to $54.64 per share of our common 
shares, from the perspective of Nabors, representing a 55% pre-
mium based on the last reported bid price of $35.25 per share on 
May 17, 2006. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force 
Issue No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments 
Indexed To and Potentially Settled In, a Company’s Own Stock” 
and SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments 
with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,” we recorded 
the exchangeable note hedge and warrants in capital in excess of 
par value as of the transaction date, and will not recognize subse-
quent changes in fair value. We also recognized a deferred tax 
asset of $215.9 million in the second quarter of 2006 for the effect 
of the future tax benefits related to the exchangeable note hedge.

4.875% Senior Notes Due August 2009 and  
5.375% Senior Notes Due August 2012 

On August 22, 2002, Nabors Holdings 1, ULC, one of our 
indirect, wholly-owned subsidiaries, issued $225 million aggregate 
principal amount of 4.875% senior notes due 2009 that are fully 
and unconditionally guaranteed by Nabors and Nabors Indus-
tries, Inc. (Nabors Delaware). Concurrently with this offering by 
Nabors Holdings, Nabors Delaware issued $275 million aggregate 
principal amount of 5.375% senior notes due 2012, which are 
fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Nabors. Both issues of 
senior notes were resold by a placement agent to qualified institu-
tional buyers under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended. Interest on each issue of senior notes is payable semi-
annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning 
on February 15, 2003.

Both issues are unsecured and are effectively junior in right 
of payment to any of their respective issuers’ future secured debt. 
The senior notes rank equally in right of payment with any of 
their respective issuers’ future unsubordinated debt and are senior 
in right of payment to any of such issuers’ subordinated debt. The 
guarantees of Nabors Delaware and Nabors with respect to the 
senior notes issued by Nabors Holdings, and the guarantee of 
Nabors with respect to the senior notes issued by Nabors Delaware, 
are similarly unsecured and have a similar ranking to the series of 
senior notes so guaranteed.

Subject to certain qualifications and limitations, the indentures 
governing the senior notes issued by Nabors Holdings and Nabors 
Delaware limit the ability of Nabors and its subsidiaries to incur 
liens and to enter into sale and lease-back transactions. In addition, 
such indentures limit the ability of Nabors, Nabors Delaware and 
Nabors Holdings to enter into mergers, consolidations or transfers 
of all or substantially all of such entity’s assets unless the successor 
company assumes the obligations of such entity under the applica-
ble indenture.

$700 million Zero Coupon Senior  
Exchangeable Notes Due June 2023 

On June 10, 2003, Nabors Delaware, our wholly-owned sub-
sidiary, completed a private placement of $700 million aggregate 
principal amount of zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 
2023 that are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by us. The 
notes were reoffered by the initial purchaser of the notes to qual-
ified institutional buyers under Rule 144A of the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, and outside the United States in accordance 
with Regulation S under the Securities Act. Nabors and Nabors 
Delaware filed a registration statement on Form S-3 pursuant to 
the Securities Act with respect to the notes on August 8, 2003. 
The notes do not bear interest, do not accrete and have a zero 
yield to maturity, unless Nabors Delaware becomes obligated to 
pay contingent interest as defined in the related note indenture.

We used a portion of the net proceeds from the issuance of 
the notes to redeem the remaining outstanding principal amount 
of Nabors Delaware’s $825 million zero coupon convertible senior 
debentures due 2020 on June 20, 2003 and our associated guaran-
tees (see discussion under the caption “Other Debt Transactions”). 
The remainder of the proceeds of the notes were invested in cash 
and marketable securities.

The notes are unsecured and are effectively junior in right of 
payment to any of Nabors Delaware’s future secured debt. The 
notes rank equally with any of Nabors Delaware’s other existing 
and future unsecured and unsubordinated debt and are senior in 
right of payment to any of Nabors Delaware’s subordinated debt. 
The guarantee of Nabors is similarly unsecured and have a similar 
ranking to the notes so guaranteed. We may redeem some or all 
of the notes at any time on or after June 15, 2008, at a redemption 
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus 
contingent interest. Holders of the notes have the right to require 
Nabors Delaware to repurchase the notes at a purchase price equal 
to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus contingent 
interest and additional amounts, if any, on June 15, 2008, June 15, 
2013 and June 15, 2018 or upon a fundamental change as described 
in the related note indenture. Accordingly, as our $700 million 
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zero coupon senior exchangeable notes can be put to us on June 15, 
2008, the outstanding principal amount of these notes of $700 mil-
lion were reclassified from long-term debt to current liabilities in 
our balance sheet as of June 30, 2007. If these notes are not put 
to us on June 15, 2008, the notes will be reclassified back to  
long-term debt in our balance sheet at that time.

Nabors Delaware is obligated to pay contingent interest dur-
ing any six-month period from June 15 to December 14 or from 
December 15 to June 14 commencing on or after June 15, 2008 
for which the average trading price of the notes for each day of 
the applicable five trading day reference period equals or exceeds 
120% of the principal amount of the notes as of the day immed-
iately preceding the first day of the applicable six-month interest 
period. The amount of contingent interest payable per note in 
respect to any six-month period will equal 0.185% of the principal 
amount of a note. The five day trading reference period means the 
five trading days ending on the second trading day immediately 
preceding the relevant six-month interest period.

The notes are exchangeable at the option of the holders into 
the equivalent value of 28.5306 common shares of Nabors per 
$1,000 principal amount of notes (subject to adjustment for certain 
events) if any of the following circumstances occur: (1) if in any 
calendar quarter beginning after the quarter ending September 30, 
2003, the closing sale price per share of Nabors’ common shares 
for at least 20 trading days during the period of 30 consecutive 
trading days ending on the last trading day of the previous calendar 
quarter is greater than or equal to 120%, or with respect to all 
calendar quarters beginning on or after July 1, 2008, 110%, of the 
applicable exchange price per share of the Nabors’ common shares 
on such last trading day (the initial exchange price per share is 
$35.05 and is subject to adjustment for certain events detailed in 
the note indenture; 120% of this initial price per share is $42.06 
and 110% of this initial price per share is $38.56), (2) subject to 
certain exceptions, during the five business day period after any 
ten consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per 
$1,000 principal amount of notes for each day of such ten trading 
day period was less than 95% of the product of the closing sale price 
of Nabors’ common shares and the exchange rate of such note, 
(3) if Nabors Delaware calls the notes for redemption, or (4) upon 
the occurrence of specified corporate transactions described in the 
note indenture. See the discussion related to the method of settle-
ment required upon exchange of these notes. The $700 million 
notes can be put to us on June 15, 2008, June 15, 2013 and 
June 15, 2018, for a purchase price equal to 100% of the princi-
pal amount of the notes plus contingent interest and additional 
amounts, if any.

In October 2004, we executed a supplemental indenture relat-
ing to our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes 
providing that upon an exchange of these notes, we will in all  
circumstances, except when we are in default under the indenture, 
elect to pay holders of these debt instruments, in lieu of common 
shares, cash up to the principal amount of the instruments and, 
at our option, consideration in the form of either cash or our com-
mon shares for any amount above the principal amount of the 

instruments required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the inden-
ture. Additionally, the supplemental indenture provides that if the 
instruments are put to us at various dates commencing June 15, 
2008, we will in all circumstances elect to pay holders of these 
debt instruments cash upon such repurchase. The number of 
common shares that will be issued, if we choose to deliver com-
mon shares for any amount due to the holders of the notes above 
the principal amount of the notes, will be equal to the amount 
due in excess of the principal amount of the notes divided by 
the market price of our common shares. For these purposes, the 
market price means the average of the sale prices of our common 
shares for the five trading day period ending on the third business 
day prior to the applicable purchase date.

In December 2004, we concluded an offer to exchange Series B 
of our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 
2023 for our existing $700 million zero coupon senior exchange-
able notes. This exchange of shares removed the obligation under 
these notes where we would be required to issue shares upon con-
version when we are in default under the indenture related to the 
notes. Series B of our $700 million zero coupon senior exchange-
able notes have substantially similar terms to our existing $700 mil-
lion zero coupon senior exchangeable notes as supplemented, except 
that, in addition to the elimination of the default language dis-
cussed above, the Series B exchanged notes contain additional 
anti-dilution protection for cash dividends and tender or exchange 
offers for our common shares at above-market prices, and provide 
for payment of a make-whole premium in certain circumstances 
upon exchange in connection with certain fundamental changes 
involving Nabors. The exchange resulted in an aggregate princi-
pal amount of $699.9 million of Series B of our $700 million zero 
coupon senior exchangeable notes being issued to those holders of 
the original series of $700 million zero coupon senior exchange-
able notes, leaving $.1 million of the original series of notes  
outstanding as of December 31, 2006.

$82.8 million Zero Coupon Convertible  
Senior Debentures Due February 2021 

On February 6, 2006, we redeemed 93% of our $1.2 billion 
zero coupon senior convertible debentures due 2021 for a total 
redemption price of $769.8 million; an amount equal to the issue 
price of $679.9 million plus accrued original issue discount of 
$89.9 million to the date of repurchase (resulting in a remaining 
outstanding balance for our zero coupon senior convertible deben-
tures of approximately $82.8 million as of December 31, 2006). 
We treat the redemption price, including accrued original dis-
count, on our convertible debt instruments as a financing activity 
for purposes of reporting cash flows in our consolidated statements 
of cash flows.

The original principal amount of these debentures upon  
issuance was $1.381 billion, of which $180.8 million had been 
redeemed prior to 2005. The original issue price of these deben-
tures is $608.41 per $1,000 principal amount at maturity. The 
yield to maturity is 2.5% compounded semi-annually with no 
periodic cash payments of interest. At the holder’s option, the 
remaining debentures may be put to us on February 5, 2011. 
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Additionally, at the holder’s option, the remaining debentures 
may be converted, at any time prior to maturity or their earlier 
redemption, into the equivalent value of 14.149 common shares 
per $1,000 principal amount at maturity. The conversion rate is 
subject to adjustment under formulae set forth in the indenture 
in certain events, including: (1) the issuance of Nabors’ common 
shares as a dividend or distribution of common shares; (2) certain 
subdivisions and combinations of the common shares; (3) the 
issuance to all holders of common shares of certain rights or war-
rants to purchase common shares; (4) the distribution of common 
shares, other than Nabors’ common shares to Nabors’ shareholders, 
or evidences of Nabors’ indebtedness or of assets; and (5) distribu-
tion consisting of cash, excluding any quarterly cash dividend on 
the common shares to the extent that the aggregate cash dividend 
per common share in any quarter does not exceed certain amounts. 
See the discussion below related to the method of settlement 
required upon conversion of these debentures.

In October 2004, we executed a supplemental indenture  
(similar to the supplemental indenture for our $700 million  
zero coupon senior exchangeable notes discussed above) relating 
to our $82.8 million zero coupon convertible senior debentures 
providing that upon a conversion of these convertible debt instru-
ments, we would in all circumstances, except when we are in 
default under the indenture, elect to pay holders of these debt 
instruments, in lieu of common shares, cash up to the principal 
amount of the instruments and, at our option, consideration in 
the form of either cash or our common shares for any amount 
above the principal amount of the instruments required to be  
paid pursuant to the terms of the indenture. Additionally, the 
supplemental indenture provided that if the instruments were  
put to us at various dates commencing February 5, 2006, we  
will in all circumstances elect to pay holders of these debt  
instruments cash upon such repurchase.

Other Debt Transactions
On May 23, 2006, Nabors International Management Ltd. 

(“NIML”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Nabors borrowed 
from affiliates of the initial purchasers of the $2.75 billion senior 
exchangeable notes, $650 million pursuant to a 90-day senior 
unsecured loan. The proceeds of the loan were used to purchase 
18.4 million of Nabors’ common shares, which are held in trea-
sury. The unsecured loan was paid in full on June 30, 2006.

Short-Term Borrowings
We have four letter of credit facilities with various banks as of 

December 31, 2007. We did not have any short-term borrowings 
outstanding at December 31, 2007 or 2006. Availability and  
borrowings under our credit facilities are as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006

Credit available $ 211,165 $ 147,545 
Letters of credit outstanding  (157,877)  (108,580)

Remaining availability $ 53,288 $ 38,965

10 Income Taxes

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of the 
FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” In connection with the adoption of 
FIN 48, we recognized increases of $24 million and $21 million 
to our tax reserves for uncertain tax positions and interest and 
penalties, respectively. These increases were accounted for as an 
increase to other long-term liabilities and as a reduction to retained 
earnings at January 1, 2007. The change in our unrecognized tax 
benefits for year ended December 31, 2007 is as follows:

(In thousands) 

Balance as of January 1, 2007 $ 84,294 
 Additions based on tax positions related to the current year  3,298 
 Additions for tax positions of prior years  9,873 
 Reductions for tax positions of prior years  (41,838) 
 Settlements  –

Balance as of December 31, 2007 $ 55,627

The balance also represents the amount of unrecognized tax 
benefits that, if recognized, would favorably impact the effective 
income tax rate in future periods. As of December 31, 2007, we 
had approximately $28.4 million of interest and penalties related 
to our total gross unrecognized tax benefits. During the year ended 
December 31, 2007, we accrued and recognized estimated interest 
related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties of approximately 
$6.9 million. During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 
2005, we accrued and recognized estimated interest and penalties 
of approximately $1.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively. We 
recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in 
the income tax expense line item in our consolidated statements 
of income.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and numer-
ous foreign jurisdictions. Internationally, income tax returns from 
1995 through 2005 are currently under examination. The Com-
pany anticipates that several of these audits could be finalized 
within 12 months. It is reasonably possible that the amount of 
the unrecognized benefits with respect to certain of our unrecog-
nized tax positions could significantly increase or decrease within 
12 months. However, based on the current status of examinations, 
and the protocol for finalizing audits with the relevant tax author-
ities, which could include formal legal proceedings, it is not possi-
ble to estimate the future impact of the amount of changes, if any, 
to recorded uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2007.
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In 2007, 2006 and 2005, we provided a valuation allowance 
against net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards in various for-
eign tax jurisdictions based on our consideration of existing tem-
porary differences and expected future earnings levels in those 
jurisdictions. The decrease in our effective tax rate from 2006 
to 2007 is a direct result of (1) the reversal of certain tax reserves 
during 2007 in the amount of $25.5 million, (2) a decrease in tax 
expense of $16 million resulting from a reduction in Canadian 
tax rates, and (3) a decrease in the proportion of income generated 

in the U.S. versus the international jurisdictions in which we 
operate. Income generated in the U.S. is generally taxed at a 
higher rate than international jurisdictions. During 2006, a tax 
expense relating to the redemption of common shares held by a 
foreign parent of a U.S.-based Nabors’ subsidiary in the amount 
of $36.2 million increased taxes while a reduction in Canadian 
tax rates decreased tax expense in the amount of $20.5 million.

The significant components of our deferred tax assets and  
liabilities were as follows:

Nabors is not subject to tax in Bermuda. A reconciliation of the differences between taxes on income before income taxes computed at 
the appropriate statutory rate and our reported provision for income taxes follows:

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2007 2006 2005

Income tax provision at statutory rate (Bermuda rate of 0%) $ – $ – $ – 
Taxes on U.S. and foreign earnings (losses) at greater than the Bermuda rate  250,126  387,748  208,781 
Increase in valuation allowance  8,144  4,574  3,058 
Effect of change in tax rate  (17,119)  (21,382)  (12) 
Tax reserves established (released), net and interest  (25,527)  (2,438)  (1,419) 
Stock redemption withholding  –  36,150  – 
State income taxes  24,040  30,241  8,592 
Income tax expense $ 239,664 $ 434,893 $ 219,000

Effective tax rate 21% 30% 26%

 December 31,

(In thousands)  2007 2006

Deferred tax assets: 
 Net operating loss carryforwards $ 42,415 $ 60,221 
 Accrued expenses not currently deductible for tax and other  –  13,479 
Less: Valuation allowance  (29,658)  (22,140)

 Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ 12,757 $ 51,560

Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Exchangeable note hedge $ 143,150 $ 188,666 
 Net operating loss carryforward – non-current  17,737  – 
 Depreciation and depletion for tax in excess of book expense  (708,568)  (652,326) 
 Tax deduction (in excess) less than book expense  5,923  (86,296) 
 Unrealized gain on marketable securities  (224)  (2,186)

  Total deferred tax liabilities  (541,982)  (552,142)

  Net deferred tax liabilities  (529,225)  (500,582) 
  Less: net current asset portion  12,757  38,081

  Net long-term deferred tax liability $ (541,982) $ (538,663)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes was 
comprised of the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Domestic and  
 foreign summary: 
 United States $ 616,588 $ 929,261 $ 411,659 
 Foreign  518,743  498,641  445,496

Income before income taxes  
 from continuing operations $ 1,135,331 $ 1,427,902 $ 857,155

Income taxes have been provided based upon the tax laws 
and rates in the countries in which operations are conducted and 
income is earned. We are a Bermuda-exempt company. Bermuda 
does not impose corporate income taxes. Our U.S. subsidiaries 
are subject to a U.S. federal tax rate of 35%.

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations  
consisted of the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Current: 
 U.S. federal $ 116,456 $ 148,655 $ (2,730) 
 Foreign  97,489  50,313  23,745 
 State  14,006  14,898  309

    227,951  213,866  21,324

Deferred: 
 U.S. federal  42,846  196,465  141,531 
 Foreign  (41,167)  9,219  47,862 
 State  10,034  15,343  8,283

    11,713  221,027  197,676

Income tax expense $ 239,664 $ 434,893 $ 219,000
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For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we have NOL carry-
forwards of approximately $50.8 million that, if not utilized, 
will expire at various times from 2017 to 2018. The NOL carry-
forwards for alternative minimum tax purposes are approximately 
$20.9 million. Additionally, we have foreign NOL carryforwards 
of approximately $97 million that, if not utilized, will expire at 
various times from 2008 to 2027.

The NOL carryforwards by year of expiration: 

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, Total U.S. Federal Foreign

2008 $ 3,906 $ – $ 3,906 
2009  1,233  –  1,233 
2010  740  –  740 
2011  173  –  173 
2012  5,758  –  5,758 
2013  –  –  – 
2014  460  –  460 
2015  5,147  –  5,147 
2016  27,535  –  27,535 
2017  50,997  33,111  17,886 
2018  17,721  17,721  – 
2026  8,360  –  8,360 
2027  25,782  –  25,782

 Subtotal: expiring NOLs  147,812  50,832  96,980 
Non-expiring NOLs  58,365  –  58,365

Total $ 206,177 $ 50,832 $ 155,345

In addition, for state income tax purposes, we have net oper-
ating loss carryforwards of approximately $47 million that, if 
not utilized, will expire at various times from 2008 to 2026.

Under U.S. federal tax law, the amount and availability of loss 
carryforwards (and certain other tax attributes) are subject to a 
variety of interpretations and restrictive tests applicable to Nabors 
and our subsidiaries. The utilization of such carryforwards could 
be limited or effectively lost upon certain changes in ownership. 
Accordingly, although we believe substantial loss carryforwards 
are available to us, no assurance can be given concerning such 
loss carryforwards, or whether or not such loss carryforwards 
will be available in the future.

In October 2004, the U.S. Congress passed and the President 
signed into law the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“the 
Act”). The Act did not impact the corporate reorganization com-
pleted by Nabors effective June 24, 2002, that made us a foreign 
entity. It is possible that future changes to tax laws (including tax 
treaties) could have an impact on our ability to realize the tax  
savings recorded to date as well as future tax savings as a result 
of our corporate reorganization, depending on any responsive 
action taken by Nabors.

11 Common Shares

Common Shares
The authorized share capital of Nabors consists of 800 million 

common shares, par value $.001 per share, and 25 million pre-
ferred shares, par value $.001 per share. Common shares issued 
were 305,457,798 and 299,332,578 at $.001 par value as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

During 2007, we repurchased 3.8 million of our common 
shares from the open market for $102.5 million, all of which 
are held in treasury. During 2006, we repurchased 40.3 million 
of our common shares in the open market for $1.4 billion. We 
retired 17.9 million shares during 2006 and held 22.3 million 
of these shares in treasury.

During 2007, our outstanding shares increased by 729,866 
related to a share settlement of stock options exercised by Nabors’ 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Eugene M. Isenberg. As 
part of the share settlement, Mr. Isenberg surrendered 4,142,812 
unexercised vested stock options to the Company with a value of 
approximately $29.7 million to satisfy the stock options exercise 
price and related income taxes owed.

During 2007 and 2006, the Compensation Committee of 
our Board of Directors granted restricted stock awards to certain 
of our executive officers, other key employees, and independent 
directors. In conjunction with these grants, we awarded 1,744,627 
and 764,024 restricted shares at an average market price of $30.18 
and $32.92 to these individuals for 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
See Note 3 for a summary of our restricted stock as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007.

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, our employees exercised vested 
options to acquire 4.5 million, 1.2 million, and 18.4 million of our 
common shares, respectively, resulting in proceeds of $61.6 mil-
lion, $25.7 million and $194.5 million, respectively, for each year.

In conjunction with our acquisition of Ryan in October 2002 
and our acquisition of Enserco in April 2002, we issued 760,528 
and 7,098,164 exchangeable shares of Nabors Exchangeco  
(Canada) Inc., an indirectly wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary 
of Nabors, respectively, of which 7,737,684 exchangeable shares 
have been exchanged for our common shares, leaving a total 
of 121,008 exchangeable shares outstanding as of December 31, 
2007. The exchangeable shares of Nabors Exchangeco are exchange-
able for Nabors common shares on a one-for-one basis. The 
exchangeable shares are included in capital in excess of par value.
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12 Pension, Postretirement and Postemployment Benefits

Pension Plans
In conjunction with our acquisition of Pool Energy Services 

Co. in November 1999, we acquired the assets and liabilities of 
a defined benefit pension plan, the Pool Company Retirement 
Income Plan. Benefits under the plan are frozen and participants 
were fully vested in their accrued retirement benefit on Decem-
ber 31, 1998.

We adopted SFAS No. 158 as of December 31, 2006. The 
adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated 
results of operations, financial condition or the disclosures herein.

Summarized information on the Pool pension plan is as follows: 

 Pension Benefits

(In thousands) 2007 2006

Change in benefit obligation: 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 17,297 $ 17,016 
Interest cost  1,020  989 
Actuarial gain  (1,208)  (236) 
Benefit payments  (478)  (472)

Benefit obligation at end of year (1) $ 16,631 $ 17,297

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 13,953 $ 11,953 
Actual return on plan assets  810  1,132 
Employer contribution  1,024  1,340 
Benefit payments  (478)  (472)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 15,309 $ 13,953

Funded status: 
Underfunded status at end of year $ (1,322) $ (3,344)

Amounts recognized in consolidated  
 balance sheets: 
Other long-term liabilities $ (1,322) $ (3,344)

Components of net periodic benefit cost  
 (recognized in our consolidated statements  
 of income): 
Interest cost $ 1,020 $ 989 
Expected return on plan assets  (936)  (806) 
Recognized net actuarial loss  193  301

Net periodic benefit cost $ 277 $ 484

Weighted-average assumptions: 
Weighted-average discount rate 6.50% 6.00% 
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 6.50% 6.50%

(1)  As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the accumulated benefit obligation is the same as the 
projected benefit obligation.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the 
net actuarial loss amounts included in accumulated other compre-
hensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ 
equity were approximately $2.6 million, $3.9 million and $4.8 mil-
lion, respectively. There were no other components, such as prior 
service costs or transition obligations relating to pension costs 
recorded within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

The amount included in accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ 
equity that is expected to be recognized as a component of net 
periodic benefit cost during 2008 is approximately $.1 million.

We analyze the historical performance of investments in equity 
and debt securities, together with current market factors such as 
inflation and interest rates to help us make assumptions necessary 
to estimate a long-term rate of return on plan assets. Once this 
estimate is made, we review the portfolio of plan assets and make 
adjustments thereto that we believe are necessary to reflect a diver-
sified blend of investments in equity and debt securities that is 
capable of achieving the estimated long-term rate of return without 
assuming an unreasonable level of investment risk.

The measurement date used to determine pension measure-
ments for the plan is December 31.

Our weighted-average asset allocations as of December 31, 
2007 and 2006, by asset category are as follows:

 Pension Benefits

 2007 2006

Equity securities 55% 55% 
Debt securities 45% 45%

Total 100% 100%

We invest plan assets based on a total return on investment 
approach, pursuant to which the plan assets include a diversified 
blend of investments in equity and debt securities toward a goal 
of maximizing the long-term rate of return without assuming an 
unreasonable level of investment risk. We determine the level of 
risk based on an analysis of plan liabilities, the extent to which 
the value of the plan assets satisfies the plan liabilities and our 
financial condition. Our investment policy includes target allo-
cations approximating 55% investment in equity securities and 
45% investment in debt securities. The equity portion of the plan 
assets represents growth and value stocks of small, medium and 
large companies. We measure and monitor the investment risk of 
the plan assets both on a quarterly basis and annually when we 
assess plan liabilities.

We expect to contribute approximately $1.1 million to the 
Pool pension plan in 2008. This is based on the sum of (1) the 
minimum contribution for the 2007 plan year that will be made 
in 2008 and (2) the estimated minimum required quarterly con-
tributions for the 2008 plan year. We made contributions to the 
Pool pension plan in 2007 and 2006 totaling $1.0 million and 
$1.3 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, we expect that benefits to be paid in 
each of the next five fiscal years after 2007 and in the aggregate 
for the five fiscal years thereafter will be as follows:

(In thousands)

2008 $ 559 
2009  598 
2010  640 
2011  703 
2012  774 
2013–2017  5,397
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Certain of Nabors’ employees are covered by defined contribu-
tion plans. Our contributions to the plans are based on employee 
contributions and totaled $15.1 million and $11.7 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Nabors 
does not provide postemployment benefits to its employees.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
Prior to the date of our acquisition, Pool provided certain post-

retirement healthcare and life insurance benefits to eligible retirees 
who had attained specific age and years of service requirements. 
Nabors terminated this plan at the date of acquisition (Novem-
ber 24, 1999). A liability of approximately $.2 million is recorded 
in our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively, to cover the estimated costs of beneficiaries 
covered by the plan at the date of acquisition.

13 Related-Party Transactions

Pursuant to their employment agreements, Nabors and its Chair-
man and Chief Executive Officer, Deputy Chairman, President 
and Chief Operating Officer, and certain other key employees 
entered into split-dollar life insurance agreements pursuant to 
which we pay a portion of the premiums under life insurance  
policies with respect to these individuals and, in certain instances, 
members of their families. Under these agreements, we are reim-
bursed for such premiums upon the occurrence of specified events, 
including the death of an insured individual. Any recovery of pre-
miums paid by Nabors could potentially be limited to the cash 
surrender value of these policies under certain circumstances. As 
such, the values of these policies are recorded at their respective 
cash surrender values in our consolidated balance sheets. We have 
made premium payments to date totaling $11.2 million related to 
these policies. The cash surrender value of these policies of approx-
imately $10.5 million and $10.3 million is included in other long-
term assets in our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively.

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the payment of pre-
miums by Nabors under the agreements with our Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer and with our Deputy Chairman, President 
and Chief Operating Officer may be deemed to be prohibited loans 
by us to these individuals. We have paid no premiums related to 
our agreements with these individuals since the adoption of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and have postponed premium payments 
related to our agreements with these individuals.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into various rig 
leases, rig transportation and related oilfield services agreements 
with our unconsolidated affiliates at market prices. Revenues from 
business transactions with these affiliated entities totaled $153.4 mil-
lion, $99.2 million and $82.3 million for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Expenses from busi-
ness transactions with these affiliated entities totaled $6.6 million, 
$4.7 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Additionally, we had accounts 

receivable from these affiliated entities of $62.3 million and 
$41.2 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
We had accounts payable to these affiliated entities of $14.7 mil-
lion and $.3 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively, and long-term payables with these affiliated entities of 
$7.8 million and $6.6 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively, which is included in other long-term liabilities.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company entered into 
a transaction with Shona Energy Company, LLC (“Shona”), a 
company in which Mr. Payne, an outside director of the Com-
pany, is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Pursuant to 
the transaction, a subsidiary of the Company acquired and holds 
a minority interest of less than 20% of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of Shona in exchange for certain rights derived 
from an oil and gas concession held by that subsidiary.

14 Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

Operating Leases
Nabors and its subsidiaries occupy various facilities and lease 

certain equipment under various lease agreements. The minimum 
rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases, with 
lease terms in excess of one year subsequent to December 31, 
2007, are as follows:

(In thousands)

2008 $ 12,794 
2009  10,696 
2010  4,365 
2011  3,072 
2012  2,045 
Thereafter  1,968

 $ 34,940

The above amounts do not include property taxes, insurance or 
normal maintenance that the lessees are required to pay. Rental 
expense relating to operating leases with terms greater than 30 days 
amounted to $25.9 million, $21.6 million and $20.1 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Employment Contracts
We have entered into employment contracts with certain of 

our employees. Our minimum salary and bonus obligations under 
these contracts as of December 31, 2007 are as follows:

(In thousands)

2008 $ 2,616 
2009  2,376 
2010  1,693 
2011  – 
2012 and thereafter  –

 $ 6,685
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Nabors’ Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Eugene M. 
Isenberg, and its Deputy Chairman, President and Chief Operat-
ing Officer, Anthony G. Petrello, have employment agreements 
which were amended and restated effective October 1, 1996 and 
which currently are due to expire on September 30, 2010.

Mr. Isenberg’s employment agreement was originally negoti-
ated with a creditors committee in 1987 in connection with the 
reor ganization proceedings of Anglo Energy, Inc., which subse-
quently changed its name to Nabors. These contractual arrange-
ments subsequently were approved by the various constituencies 
in those reorganization proceedings, including equity and debt 
holders, and confirmed by the United States Bankruptcy Court.

Mr. Petrello’s employment agreement was first entered into 
effective October 1, 1991. Mr. Petrello’s employment agreement 
was agreed upon as part of arm’s length negotiations with the 
Board before he joined Nabors in October 1991, and was reviewed 
and approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board and 
the full Board of Directors at that time.

The employment agreements for Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello 
were amended in 1994 and 1996. These amendments were 
approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board and 
the full Board of Directors at that time.

The employment agreements provide for an initial term of 
five years with an evergreen provision which automatically 
extended the agreement for an additional one-year term on each 
anniversary date, unless Nabors provided notice to the contrary 
ten days prior to such anniversary. In March 2006, the Board of 
Directors exercised its election to fix the expiration date of the 
employment agreements for Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello, and 
accordingly, these agreements will expire at the end of their  
current term at September 30, 2010.

In addition to a base salary, the employment agreements pro-
vide for annual cash bonuses in an amount equal to 6% and 2%, 
for Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello, respectively, of Nabors’ net cash 
flow (as defined in the respective employment agreements) in 
excess of 15% of the average shareholders’ equity for each fiscal 
year. (Mr. Isenberg’s cash bonus formula originally was set at 10% 
in excess of a 10% return on shareholders’ equity and he has vol-
untarily reduced it over time to its 6% in excess of 15% level.) 
Mr. Petrello’s bonus is subject to a minimum of $700,000 per 
year. In 17 of the last 18 years, Mr. Isenberg has agreed volun-
tarily to accept a lower annual cash bonus (i.e., an amount lower 
than the amount provided for under his employment agreement) 
in light of his overall compensation package. Mr. Petrello has 
agreed voluntarily to accept a lower annual cash bonus (i.e., an 
amount lower than the amount provided for under his employ-
ment agreement) in light of his overall compensation package 
in 14 of the last 17 years.

Mr. Isenberg voluntarily agreed to amend his employment 
agreement in March 2006 (the “2006 Amendment”). Under the 
2006 Amendment, Mr. Isenberg agreed to reduce the annual cash 
bonus to an amount equal to 3% of Nabors’ net cash flow (as 
defined in his employment agreement) in excess of 15% of the 
average shareholders’ equity for 2006. For the three months ended 
March 31, 2007, Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello voluntarily agreed 

to a reduction of the cash bonus in an amount equal to 3% and 
1.5%, respectively, of Nabors’ net cash flow (as defined in their 
respective employment agreements). Mr. Isenberg voluntarily 
agreed to the same reduction for the three months ended June 30, 
2007 and agreed to a $3 million reduction in the amount of his 
annual cash bonus for the three months ended September 30, 
2007. For the remainder of 2007 through the expiration date of 
the employment agreement, the annual cash bonus will be 6% 
and 2%, respectively, for Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello of Nabors’ 
net cash flow in excess of 15% of the average shareholders’ equity 
for each fiscal year.

For 2007, the annual cash bonuses for Messrs. Isenberg and 
Petrello pursuant to the formula described in their employment 
agreements, as adjusted above, were $50.9 million and $22.7 mil-
lion, respectively. In light of their overall compensation package 
including significant restricted stock awards (see Note 3), they 
agreed to accept cash bonuses in the amount of $22.5 million 
and $10.7 million, respectively.

Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello also are eligible for awards under 
Nabors’ equity plans and may participate in annual long-term 
incentive programs and pension and welfare plans, on the same 
basis as other executives; and may receive special bonuses from 
time to time as determined by the Board.

Termination in the event of death, disability, or termination 
without cause. In the event that either Mr. Isenberg’s or Mr. Petrello’s 
employment agreement is terminated (i) upon death or disability 
(as defined in the respective employment agreements), (ii) by 
Nabors prior to the expiration date of the employment agreement 
for any reason other than for Cause (as defined in the respective 
employment agreements) or (iii) by either individual for Construc-
tive Termination Without Cause (as defined in the respective 
employment agreements), each would be entitled to receive within 
30 days of the triggering event (a) all base salary which would 
have been payable through the expiration date of the contract or 
three times his then current base salary, whichever is greater; plus 
(b) the greater of (i) all annual cash bonuses which would have 
been payable through the expiration date; (ii) three times the 
highest bonus (including the imputed value of grants of stock 
awards and stock options), paid during the last three fiscal years 
prior to termination; or (iii) three times the highest annual cash 
bonus payable for each of the three previous fiscal years prior to 
termination, regardless of whether the amount was paid. In com-
puting any amount due under (b)(i) and (iii) above, the calcula-
tion is made without regard to the 2006 Amendment reducing 
Mr. Isenberg’s bonus percentage as described above. If, by way 
of example, these provisions had applied at December 31, 2007, 
Mr. Isenberg would have been entitled to a payment of approxi-
mately $264 million, subject to a “true-up” equal to the amount 
of cash bonus he would have earned under the formula during 
the remaining term of the agreement, based upon actual results, 
but the payment would not be less than approximately $264 mil-
lion. Similarly, with respect to Mr. Petrello, had these pro visions 
applied at December 31, 2007, Mr. Petrello would have been  
entitled to a payment of approximately $103 million, subject to 
a “true-up” equal to the amount of cash bonus he would have 
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earned under the formula during the remaining term of the agree-
ment, based upon actual results, but the payment would not be 
less than approximately $103 million. These payment amounts 
are based on historical data and are not intended to be estimates 
of future payments required under the agreements. Depending 
upon future operating results, the true-up could result in the pay-
ment of amounts which are significantly higher. The Company 
does not have insurance to cover its obligations in the event of 
death, disability, or termination without cause for either Messrs. 
Isenberg or Petrello. In addition, the affected individual is entitled 
to receive (a) any unvested restricted stock outstanding, which 
shall immediately and fully vest; (b) any unvested outstanding 
stock options, which shall immediately and fully vest; (c) any 
amounts earned, accrued or owing to the executive but not yet 
paid (including executive benefits, life insurance, disability bene-
fits and reimbursement of expenses and perquisites), which shall 
be continued through the later of the expiration date or three years 
after the termination date; (d) continued participation in medi-
cal, dental and life insurance coverage until the executive receives 
equivalent benefits or coverage through a subsequent employer or 
until the death of the executive or his spouse, whichever is later; 
and (e) any other or additional benefits in accordance with appli-
cable plans and programs of Nabors. For Messrs. Isenberg and 
Petrello, the value of unvested restricted stock was approximately 
$25 million and $15 million, respectively, as of December 31, 
2007. Neither Messrs. Isenberg nor Petrello had unvested stock 
options as of December 31, 2007. Estimates of the cash value of 
Nabors’ obligations to Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello under (c), 
(d) and (e) above are included in the payment amounts above.

As noted above in March 2006, the Board of Directors exer-
cised its election to fix the expiration date of the employment 
agreements for Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello such that each of 
these agreements expires at the end of their respective current 
term at September 30, 2010. Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello have 
informed the Board of Directors that they have reserved their 
rights under their employment agreements with respect to the 
notice setting the expiration dates of their employment agreements, 
including whether such notice could trigger an acceleration of  
certain payments pursuant to their employment agreements.

Termination in the event of a Change in Control. In the event 
that Messrs. Isenberg’s or Petrello’s termination of employment 
is related to a Change in Control (as defined in their respective 
employment agreements), they would be entitled to receive a cash 
amount equal to the greater of (a) one dollar less than the amount 
that would constitute an “excess parachute payment” as defined 
in Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code, or (b) the cash 
amount that would be due in the event of a termination with-
out cause, as described above. If, by way of example, there was a 
change of control event that applied on December 31, 2007, then 
the payments to Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello would be approxi-
mately $264 million and $103 million, respectively. These pay-
ment amounts are based on historical data and are not intended 
to be estimates of future payments required under the agreements. 
Depending upon future operating results, the true-up could result 
in the payment of amounts which are significantly higher but the 
payment would not be less than $264 million and $103 million, 

respectively. In addition, they would receive (a) any unvested 
restricted stock outstanding, which shall immediately and fully 
vest; (b) any unvested outstanding stock options, which shall 
immediately and fully vest; (c) any amounts earned, accrued or 
owing to the executive but not yet paid (including executive bene-
fits, life insurance, disability benefits and reimbursement of expenses 
and perquisites), which shall be continued through the later of the 
expiration date or three years after the termination date; (d) con-
tinued participation in medical, dental and life insurance coverage 
until the executive receives equivalent benefits or coverage through 
a subsequent employer or until the death of the executive or his 
spouse, whichever is later; and (e) any other or additional benefits 
in accordance with applicable plans and programs of Nabors. For 
Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello, the value of unvested restricted stock 
was approximately $25 million and $15 million, respectively, as 
of December 31, 2007. Neither Messrs. Isenberg nor Petrello had 
unvested stock options as of December 31, 2007. The cash value 
of Nabors’ obligations to Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello under (c), 
(d) and (e) above are included in the payment amounts above. 
Also, they would receive additional stock options immediately 
exercisable for five years to acquire a number of shares of com-
mon stock equal to the highest number of options granted dur-
ing any fiscal year in the previous three fiscal years, at an option 
exercise price equal to the average closing price during the 20 trad-
ing days prior to the event which resulted in the change of control. 
If, by way of example, there was a change of control event that 
applied at December 31, 2007, Mr. Isenberg would have received 
3,366,666 options valued at approximately $31 million and 
Mr. Petrello would have received 1,683,332 options valued at 
approximately $16 million, in each case based upon a Black Scholes 
analysis. Finally, in the event that an excise tax was applicable, 
they would receive a gross-up payment to make them whole with 
respect to any excise taxes imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal 
Revenue Code. With respect to the preceding sentence, by way 
of example, if there was a change of control event that applied on 
December 31, 2007, and assuming that the excise tax was appli-
cable to the transaction, then the additional payments to Messrs. 
Isenberg and Petrello for the gross-up would be up to approxi-
mately $114 million and $46 million, respectively.

Other Obligations. In addition to salary and bonus, each of 
Messrs. Isenberg and Petrello receive group life insurance at an 
amount at least equal to three times their respective base salaries, 
various split-dollar life insurance policies, reimbursement of 
expenses, various perquisites and a personal umbrella insurance 
policy in the amount of $5 million. Premiums payable under the 
split-dollar life insurance policies were suspended as a result of 
the adoption of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Oil and Gas Joint Ventures
On September 22, 2006, we entered into an agreement with 

First Reserve Corporation to form a new joint venture, NFR 
Energy LLC, to invest in oil and gas exploration opportunities 
worldwide. First Reserve Corporation is a private equity firm spe-
cializing in the energy industry. Each party initially made a non-
binding commitment to fund its proportionate share of $1.0 bil-
lion in equity. During 2007, joint venture operations in the U.S., 



88

Canada and International areas, were divided among three sepa-
rate joint venture entities, including NFR Energy LLC (“NFR”), 
Stone Mountain Ventures Partnership (“Stone Mountain”) and 
Remora Energy International LP (“Remora”), respectively. We 
hold a 49% ownership interest in these joint ventures. Each joint 
venture pursues development and exploration projects with both 
existing customers of ours and with other operators in a variety of 
forms including operated and non-operated working interests, joint 
ventures, farm-outs and acquisitions. As of December 31, 2007, 
we had made capital contributions of approximately $243.1 mil-
lion, $19.1 million and $14.7 million, respectively, to NFR, Stone 
Mountain and Remora.

Contingencies

Income Tax Contingencies
We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and 

numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required 
in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. In the 
ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and 
calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
We are regularly under audit by tax authorities. Although we 
believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination 
of tax audits and any related litigation could be materially differ-
ent than that which is reflected in our income tax provisions and 
accruals. Based on the results of an audit or litigation, a material 
effect on our financial position, income tax provision, net income, 
or cash flows in the period or periods for which that determina-
tion is made could result.

It is possible that future changes to tax laws (including tax 
treaties) could have an impact on our ability to realize the tax  
savings recorded to date as well as future tax savings as a result 
of our corporate reorganization, depending on any responsive 
action taken by us.

On September 14, 2006, Nabors Drilling International Limited 
(“NDIL”), a wholly-owned Bermuda subsidiary of Nabors, received 
a Notice of Assessment (the “Notice”) from the Mexican Servicio 
de Administracion Tributaria (the “SAT”) in connection with the 
audit of NDIL’s Mexican branch for tax year 2003. The Notice 
proposes to deny a depreciation expense deduction that relates to 
drilling rigs operating in Mexico in 2003, as well as a deduction 
for payments made to an affiliated company for the provision 
of labor services in Mexico. The amount assessed by the SAT is 
approximately $19.8 million (including interest and penalties). 
Nabors and its tax advisors previously concluded that the deduc-
tion of said amounts was appropriate and more recently that the 
position of the SAT lacks merit. NDIL’s Mexican branch took 
similar deductions for depreciation and labor expenses in 2004, 
2005, 2006 and 2007. It is likely that the SAT will propose the 
disallowance of these deductions upon audit of NDIL’s Mexican 
branch’s 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 tax years.

Self-Insurance Accruals
We are self-insured for certain losses relating to workers’ com-

pensation, employers’ liability, general liability, automobile liability 
and property damage. Effective April 1, 2007, with our insurance 
renewal, certain changes have been made to our insurance coverage 
increasing our self-insured retentions. Our domestic workers’ com-
pensation program continues to be subject to a $1.0 million per 
occurrence deductible. Employers’ liability and Jones Act cases are 
subject to a $2.0 million deductible. Automobile liability is sub-
ject to a $1.0 million deductible. We are assuming an additional 
$3.0 million corridor deductible for domestic workers’ compen-
sation claims. General liability claims continue to be subject to 
a $5.0 million deductible. Our hurricane coverage for U.S. Gulf 
of Mexico exposures is subject to a $10.0 million deductible. 
We are insured for $25.0 million over the deductible at 100%, 
and have added a second insured layer for $30.0 million at 60%. 
We are self-insuring 40% of the second layer.

In addition, we are subject to a $1.0 million deductible for all 
land rigs except for those located in Alaska, and a $5.0 million 
deductible for all our Alaska and offshore rigs with the excep-
tion of the Pool Arabia rigs, which are subject to a $2.5 million 
deductible. This applies to all kinds of risks of physical damage 
except for named windstorms in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico.

Political risk insurance is procured for select operations in 
South America, Africa, the Middle East and Asia. Losses are sub-
ject to a $0.25 million deductible, except for Colombia, which is 
subject to a $0.5 million deductible. There is no assurance that 
such coverage will adequately protect Nabors against liability 
from all potential consequences.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, our self-insurance accruals 
totaled $156.5 million and $129.7 million, respectively, and our 
related insurance recoveries/receivables were $9.9 million and 
$7.5 million, respectively.

Litigation
Nabors and its subsidiaries are defendants or otherwise involved 

in a number of lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. We 
estimate the range of our liability related to pending litigation 
when we believe the amount and range of loss can be estimated. 
We record our best estimate of a loss when the loss is considered 
probable. When a liability is probable and there is a range of  
estimated loss with no best estimate in the range, we record the 
minimum estimated liability related to the lawsuits or claims. As 
additional information becomes available, we assess the potential 
liability related to our pending litigation and claims and revise 
our estimates. Due to uncertainties related to the resolution of 
lawsuits and claims, the ultimate outcome may differ from our 
estimates. In the opinion of management and based on liability 
accruals provided, our ultimate exposure with respect to these 
pending lawsuits and claims is not expected to have a material 
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or cash flows, 
although they could have a material adverse effect on our results 
of operations for a particular reporting period.
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On December 22, 2005, we received a grand jury subpoena 
from the United States Attorney’s Office in Anchorage, Alaska, 
seeking documents and information relating to an alleged spill, 
discharge, overflow or cleanup of drilling mud or sludge involving 
one of our rigs during March 2003. We are cooperating with the 
authorities in this matter.

On February 6, 2007, a purported shareholder derivative action 
entitled Kenneth H. Karstedt v. Eugene M. Isenberg, et al was filed 
in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 
Texas against the Company’s officers and directors, and against 
the Company as a nominal defendant. The complaint alleged 
that stock options were priced retroactively and were improperly 
accounted for, and alleged various causes of action based on that 
assertion. The complaint sought, among other things, payment 
by the defendants to the Company of damages allegedly suffered 
by it and disgorgement of profits. On March 5, 2007, another 
purported shareholder derivative action entitled Gail McKinney 
v. Eugene M. Isenberg, et al was also filed in the United States  
District Court for the Southern District of Texas. The complaint 
made substantially the same allegations against the same defen-
dants and sought the same elements of damages. The two pur-
ported derivative actions were consolidated into one proceeding. 
On December 31, 2007, the Company and the individual defen-
dants agreed with the plaintiffs-shareholders to settle the derivative 
action. The settlement is subject to preliminary and final approval 
of the United States District Court for the Southern District of 
Texas. Under the terms of the proposed settlement, the Company 
and the individual defendants have implemented or will implement 
certain corporate governance reforms and adopt certain modifi-
cations to our equity award policy with no financial accounting 
impact and our Compensation Committee charter. The Company 
and its insurers have agreed to pay up to $2.85 million to plain-
tiffs’ counsel for their attorneys’ fees and the reimbursement of 
their expenses and costs.

During the fourth quarter of 2006 and the first quarter of 
2007, a review was conducted of the Company’s granting prac-
tices and accounting for certain employee equity awards to both 
the senior executives of the Company and other employees from 
1988 through 2006. Based on the results of the review, the Com-
pany recorded a noncash charge of $38.3 million, net of tax, at 
December 31, 2006. The Company determined that no restate-
ment of its historical financial statements was necessary because 

there were no findings of fraud or intentional wrongdoing, and 
because the effects of certain revised measurement dates were not 
material in any fiscal year. In a letter dated December 28, 2006, 
the SEC staff advised us that it had commenced an informal 
inquiry regarding our stock option grants and related practices, 
procedures and accounting. By letter dated May 7, 2007, the 
SEC staff informed us they had closed the investigation without 
any recommendation of enforcement action.

On July 5, 2007, we received an inquiry from the U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice relating to its investigation of one of our vendors 
and compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Our 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has engaged outside 
counsel to review certain transactions with this vendor, which pro-
vides freight forwarding and customs clearance services, and we 
are cooperating with the Department of Justice inquiry. The ulti-
mate outcome of this review cannot be determined at this time.

On October 17, 2007, we settled a dispute with a vendor. Pursu-
ant to the settlement, we received an 18% ownership equity interest 
in a parent company of the vendor, we granted the vendor a non-
exclusive, royalty-free license to use certain technology, and the 
parties each executed a mutual release of claims against each other.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements (Including Guarantees)
We are a party to certain transactions, agreements or other 

contractual arrangements defined as “off-balance sheet arrange-
ments” that could have a material future effect on our financial 
position, results of operations, liquidity and capital resources. The 
most significant of these off-balance sheet arrangements involve 
agreements and obligations in which we provide financial or per-
formance assurance to third parties. Certain of these agreements 
serve as guarantees, including standby letters of credit issued on 
behalf of insurance carriers in conjunction with our workers’ 
compensation insurance program and other financial surety 
instruments such as bonds. In addition, we have provided indem-
nifications to certain third parties which serve as guarantees. 
These guarantees include indemnification provided by Nabors to 
our share transfer agent and our insurance carriers. We are not 
able to estimate the potential future maximum payments that 
might be due under our indemni fication guarantees.

Management believes the likelihood that we would be required 
to perform or otherwise incur any material losses associated with 
any of these guarantees is remote. The following table summarizes 
the total maximum amount of financial and performance guaran-
tees issued by Nabors:
  

  Maximum Amount

(In thousands) 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Total

Financial standby letters of credit and other financial surety instruments $ 131,732 $ 100 $ 1,953 $ – $ 133,785 
Contingent consideration in acquisition  –  1,417  1,417  1,416  4,250

Total $ 131,732 $ 1,517 $ 3,370 $ 1,416 $ 138,035
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15 Earnings Per Share

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 2005

Net income (numerator): 
 Income from continuing operations, net of tax – basic $ 895,667 $ 993,009 $ 638,155
 Add interest expense on assumed conversion of our zero coupon convertible/exchangeable  
  senior debentures/notes, net of tax: 
   $2.75 billion due 2011(1)  –  –  –
   $82.8 million due 2021(2)  –  –  –
   $700 million due 2023(3)  –  –  –

Adjusted income from continuing operations, net of tax – diluted  895,667  993,009  638,155 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  35,024  27,727  10,540

Total adjusted net income $ 930,691 $ 1,020,736 $ 648,695

Earnings per share: 
Basic from continuing operations $ 3.21 $ 3.42 $ 2.05 
Basic from discontinued operations  .13  .10  .03

Total Basic $ 3.34 $ 3.52 $ 2.08

Diluted from continuing operations $ 3.13 $ 3.31 $ 1.97 
Diluted from discontinued operations  .12  .09  .03

Total Diluted $ 3.25 $ 3.40 $ 2.00

Shares (denominator): 
 Weighted-average number of shares outstanding – basic(4)  279,026  290,241  312,134 
 Net effect of dilutive stock options, warrants and restricted stock awards based on the treasury stock method  7,580  9,446  10,146 
 Assumed conversion of our zero coupon convertible/exchangeable senior debentures/notes: 
  $2.75 billion due 2011(1)  –  –  – 
  $82.8 million due 2021(2)  –  –  –
  $700 million due 2023(3)  –  140  2,098

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding – diluted  286,606  299,827  324,378

(1)  Diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 do not include any incremental shares issuable upon the exchange of the $2.75 billion 0.94% senior exchangeable notes. 
The number of shares that we would be required to issue upon exchange consists of only the incremental shares that would be issued above the principal amount of the notes, as we are required to 
pay cash up to the principal amount of the notes exchanged. We would only issue an incremental number of shares upon exchange of these notes. Such shares are only included in the calculation of 
the weighted-average number of shares outstanding in our diluted earnings per share calculation, when the price of our shares exceeds $45.83 on the last trading day of the quarter, which did not 
occur during any period for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. The $2.75 billion notes were issued during the quarter ended June 30, 2006 and had no effect on 2005’s earnings per 
share calculation.

(2)  Diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 excludes approximately 1.2 million potentially dilutive shares initially issuable upon the conversion of the $82.8 million 
zero coupon convertible senior debentures. Diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2005 excludes approximately 17.0 million potentially dilutive shares initially issuable upon the 
conversion of these debentures. We would only issue an incremental number of shares upon conversion of these debentures. Such shares would only be included in the calculation of the weighted- 
average number of shares outstanding in our diluted earnings per share calculation if the price of our shares exceeded approximately $51.

(3)  Diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2007 do not include any incremental shares issuable upon the exchange of the $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes. 
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 reflects the assumed conversion of our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes resulting in the inclusion 
of the incremental number of shares that we would be required to issue upon exchange of these notes. The number of shares that we would be required to issue upon exchange consists of only the 
incremental shares that would be issued above the principal amount of the notes, as we are required to pay cash up to the principal amount of the notes exchanged. We would only issue an incremental 
number of shares upon exchange of these notes. Such shares are only included in the calculation of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding in our diluted earnings per share calculation, 
when the price of our shares exceeds $35.05 on the last trading day of the quarter. This was the case for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 and the three months ended December 31, 2005 and are 
therefore included in the weighted-average number of shares outstanding in our diluted earnings per share calculation for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.

(4)  Includes the following weighted-average number of common shares of Nabors and weighted-average number of exchangeable shares of Nabors (Canada) Exchangeco Inc., respectively: 278.9 million 
and .1 million shares for the year ended December 31, 2007; 290.0 million and .2 million shares for the year ended December 31, 2006; and 311.7 million and .4 million shares for the year ended 
December 31, 2005. The exchangeable shares of Nabors Exchangeco are exchangeable for Nabors’ common shares on a one-for-one basis, and have essentially identical rights as Nabors Industries Ltd. 
common shares, including but not limited to, voting rights and the right to receive dividends, if any.

For all periods presented, the computation of diluted earnings 
per share excludes outstanding stock options and warrants with 
exercise prices greater than the average market price of Nabors’ 
common shares, because the inclusion of such options and war-
rants would be anti-dilutive. The average number of options and 
warrants that were excluded from diluted earnings per share that 
would potentially dilute earnings per share in the future were 
4,952,799, 2,995,447 and 761,378 shares during 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively. In any period during which the average market 

price of Nabors’ common shares exceeds the exercise prices of 
these stock options and warrants, such stock options and warrants 
will be included in our diluted earnings per share computation 
using the treasury stock method of accounting. Restricted stock 
will similarly be included in our diluted earnings per share com-
putation using the treasury stock method of accounting in any 
period where the amount of restricted stock exceeds the number 
of shares assumed repurchased in those periods based upon future 
unearned compensation.
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16  Supplemental Balance Sheet, Income Statement 
 and Cash Flow Information

Accounts receivable is net of an allowance for doubtful accounts 
of $16.7 million and $14.9 million as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.

Accrued liabilities include the following: 

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006

Accrued compensation $ 141,473 $ 136,276 
Deferred revenue  91,071  65,747 
Other taxes payable  32,539  20,035 
Workers’ compensation liabilities  31,427  28,032 
Interest payable  13,165  13,024 
Warranty accrual  8,602  6,377 
Litigation reserves  5,083  4,536 
Other accrued liabilities  25,155  20,931

  $ 348,515 $ 294,958

Investment (loss) income includes the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Interest income $ 44,732 $ 54,606 $ 41,413 
(Losses) gains on marketable and  
 non-marketable securities, net  (61,389)(1)  46,260  43,007 
Dividend and other  
 investment income  766  1,141  1,008

   $ (15,891) $ 102,007 $ 85,428

(1)  This amount reflects a net loss of approximately $61.4 million from the portion of our long-term 
investments comprised of our actively managed funds inclusive of substantial gains from sales 
of our marketable equity securities.

Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, impairment charges 
and other expense (income), net includes the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Losses (gains) on sales,  
 retirements and involuntary  
 conversions of long-lived assets $ 4,429(1) $ 20,824(2) $ 18,343(3)

Litigation reserves  9,568  2,217  27,195(4)

Foreign currency transaction  
 losses (gains)  (3,235)  380  465 
(Gains) losses on derivative  
 instruments  1,348  (1,361)  (1,078) 
Other  (1,215)  2,058  1,027

   $ 10,895 $ 24,118 $ 45,952

(1)  This amount includes a $38.6 million gain from the sale of three accommodation units in 
the second quarter of 2007 and $40.0 million in impairment charges and losses on asset 
retirements during 2007.

(2)  This amount includes $12.4 million in impairment charges related to asset retirements.
(3)  This amount includes involuntary conversion losses recorded as a result of Hurricanes 

Katrina and Rita during the third quarter of 2005 of approximately $7.8 million, net of 
expected insurance proceeds.

(4)  This amount primarily relates to an interim judgment received in February 2006 against us 
in the amount of $25.6 million related to a class-action arbitration hearing regarding compen- 
sation issues brought on behalf of field employees for our well-servicing unit operations in 
California. The final award was $24.3 million, which was paid in May 2006.

Supplemental cash flow information for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Cash paid for income taxes $ 378,726 $ 157,209 $ 25,480 
Cash paid for interest, net of  
 capitalized interest  41,715  28,605  28,507 
Acquisitions of businesses: 
 Fair value of assets acquired  –  79,070  38,682 
Goodwill  8,391  20,815  9,554 
Liabilities assumed or created  –  (17,293)  (2,035) 
Common stock of acquired  
 company previously owned  –  –  – 
Equity consideration issued  –  –  –

Cash paid for acquisitions  
 of businesses  8,391  82,592  46,201 
Cash acquired in acquisitions  
 of businesses  –  (185)  –

Cash paid for acquisitions  
 of businesses, net $ 8,391 $ 82,407 $ 46,201
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17 Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information

 Year Ended December 31, 2007

(In thousands, except per share amounts) Quarter Ended

 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Operating revenues and Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates from continuing operations(1) $ 1,248,454 $ 1,138,120 $ 1,252,988 $ 1,317,010

Income from continuing operations, net of tax $ 256,890 $ 220,862 $ 195,763 $ 222,152 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  5,272  7,487  22,265  –

Net income $ 262,162 $ 228,349 $ 218,028 $ 222,152

Earnings per share:(2) 
Basic from continuing operations $ .93 $ .79 $ .70 $ .79 
Basic from discontinued operations  .02  .03  .08  –

Total Basic $ .95 $ .82 $ .78 $ .79

Diluted from continuing operations $ .90 $ .77 $ .68 $ .78 
Diluted from discontinued operations  .02  .02  .08  –

Total Diluted $ .92 $ .79 $ .76 $ .78

 Year Ended December 31, 2006

(In thousands, except per share amounts) Quarter Ended

 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Operating revenues and Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates from continuing operations(3) $ 1,142,157 $ 1,098,349 $ 1,218,958 $ 1,268,370

Income from continuing operations, net of tax $ 249,797 $ 226,042 $ 284,783 $ 232,387 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  6,966  7,391  7,968  5,402

Net income $ 256,763 $ 233,433 $ 292,751 $ 237,789

Earnings per share:(2) 
Basic from continuing operations $ .80 $ .76 $ 1.02 $ .84 
Basic from discontinued operations  .02  .03  .03  .02

Total Basic $ .82 $ .79 $ 1.05 $ .86

Diluted from continuing operations $ .77 $ .74 $ .99 $ .82 
Diluted from discontinued operations  .02  .03  .03  .02

Total Diluted $ .79 $ .77 $ 1.02 $ .84

(1)  Includes earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates, net, accounted for by the equity method, of $12.4 million, $3.4 million, $2.7 million and $(.8) million, respectively.
(2)  Earnings per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not equal the total computed for the year.
(3)  Includes earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates, net, accounted for by the equity method, of $4.4 million, $9.4 million, $5.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

18 Discontinued Operation

In August 2007, we sold our Sea Mar business which had previ-
ously been included in Other Operating Segments to an unrelated 
third party for a cash purchase price of $194.3 million, resulting 
in a pre-tax gain of $49.5 million. The assets included 20 offshore 
supply vessels and certain related assets, including its right under a 
vessel construction contract. The operating results of this business 

for all periods presented are reported as discontinued operations 
in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and the 
respective accompanying notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments. Our condensed statements of income from discontinued 
operations related to the Sea Mar business for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

Condensed Statements of Income
 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Revenues from discontinued operations $ 58,887 $ 112,873 $ 65,436

Income from discontinued operations 
 Income from discontinued operations $ 26,092 $ 43,017 $ 16,795 
 Gain on disposal of business  49,500  –  – 
Income tax expense  40,568  15,290  6,255

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 35,024 $ 27,727 $ 10,540
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19 Segment Information

As of December 31, 2007, we operate our business out of 13 oper-
ating segments. Our six Contract Drilling operating segments are 
engaged in drilling, workover and well-servicing operations, on 
land and offshore, and represent reportable segments. These oper-
ating segments consist of Alaska, U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling, 
U.S. Land Well-servicing, U.S. Offshore, Canada and Interna-
tional business units. Our oil and gas operating segment includes 
Ramshorn Investments, Inc. and our oil and gas joint ventures 
with First Reserve Corporation. This Segment is engaged in the 
exploration for, development of and production of oil and natural 
gas. Our Other Operating Segments, consisting of Canrig Drilling 
Technology Ltd., Epoch Well Services, Inc., Peak Oilfield Service 
Company, Peak USA Energy Services, Ltd., Ryan Energy Technol-
ogies, and Nabors Blue Sky Ltd. (formerly 1183011 Alberta Ltd.), 
are engaged in the manufacturing of top drives, manufacturing 
of drilling instrumentation systems, construction and logistics 

services, trucking and logistics services, manufacturing and mar-
keting of directional drilling and rig instrumentation systems, 
directional drilling, rig instrumentation and data collection  
services, and heliportable well services, respectively. These Other 
Operating Segments do not meet the criteria included in SFAS 
No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information” for disclosure, individually or in the aggregate, as 
reportable segments.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those 
described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. 
See Note 2. Inter-segment sales are recorded at cost or cost plus 
a profit margin. We evaluate the performance of our segments 
based on several criteria, including adjusted income derived from 
operating activities.

The following table sets forth financial information with 
respect to our reportable segments:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates from continuing operations:(1) 
 Contract Drilling:(2)       
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 1,710,990 $ 1,890,302 $ 1,306,963 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  715,414  704,189  491,704 
  U.S. Offshore  212,160  221,676  158,888 
  Alaska  152,490  110,718  85,768 
  Canada  545,035  686,889  553,537 
  International  1,094,802  746,460  552,656

   Subtotal Contract Drilling(3)  4,430,891  4,360,234  3,149,516 
 Oil and Gas(4) (5)  152,320  59,431  62,913 
 Other Operating Segments(6) (7)  588,483  505,286  282,910 
 Other reconciling items(8)  (215,122)  (197,117)  (95,196)

   Total $ 4,956,572 $ 4,727,834 $ 3,400,143

Depreciation and amortization, and depletion:(1) 
 Contract Drilling:       
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 146,928 $ 106,399 $ 90,979 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  57,245  43,217  28,065 
  U.S. Offshore  34,408  31,253  24,272 
  Alaska  14,889  13,012  12,550 
  Canada  63,271  54,924  46,384 
  International  121,985  95,045  71,035

   Subtotal Contract Drilling  438,726  343,850  273,285 
 Oil and Gas  72,182  38,580  46,894 
 Other Operating Segments  35,203  24,829  13,856 
 Other reconciling items(8)  (6,199)  (4,026)  (2,087)

   Total depreciation and amortization, and depletion $ 539,912 $ 403,233 $ 331,948

Adjusted income (loss) derived from operating activities from continuing operations:(1)(9) 
 Contract Drilling: 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 596,302 $ 821,821 $ 464,570 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  156,243  199,944  107,728 
  U.S. Offshore  51,508  65,328  38,783 
  Alaska  37,394  17,542  16,608 
  Canada  87,046  185,117  136,368 
  International  332,283  208,705  135,588

   Subtotal Contract Drilling(3)  1,260,776  1,498,457  899,645 
 Oil and Gas  56,133  4,065  10,194 
 Other Operating Segments(6)  35,273  30,028  17,619

   Total segment adjusted income derived from operating activities  1,352,182  1,532,550  927,458 
Other reconciling items(10)  (136,363)  (135,951)  (64,930) 
Interest expense  (53,702)  (46,586)  (44,849) 
Investment (loss) income  (15,891)  102,007  85,428 
(Losses) gains on sales of long-lived assets, impairment charges and other income (expense), net  (10,895)  (24,118)  (45,952)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes(1) $ 1,135,331 $ 1,427,902 $ 857,155
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 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Capital expenditures and acquisitions of businesses:(11) 
 Contract Drilling: 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 728,465 $ 726,171 $ 357,441 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  205,185  224,812  113,910 
  U.S. Offshore  49,270  98,618  22,218 
  Alaska  69,233  27,145  5,364 
  Canada  94,058  222,727  112,415 
  International  620,264  382,911  315,199

   Subtotal Contract Drilling  1,766,475  1,682,384  926,547 
 Oil and Gas  171,834  155,681  59,263 
 Other Operating Segments  53,594  146,895  23,687 
 Other reconciling items(10)  (12,072)  13,011  (6,228)

   Total capital expenditures $ 1,979,831 $ 1,997,971 $ 1,003,269

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Total assets: 
 Contract Drilling:(12) (13) 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 2,544,629 $ 2,210,070 $ 1,513,618 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  725,845  597,082  389,002 
  U.S. Offshore  452,505  456,889  366,354 
  Alaska  283,121  221,927  202,315 
  Canada  1,398,363  1,059,243  1,109,627 
  International  2,577,057  2,006,941  1,436,234

   Subtotal Contract Drilling  7,981,520  6,552,152  5,017,150 
 Oil and Gas(14)  646,837  328,114  127,834 
 Other Operating Segments(15)  610,041  638,600  387,422 
 Other reconciling items(10)  864,984  1,623,437  1,698,001

   Total assets $ 10,103,382 $ 9,142,303 $ 7,230,407

 (1)  Information excludes the Sea Mar business, which has been reclassified as a discontinued operation.
 (2)  These segments include our drilling, workover and well-servicing operations, on land and offshore.
 (3)  Includes earnings (losses), net from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $5.6 million, $4.0 million and $(1.3) million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005, respectively.
 (4)  Represents our oil and gas exploration, development and production operations.
 (5)  Includes earnings (losses), net, from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $(3.9) million for the year ended December 31, 2007 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 

2006 and 2005, respectively.
 (6)  Includes our drilling technology and top drive manufacturing, directional drilling, rig instrumentation and software, and construction and logistics operations.
 (7)  Includes earnings (losses), net from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $16.0 million, $16.5 million and $7.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005, respectively.
 (8)  Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions. 
 (9)  Adjusted income derived from operating activities is computed by: subtracting direct costs, general and administrative expenses, and depreciation and amortization, and depletion expense from  

operating revenues and then adding earnings from unconsolidated affiliates. Such amounts should not be used as a substitute to those amounts reported under GAAP. However, management  
evaluates the performance of our business units and the consolidated company based on several criteria, including adjusted income derived from operating activities, because it believes that  
this financial measure is an accurate reflection of the ongoing profitability of our Company. A reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure to income before income taxes from continuing operations,  
which is a GAAP measure, is provided within the above table.

(10)  Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions and unallocated corporate expenses, assets and capital expenditures.
(11)  Includes the portion of the purchase price of acquisitions allocated to fixed assets and goodwill based on their fair market value.
(12)  Includes $47.3 million, $39.6 million and $35.3 million of investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for by the equity method as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
(13)  Includes $21.4 million, $0 and $0 of investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for by the cost method as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
(14)  Includes $274.1 million of investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for by the equity method as of December 31, 2007, and $0 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
(15)  Includes $62.0 million, $58.5 million and $35.9 million of investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for by the equity method as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The following table sets forth financial information with respect to Nabors’ operations by geographic area:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Operating revenues and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates from continuing operations: 
 United States $ 3,189,230 $ 3,141,299 $ 2,230,614 
 Foreign  1,767,342  1,586,535  1,169,529

    $ 4,956,572 $ 4,727,834 $ 3,400,143

Property, plant and equipment, net: 
 United States $ 3,782,280 $ 3,211,023 $ 2,131,598 
 Foreign  2,906,846  2,199,078  1,755,326

    $ 6,689,126 $ 5,410,101 $ 3,886,924

Goodwill: 
 United States $ 130,275 $ 165,264 $ 165,211 
 Foreign  238,157  197,005  176,728

    $ 368,432 $ 362,269 $ 341,939
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20 Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Nabors has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of the 
issued public debt securities of Nabors Delaware, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary, and Nabors and Nabors Delaware have fully and 
unconditionally guaranteed the $225 million 4.875% senior notes 
due 2009 issued by Nabors Holdings 1, ULC, our indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary.

The following condensed consolidating financial information 
is included so that separate financial statements of Nabors Dela-
ware and Nabors Holdings are not required to be filed with the 
SEC. The condensed consolidating financial statements present 
investments in both consolidated and unconsolidated affiliates 
using the equity method of accounting.

The following condensed consolidating financial information 
presents: condensed consolidating balance sheets as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007 and 2006, statements of income and cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 
of (a) Nabors, parent/guarantor, (b) Nabors Delaware, issuer of 
public debt securities guaranteed by Nabors and guarantor of 
the $225 million 4.875% senior notes issued by Nabors Holdings, 
(c) Nabors Holdings, issuer of the $225 million 4.875% senior 
notes, (d) the non-guarantor subsidiaries, (e) consolidating adjust-
ments necessary to consolidate Nabors and its subsidiaries and 
(f) Nabors on a consolidated basis.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets
 December 31, 2007

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Assets 
 Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,659 $ 2,753 $ 4 $ 517,890 $ – $ 531,306 
  Short-term investments  –  –  –  235,745  –  235,745 
  Accounts receivable, net  –  –  –  1,039,238  –  1,039,238 
  Inventory  –  –  –  133,786  –  133,786 
  Deferred income taxes  –  –  –  12,757  –  12,757 
  Other current assets  136  1,039  376  250,729  –  252,280

   Total current assets  10,795  3,792  380  2,190,145  –  2,205,112 
 Long-term investments  –  –  –  236,253  –  236,253 
 Property, plant and equipment, net  –  –  –  6,689,126  –  6,689,126 
 Goodwill, net  –  –  –  368,432  –  368,432 
 Intercompany receivables  361,832  1,224,222  –  19,918  (1,605,972)  – 
 Investments in affiliates  4,148,256  4,429,139  304,450  2,306,797  (10,783,800)  404,842 
 Other long-term assets  –  22,180  638  176,799  –  199,617

   Total assets $ 4,520,883 $ 5,679,333 $ 305,468 $ 11,987,470 $ (12,389,772) $ 10,103,382

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
 Current liabilities: 
  Current portion of long-term debt $ – $ 700,000 $ – $ – $ – $ 700,000 
  Trade accounts payable  2  24  –  348,498  –  348,524 
  Accrued liabilities  6,760  8,877  4,151  328,727  –  348,515 
  Income taxes payable  –  71,761  2,411  22,921  –  97,093

   Total current liabilities  6,762  780,662  6,562  700,146  –  1,494,132 
 Long-term debt  –  3,081,871  224,562  –  –  3,306,433 
 Other long-term liabilities  –  1,900  –  244,814  –  246,714 
 Deferred income taxes  –  15,131  16  526,835  –  541,982 
 Intercompany payable  –  –  193  1,605,779  (1,605,972)  –

   Total liabilities  6,762  3,879,564  231,333  3,077,574  (1,605,972)  5,589,261

 Shareholders’ equity  4,514,121  1,799,769  74,135  8,909,896  (10,783,800)  4,514,121

   Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 4,520,883 $ 5,679,333 $ 305,468 $ 11,987,470 $ (12,389,772) $ 10,103,382
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 December 31, 2006

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Assets 
 Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,874 $ 2,394 $ 8 $ 683,273 $ – $ 700,549 
  Short-term investments  –  –  –  439,467  –  439,467 
  Accounts receivable, net  –  –  –  1,109,738  –  1,109,738 
  Inventory  –  –  –  100,487  –  100,487 
  Deferred income taxes  –  –  –  38,081  –  38,081 
  Other current assets  162  1,103  376  114,893  –  116,534

   Total current assets  15,036  3,497  384  2,485,939  –  2,504,856 
 Long-term investments  –  –  –  513,269  –  513,269 
 Property, plant and equipment, net  –  –  –  5,410,101  –  5,410,101 
 Goodwill, net  –  –  –  362,269  –  362,269 
 Intercompany receivables  343,644  1,151,556  –  19,944  (1,515,144)  – 
 Investments in affiliates  3,184,303  3,748,626  286,818  1,318,478  (8,440,176)  98,049 
 Other long-term assets  –  249,040  608  220,025  (215,914)  253,759

   Total assets $ 3,542,983 $ 5,152,719 $ 287,810 $ 10,330,025 $ (10,171,234) $ 9,142,303

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
 Current liabilities: 
  Current portion of long-term debt $ – $ – $ – $ – $ – $ – 
  Trade accounts payable  35  22  –  459,122  –  459,179 
  Accrued liabilities  6,295  8,870  4,151  275,642  –  294,958 
  Income taxes payable  –  81,429  1,792  17,002  –  100,223

   Total current liabilities  6,330  90,321  5,943  751,766  –  854,360 
 Long-term debt  –  3,779,778  224,296  –  –  4,004,074 
 Other long-term liabilities  –  –  –  162,744  –  162,744 
 Deferred income taxes  –  50,696  –  749,690  (215,914)  584,472 
 Intercompany payable  –  –  3,733  1,511,411  (1,515,144)  –

   Total liabilities  6,330  3,920,795  233,972  3,175,611  (1,731,058)  5,605,650

  Shareholders’ equity  3,536,653  1,231,924  53,838  7,154,414  (8,440,176)  3,536,653

   Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 3,542,983 $ 5,152,719 $ 287,810 $ 10,330,025 $ (10,171,234) $ 9,142,303

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Income
 Year Ended December 31, 2007

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Revenues and other income: 
 Operating revenues $ – $ – $ – $ 4,938,848 $ – $ 4,938,848 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  –  –  –  17,724  –  17,724 
 Earnings from consolidated affiliates  914,328  503,713  17,632  543,370  (1,979,043)  – 
 Investment (loss) income  687  146  –  (16,724)  –  (15,891) 
 Intercompany interest income  3,989  85,550  2  –  (89,541)  –

  Total revenues and other income  919,004  589,409  17,634  5,483,218  (2,068,584)  4,940,681

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  –  –  –  2,764,559  –  2,764,559 
 General and administrative expenses  17,085  144  17  419,573  (537)  436,282 
 Depreciation and amortization  –  600  –  467,130  –  467,730 
 Depletion  –  –  –  72,182  –  72,182 
 Interest expense  –  51,156  11,456  (8,910)  –  53,702 
 Intercompany interest expense  6,260  –  –  83,281  (89,541)  – 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets,  
  impairment charges and other expense  
  (income), net  (8)  1,377  –  8,989  537  10,895

  Total costs and other deductions  23,337  53,277  11,473  3,806,804  (89,541)  3,805,350

Income before income taxes from  
 continuing operations  895,667  536,132  6,161  1,676,414  (1,979,043)  1,135,331 
Income tax expense  –  11,996  1,971  225,697  –  239,664

Income from continuing operations, net of tax  895,667  524,136  4,190  1,450,717  (1,979,043)  895,667 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  35,024  35,024  –  70,048  (105,072)  35,024

Net income $ 930,691 $ 559,160 $ 4,190 $ 1,520,765 $ (2,084,115) $ 930,691
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 Year Ended December 31, 2006

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Revenues and other income: 
 Operating revenues $ – $ – $ – $ 4,707,289 $ – $ 4,707,289 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  –  –  –  20,545  –  20,545 
 Earnings from consolidated affiliates  1,007,301  772,123  16,357  807,604  (2,603,385)  – 
 Investment (loss) income  324  10,480  –  91,203  –  102,007 
 Intercompany interest income  4,050  66,476  –  –  (70,526)  –

  Total revenues and other income  1,011,675  849,079  16,357  5,626,641  (2,673,911)  4,829,841

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  –  –  –  2,511,392  –  2,511,392 
 General and administrative expenses  17,130  388  5  399,454  (367)  416,610 
 Depreciation and amortization  –  600  –  364,053  –  364,653 
 Depletion  –  –  –  38,580  –  38,580 
 Interest expense  –  40,457  11,440  (5,311)  –  46,586 
 Intercompany interest expense  1,536  –  –  68,990  (70,526)  – 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets,  
  impairment charges and other expense  
  (income), net  –  (1,339)  –  25,090  367  24,118

  Total costs and other deductions  18,666  40,106  11,445  3,402,248  (70,526)  3,401,939

Income before income taxes from continuing operations  993,009  808,973  4,912  2,224,393  (2,603,385)  1,427,902 
Income tax expense  –  13,635  1,622  419,636  –  434,893

Income from continuing operations, net of tax  993,009  795,338  3,290  1,804,757  (2,603,385)  993,009 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  27,727  27,727  –  55,454  (83,181)  27,727

Net income $ 1,020,736 $ 823,065 $ 3,290 $ 1,860,211 $ (2,686,566) $ 1,020,736

 Year Ended December 31, 2005

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Revenues and other income: 
 Operating revenues $ – $ – $ – $ 3,394,472 $ – $ 3,394,472 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  –  –  –  5,671  –  5,671 
 Earnings from consolidated affiliates  629,098  365,561  15,487  389,015  (1,399,161)  – 
 Investment (loss) income  11,980  –  7  73,441  –  85,428 
 Intercompany interest income  4,000  73,356  –  –  (77,356)  –

  Total revenues and other income  645,078  438,917  15,494  3,862,599  (1,476,517)  3,485,571

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  –  –  –  1,958,538  –  1,958,538 
 General and administrative expenses  6,514  1,149  7  240,353  (894)  247,129 
 Depreciation and amortization  –  600  –  284,454  –  285,054 
 Depletion  –  –  –  46,894  –  46,894 
 Interest expense  –  37,488  11,439  (4,078)  –  44,849 
 Intercompany interest expense  –  –  –  77,356  (77,356)  – 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets,  
  impairment charges and other expense  
  (income), net  344  (1,078)  –  45,792  894  45,952

  Total costs and other deductions  6,858  38,159  11,446  2,649,309  (77,356)  2,628,416

Income before income taxes from continuing operations  638,220  400,758  4,048  1,213,290  (1,399,161)  857,155 
Income tax expense  65  13,023  1,376  204,536  –  219,000

Income from continuing operations, net of tax  638,155  387,735  2,672  1,008,754  (1,399,161)  638,155 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  10,540  10,540  –  21,076  (31,616)  10,540

Net income $ 648,695 $ 398,275 $ 2,672 $ 1,029,830 $ (1,430,777) $ 648,695
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
 Year Ended December 31, 2007

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer)  (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $ (6,213) $ 117,758 $ (16,111) $ 1,280,248 $ (5,484) $ 1,370,198
Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of investments  –  –  –  (378,318)  –  (378,318) 
 Sales and maturities of investments  –  926  –  859,459  –  860,385 
 Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses, net  –  –  –  (8,391)  –  (8,391) 
 Investment in affiliates  –  –  –  (278,100)  –  (278,100) 
 Capital expenditures  –  –  –  (2,014,469)  –  (2,014,469) 
 Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims  –  –  –  356,387  –  356,387 
 Cash paid for investments in consolidated affiliates  –  (120,484)  –  (16,107)  136,591  –

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities  –  (119,558)  –  (1,479,539)  136,591  (1,462,506)
Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Decrease in cash overdrafts  –  –  –  (38,416)  –  (38,416) 
 Proceeds from long-term debt  (57,811)  –  –  57,811  –  – 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  61,620  –  –  –  –  61,620 
 Repurchase and retirement of common shares  –  –  –  (102,451)  –  (102,451) 
 Purchase of restricted stock  (1,811)  –  –  –  –  (1,811) 
 Tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options  –  2,159  –  –  –  2,159 
 Proceeds from parent contributions  –  –  16,107  120,484  (136,591)  – 
 Cash dividends paid  –  –  –  (5,484)  5,484  –

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities  (1,998)  2,159  16,107  31,944  (131,107)  (78,899)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  
 and cash equivalents  –  –  –  1,964  –  1,964
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (4,215)  359  (4)  (165,383)  –  (169,243) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  14,874  2,394  8  683,273  –  700,549
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 10,659 $ 2,753 $ 4 $ 517,890 $ – $ 531,306

 Year Ended December 31, 2006

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer)  (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $ 1,172,786 $ (189,608) $ (10,971) $ 3,356,390 $ (2,842,339) $ 1,486,258
Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of investments  –  –  –  (1,135,525)  –  (1,135,525) 
 Sales and maturities of investments  –  –  –  1,325,903  –  1,325,903 
 Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses, net  –  –  –  (82,407)  –  (82,407) 
 Investment in affiliates  –  –  –  (2,433)  –  (2,433) 
 Deposits released on acquisitions closed  
  subsequent to year-end  –  –  –  35,844  –  35,844 
 Capital expenditures  –  –  –  (1,927,407)  –  (1,927,407) 
 Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims  –  –  –  17,556  –  17,556 
 Cash paid for investments in consolidated affiliates  (977,927)  (487,275)  –  (1,189,056)  2,654,258  – 
 Cash received from investments in consolidated affiliates  –  –  –  2,000,000  (2,000,000)  –

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities  (977,927)  (487,275)  –  (957,525)  654,258  (1,768,469)
Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Proceeds from sale of warrants  421,162  –  –  –  –  421,162 
 Purchase of exchangeable note hedge  –  (583,550)  –  –  –  (583,550) 
 Increase in cash overdrafts  –  –  –  2,154  –  2,154 
 Proceeds from long-term debt  –  2,750,000  –  –  –  2,750,000 
 Reduction in long-term debt  –  (769,789)  –  –  –  (769,789) 
 Debt issuance costs  –  (28,683)  –  –  –  (28,683) 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  25,682  –  –  –  –  25,682 
 Repurchase and retirement of common shares  (627,356)  –  –  (2,775,484)  2,000,000  (1,402,840) 
 Tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options  –  4,139  –  –  –  4,139 
 Proceeds from parent contributions  –  1,178,088  10,968  1,465,202  (2,654,258)  – 
 Cash dividends paid  –  (1,870,942)  –  (971,397)  2,842,339  –

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities  (180,512)  679,263  10,968  (2,279,525)  2,188,081  418,275
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  
 and cash equivalents  –  –  –  (516)  –  (516)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  14,347  2,380  (3)  118,824  –  135,548 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  527  14  11  564,449  –  565,001
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 14,874 $ 2,394 $ 8 $ 683,273 $ – $ 700,549
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 Year Ended December 31, 2005

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer)  (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $ 121,081 $ 122,921 $ (10,975) $ 918,881 $ (122,408) $ 1,029,500
Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of investments  (117,623)  –  –  (628,120)  –  (745,743) 
 Sales and maturities of investments  104,508  –  –  645,054  –  749,562 
 Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses, net  –  –  –  (46,201)  –  (46,201) 
 Capital expenditures  –  –  –  (907,316)  –  (907,316) 
 Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims  –  –  –  27,463  –  27,463 
 Cash paid for investments in consolidated affiliates  (85,400)  (19,671)  –  (10,968)  116,039  – 
 Deposits held on acquisitions closed  
  subsequent to year-end  –  –  –  (36,005)  –  (36,005)

Net cash used for investing activities  (98,515)  (19,671)  –  (956,093)  116,039  (958,240)
Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Increase in cash overdrafts  –  –  –  10,805  –  10,805 
 Reduction in long-term debt  –  –  –  (424)  –  (424) 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  9,860  –  –  184,604  –  194,464 
 Repurchase and retirement of common shares  (99,483)  –  –  –  –  (99,483) 
 Termination payment for interest rate swap  –  (2,736)  –  –  –  (2,736) 
 Proceeds from parent contributions  –  –  10,968  105,071  (116,039)  – 
 Cash dividends paid  –  (100,500)  –  (21,908)  122,408  –

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities  (89,623)  (103,236)  10,968  278,148  6,369  102,626
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  –  –  –  6,406  –  6,406
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (67,057)  14  (7)  247,342  –  180,292 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  67,584  –  18  317,107  –  384,709
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 527 $ 14 $ 11 $ 564,449 $ – $ 565,001
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21 Subsequent Event

On February 20, 2008, Nabors Industries, Inc., our wholly-
owned subsidiary, completed a private placement of $575 million 
aggregate principal amount of 6.15% senior notes due 2018 with 
registration rights, which are unsecured and are fully and uncon-
ditionally guaranteed by us. The issue of senior notes was resold 
by a placement agent to qualified institutional buyers under Rule 
144A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The notes bear 
interest at a rate of 6.15% per year, payable semiannually on Feb-
ruary 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning August 15, 2008.

We and Nabors Delaware intend to file a registration state-
ment with the SEC with respect to an offer to exchange the notes 
for registered notes with substantially identical terms pursuant 
to a registration rights agreement, within 90 days following the 
original issue date of the notes.

Item 9   Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants  
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable. 

Item 9A  Controls and Procedures 

 (a)  Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We maintain a set of 
disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to pro-
vide reasonable assurance that information required to be 
disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is 
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the 
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. We 
have investments in certain unconsolidated entities that 
we do not control or manage. Because we do not control 
or manage these entities, our disclosure controls and pro-
cedures with respect to such entities are necessarily more 
limited than those we maintain with respect to our con-
solidated subsidiaries.

The Company’s management, with the participation 
of the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
and Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, has evalu-
ated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls 
and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of 
the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, 
the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have concluded 
that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures are effective, at the reasonable assur-
ance level, in recording, processing, summarizing and report-
ing, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed 
by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under 
the Exchange Act and are effective, at the reasonable assur-
ance level, in ensuring that information required to be dis-
closed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits 
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated 
to the Company’s management, including the Company’s 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure.

 (b)  Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. 
There have not been any changes in the Company’s inter-
nal control over financial reporting (identified in connec-
tion with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) in Rules 
13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act) during the 
most recently completed fiscal quarter that have materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 

adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal 
control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our 
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-
tions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance 
with authorizations of management and directors of the Com-
pany; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposi-
tion of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide abso-
lute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because 
of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial report-
ing is a process that involves human diligence and compliance 
and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting 
from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also 
can be circumvented by collusion or improper management over-
ride. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material mis-
statements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by 
internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent 
limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. 
Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to 
reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based 
on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation,  
management concluded that the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has issued a report on the effective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting, which is included 
in Part II, Item 8. of this report.

Item 9B  Other Information 

Not applicable.
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Item 10   Directors, Executive Officers  
and Corporate Governance

The information called for by this item will be contained in the 
Nabors Industries Ltd. definitive Proxy Statement to be distributed 
in connection with its 2008 annual meeting of shareholders under 
the captions “Election of Directors” and “Other Executive Officers” 
and is incorporated into this document by reference.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.  
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires Nabors’ directors and 
executive officers, and persons who own more than 10% of a reg-
istered class of Nabors’ equity securities, to file with the SEC and 
the national securities exchange that the common shares are regis-
tered on the initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in 
ownership of common shares and other equity securities of Nabors. 
Officers, directors and greater than 10% shareholders are required 
by Commission regulation to furnish Nabors with copies of all 
Section 16(a) forms which they file.

To our knowledge, based solely on review of the copies of 
Forms 3 and 4 and amendments thereto furnished to us during 
2007 and Form 5 and amendments thereto furnished to us with 
respect to the year 2007, and written representations that no other 
reports were required, all Section 16(a) filings required to be made 
by Nabors’ officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial 
owners with respect to the fiscal year 2007 were timely filed.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct that satisfies the 
SEC’s definition of a “Code of Ethics” and applies to all employees, 
including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, 
and principal accounting officer. The Code of Ethics is posted 
on our website at www.nabors.com. We intend to disclose on our 
website any amendments to the Code of Conduct and any waivers 
of the Code of Conduct that apply to our principal executive offi-
cer, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer.

On October 21, 2005, we filed with the New York Stock 
Exchange, or NYSE, the Annual CEO Certification regarding 
our compliance with the NYSE’s Corporate Governance listing 
standards as required by Section 303A-12(a) of the NYSE Listed 
Company Manual.

Item 11  Executive Compensation

The information called for by this item will be contained in 
our definitive Proxy Statement to be distributed in connection 
with our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders under the caption 
“Management Compensation” and except as specified in the fol-
lowing sentence, is incorporated into this document by reference. 
Information in Nabors’ 2008 proxy statement not deemed to be 
“soliciting material” or “filed” with the Commission under its 
rules, including the Compensation Committee Report, is not 
deemed to be incor porated by reference.

Item 12   Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners 
and Management and Related Shareholder Matters

The Company maintains eleven different equity compensation 
plans: the 1993 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, 
1996 Employee Stock Plan, 1997 Executive Officers Incentive 
Stock Plan, 1998 Employee Stock Plan, 1999 Stock Option Plan 
for Non-Employee Directors and 2003 Employee Stock Plan pur-
suant to which it may grant equity awards to eligible persons from 
certain plans. The terms of the Company’s Equity Compensation 
Plans are described more fully below.

The following table gives information about these equity  
compensation plans as of December 31, 2007:

PA RT I I I
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 (a) (b) (c) 
   Number of securities remaining 
 Number of securities to be Weighted-average available for future issuance 
 issued upon exercise of exercise price of under equity compensation 
 outstanding options, outstanding options, plans (excluding securities 
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 18,691,294 $ 22.0514 13,236,536(1) (2) 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 9,662,971 $ 22.0864 1,142,109

Total 28,354,265   14,378,645

(1)  The 1996 Employee Stock Plan incorporated an evergreen formula pursuant to which on each January 1, the aggregate number of shares reserved for issuance under the 1996 Employee Stock Plan were 
increased by an amount equal to 1½% of the common shares outstanding on December 31 of the immediately preceding fiscal year. The 1996 Employee Stock Plan expired on January 17, 2006, and no 
additional shares were reserved for issuance during fiscal 2006.

(2)  The 2003 Employee Stock Plan incorporates an evergreen formula commencing on June 1, 2006 and thereafter for a period of four (4) years on each January 1, for an automatic increase in the number of 
shares reserved and available for issuance under the Plan by an amount equal to two percent (2%) of the Company’s outstanding common shares as of each June 1 or January 1 date.
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Following is a brief summary of the material terms of the plans 
that have not been approved by our shareholders. Unless other-
wise indicated, (1) each plan is administered by an independent 
committee appointed by the Company’s Board of Directors; 
(2) the exercise price of options granted under each plan shall be 
no less than 100% of the fair market value per common share on 
the date of the grant of the option; (3) the term of an award granted 
under each plan may not exceed ten years; (4) options granted 
under the plan are nonstatutory options not intended to qualify 
under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (NSOs); and (5) unless otherwise determined by the 
committee in its discretion, options may not be exercised after 
the optionee has ceased to be in the employ of the Company.

1997 Executive Officers Incentive Stock Plan
The plan reserves for issuance up to 4,900,000 common shares 

of the Company pursuant to the exercise of options granted under 
the plan. Options may be granted under the plan to executive 
officers of the Company. No optionee may receive grants in excess 
of 50% of the total number of common shares authorized to be 
issued under the plan.

1998 Employee Stock Plan
The plan reserves for issuance up to 35,000,000 common shares 

of the Company pursuant to the exercise of options granted under 
the plan. The persons who shall be eligible to participate in the 
plan are employees and consultants of the Company. Options 
granted to employees may either be awards of shares, non-qualified 
stock options (NQSOs), incentive stock options (ISOs) or stock 
appreciation rights (SARs). An optionee may reduce the option 
exercise price by paying the Company in cash, shares, options, 
or the equivalent, an amount equal to the difference between the 
exercise price and the reduced exercise price of the option. The 
committee shall establish performance goals for stock awards in 
writing not later than the date required for compliance under 
IRC Section 162(m) and the vesting of such shares shall be con-
tingent upon the attainment of such performance goals. Stock 
awards shall vest over a period determined by the Committee, 
which period shall expire no later than January 18, 2006. The 
committee may grant ISOs of not less than 100% of the fair mar-
ket value per common share on the date of grant; except that in 
the event the optionee owns on the date of grant, securities pos-
sessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all 
classes of securities of the Company or of any subsidiary of the 
Company, the price per share shall not be less than 110% of the 
fair market value per common share on the date of the grant and 
such option shall expire five years from the date such option is 
granted. SARs may be granted in conjunction with all or part of 
any option granted under the plan, in which case the exercise of 
the SAR shall require the cancellation of a corresponding portion 
of the option and the exercise of the option will result in cancella-
tion of a corresponding portion of the SAR. In the case of a NQSO, 
such rights may be granted either at or after the time of grant of 
such option. In the case of an ISO, such rights may be granted 
only at the time of grant of such option. A SAR may also be granted 
on a stand alone basis. The term of a SAR shall be established by 
the committee. The exercise price of a SAR shall in no event be 
less than 100% of the fair market value per common share on the 

date of grant. The committee shall have the authority to make 
provisions in its award and grant agreements to address vesting 
and other issues arising in connection with a change of control.

1999 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors 
The plan reserves for issuance up to 3,000,000 common shares 

of the Company pursuant to the exercise of options granted under 
the plan. The plan is administered by the Company’s Board of 
Directors, provided that the Board may appoint a committee to 
administer the plan. In no event shall an eligible director consider 
or vote on the administration of this plan or serve as a member 
of the committee. Options may be granted under the plan to  
non-employee directors of the Company. Options shall vest and 
become non-forfeitable on the first year anniversary of the day on 
which such option was granted, if the optionee has continued to 
serve as a director until that day, unless otherwise provided. In 
the event of termination of an optionee’s service as a director by 
reason of voluntary retirement, declining to stand for re-election 
or becoming a full time employee of the Company or a subsidiary 
of the Company, all unvested options granted pursuant to this 
Plan shall automatically expire and shall not be exercisable and 
all options unexercised shall continue to be exercisable until the 
stated expiration date of such options. In the event of death or 
disablement of an optionee while the optionee is a director, the 
then-outstanding options of such optionee shall be exercisable 
for two years from the date of the death or disablement of the 
optionee or by his/her successors in interest. All unvested options 
shall automatically vest and become non-forfeitable as of the date 
of death or disablement and shall be exercisable for two years from 
the date of the death of the optionee or until the stated grant expira-
tion date, whichever is earlier, by the optionee or by his/her suc-
cessors in interest. In the event of the termination of an optionee’s 
service as a director by the Board of Directors for cause or the 
failure of such director to be re-elected, the administrator of the 
plan in its sole discretion can cancel the then-outstanding options 
of such optionee, including those options which have vested and 
such options shall automatically expire and become non-exercisable 
on the effective date of such termination.

The remainder of the information called for by this item will 
be contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be distributed 
in connection with our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders under 
the caption “Share Ownership of Management and Principal 
Shareholders” and is incorporated into this document by reference.

Item 13   Certain Relationships and Related Transactions,  
and Director Independence

The information called for by this item will be contained in 
our definitive Proxy Statement to be distributed in connection 
with our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders under the caption 
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and is incor-
porated into this document by reference.

Item 14  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information called for by this item will be contained in 
our definitive Proxy Statement to be distributed in connection 
with our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders under the caption 
“Principal Accounting Fees and Services” and is incorporated into 
this document by reference.
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Item 15  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

 (a) The following documents are filed as part of this report: 
  (1)  Financial Statements  Page No. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 62 
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 63 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 64 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended Decem- 
 ber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 65

  (2)  Financial Statement Schedules 
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 108

   All other supplemental schedules are omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which  
they are required or because the required information is included in the financial statements or  
related notes.

 (b) Exhibits 

Exhibit No. Description

2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Acquisition Corp. VIII, Nabors Industries Ltd. and 
Nabors US Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Annex I to the proxy statement/prospectus included in Nabors Industries 
Ltd.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-76198) filed with the Commission on May 10, 2002, as amended).

2.2  Amended and Restated Acquisition Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2002, by and between Nabors Industries, Inc. and 
Enserco Energy Service Company Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Registration  
Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-85228)).

2.3  Form of Plan of Arrangement Under Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act Involving and Affecting Enserco 
Energy Service Company Inc. and its Security holders (included in Schedule B to Exhibit 2.2).

2.4  Arrangement Agreement dated August 12, 2002 between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Ryan Energy Technologies Inc.  
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.4 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002  
(File No. 000-49887)).

2.5  Asset Purchase Agreement dated July 20, 2007, by and among Nabors US Finance LLC, Nabors Well Services Co.  
(inclusive of its Sea Mar Division), Sea Mar Management LLC and Hornbeck Offshore Services, Inc. (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 2.5 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32657) filed with the Commission on August 2, 2007).

3.1  Memorandum of Association of Nabors Industries Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Annex II to the proxy statement/prospectus 
included in Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-76198) filed with the Commission 
on May 10, 2002, as amended).

3.2  Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of Nabors Industries Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s 
Form 10-Q (File No. 000-49887) filed with the Commission on August 3, 2005).

3.3  Amendment to Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of Nabors Industries Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of Nabors  
Industries Ltd. Notice of Special General Meeting and Proxy Statement (File No. 001-32657) filed February 24, 2006).

3.4  Form of Resolutions of the Board of Directors of Nabors Industries Ltd. authorizing the issue of the Special Voting Preferred 
Share (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration  
Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-85228-99) filed with the Commission on June 11, 2002).

4.1  Indenture dated as of February 5, 2001 between Nabors Industries, Inc. and Bank One, N.A., as trustee, in connection with 
$1,382,200,000 principal amount at maturity of Zero Coupon Convertible Senior Debentures due 2021 (incorporated by refer-
ence to Exhibit 4.11 to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001).

4.2  First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 21, 2002, among Nabors Industries, Inc., as issuer, Nabors Industries Ltd. as  
guarantor, and Bank One, N.A. as trustee, with respect to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Zero Coupon Convertible Senior Debentures 
due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-49887) filed with the 
Commission on August 14, 2002). 

PA RT I V
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4.3  Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 25, 2004, by and among Nabors Industries, Inc., as issuer, Nabors  
Industries Ltd., as guarantor, and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association (as successor to Bank One, N.A.), as 
Trustee, to the Indenture, dated as of February 5, 2001, as amended, with respect to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Zero Coupon  
Convertible Senior Debentures due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Current Report  
on Form 8-K (File No. 000-49887) filed with the Commission on October 27, 2004).

4.4  Indenture, dated August 22, 2002, among Nabors Industries, Inc., as issuer, Nabors Industries Ltd., as guarantor, and Bank 
One, N.A., with respect to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Series A and Series B 5.375% Senior Notes due 2012 (incorporated by  
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-10049201) 
filed with the Commission on October 11, 2002).

4.5  Indenture, dated August 22, 2002, among Nabors Holdings 1, ULC, as issuer, Nabors Industries, Inc. and Nabors Industries Ltd., 
as guarantors, and Bank One, N.A., with respect to Nabors Holdings 1, ULC’s Series A and Series B 4.875% Senior Notes due 
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Nabors Holdings 1, ULC’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration 
No. 333-10049301) filed with the Commission on October 11, 2002).

4.6  Form of Provisions Attaching to the Exchangeable Shares of Nabors Exchangeco (Canada) Inc. (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 4.1 to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-85228) filed with the  
Commission on March 29, 2002, as amended).

4.7  Form of Support Agreement between Nabors Industries, Inc., 3064297 Nova Scotia Company and Nabors Exchangeco  
(Canada) Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-3  
(Registration No. 333-85228) filed with the Commission on March 29, 2002, as amended).

4.8  Form of Acknowledgement of Novation to Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Exchangeco (Canada) Inc., Computershare Trust 
Company of Canada and 3064297 Nova Scotia Company executed by Nabors Industries Ltd. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.3 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration  
No. 333-85228-99) filed with the Commission on June 11, 2002).

4.9  Indenture, dated as of June 10, 2003, between Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. and Bank One, N.A. with respect 
to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Zero Coupon Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to 
Nabors Industries, Inc.’s and Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-107806-01) filed with 
the Commission on August 8, 2003).

4.10  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 10, 2003, by and among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. and 
Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s and Nabors Industries Ltd.’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-107806-01) filed with the Commission on August 8, 2003).

4.11  First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 25, 2004, by and among Nabors Industries, Inc., as issuer, Nabors Industries 
Ltd., as guarantor, and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, (as successor to Bank One, N.A.), as trustee to the 
Indenture, dated as of June 10, 2003, with respect to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Zero Coupon Senior Exchangeable Notes due 
2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-49887) 
filed with the Commission on October 27, 2004).

4.12  Indenture, dated as of December 13, 2004, by and among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd., and J.P. Morgan 
Trust Company, National Association, with respect to Nabors Industries, Inc.’s Series B Zero Coupon Senior Exchangeable Notes 
due 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K (File No. 000-49887) filed with the 
Commission on March 7, 2005). 

4.13  Purchase Agreement, dated May 18, 2006, among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd., Citigroup Global Markets 
Inc. and Lehman Brothers Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Nabors Industries Ltd. Form 8-K (File No. 000-49887) 
filed with the Commission on May 24, 2006).

4.14  Indenture related to the Senior Exchangeable Notes, due 2011, dated as of May 23, 2006, among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors 
Industries Ltd. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (including form of 0.94% Senior Exchangeable Note due 
2011) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Nabors Industries Ltd. Form 8-K (File No. 000-49887) filed with the Com-
mission on May 24, 2006).

4.15  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd., Citigroup 
Global Markets Inc. and Lehman Brothers Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Nabors Industries Ltd. Form 8-K 
(File No. 000-49887) filed with the Commission on May 24, 2006).

4.16  Amended and Restated 2003 Employee Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of Nabors Industries Ltd. Notice 
of 2006 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement (File No. 001-32657) filed May 4, 2006).

4.17  Purchase Agreement, dated February 14, 2008, among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd., Citigroup Global  
Markets Inc. and UBS Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Nabors Industries Ltd. Form 8-K  
(File No. 000-49887) filed February 22, 2008). 

4.18  Indenture related to the Senior Notes due 2018, dated February 20, 2008, among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. 
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (including form of 6.15% Senior Note due 2018) (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 4.2 to Nabors Industries Ltd. Form 8-K (File No. 000-49887) filed February 22, 2008).
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4.19  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 20, 2008, among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries, Ltd., Citigroup 
Global Markets Inc. and UBS Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Nabors Industries Ltd. Form 8-K 
(File No. 000-49887) filed February 22, 2008).

10.1 (+)  1996 Employee Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Nabors Industries Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration 
No. 333-11313) filed September 3, 1996).

10.2 (+)  1994 Executive Stock Option Agreement effective December 28, 1994, between Nabors Industries, Inc. and Eugene M. Isenberg 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed December 30, 1996).

10.3 (+)  1994 Executive Stock Option Agreement effective December 28, 1994, between Nabors Industries, Inc. and Anthony G. Petrello 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed December 30, 1996).

10.4 (+)  Employment Agreement effective October 1, 1996, between Nabors Industries, Inc. and Eugene M. Isenberg (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 1-9245) filed May 16, 1997).

10.5 (+)  First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. and 
Eugene M. Isenberg dated as of June 24, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q 
(File No. 000-49887) filed August 14, 2002).

10.6 (+)  Second Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. and Eugene M. Isenberg 
dated as of July 17, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-49887) 
filed August 14, 2002).

10.7 (+)  Third Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. and Eugene M.  
Isenberg dated as of December 28, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 8-K  
(File No. 000-49887) filed December 28, 2005).

10.8 (+)  Fourth Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. and Eugene M.  
Isenberg dated as of March 10, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K  
(File No. 000-49887) filed March 16, 2006).

10.9 (+)  Employment Agreement effective October 1, 1996, between Nabors Industries, Inc. and Anthony G. Petrello (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 1-9245) filed May 16, 1997).

10.10 (+)  First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. 
and Anthony G. Petrello dated as of June 24, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s  
Form 10-Q (File No. 000-49887) filed August 14, 2002).

10.11 (+)  Second Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. and Anthony G. Petrello 
dated as of July 17, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-49887) 
filed August 14, 2002).

10.12 (+)  Third Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd. and Anthony G. Petrello 
dated as of December 28, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-
49887) filed December 28, 2005).

10.13 (+)  Waiver dated as of September 27, 2002, pursuant to Section 9.[c] and Schedule 9.[c] of the Amended Employment Agreement 
among Nabors Industries, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd., and Anthony G. Petrello (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-49887) filed November 14, 2002).

10.14 (+)  Nabors Industries, Inc. 1996 Chairman’s Executive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Nabors Industries 
Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed December 29, 1997).

10.15 (+)  Nabors Industries, Inc. 1996 Executive Officers Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s 
Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed December 29, 1997).

10.16 (+)  Nabors Industries, Inc. 1996 Executive Officers Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Nabors  
Industries Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed December 29, 1997).

10.17 (+)  Nabors Industries, Inc. 1997 Executive Officers Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Nabors 
Industries Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed December 29, 1997).

10.18 (+)  Nabors Industries, Inc. 1998 Employee Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s 
Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed March 31, 1999).

10.19 (+)  Nabors Industries, Inc. 1998 Chairman’s Executive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Nabors Industries 
Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed March 31, 1999).

10.20 (+)  Nabors Industries, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to 
Nabors Industries Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-9245) filed March 31, 1999).

10.21 (+)  Amendment to Nabors Industries, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.19 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s Form 10-K (File No. 1-09245) filed March 19, 2002).

10.22 (+)  1999 Pool Employee/Director Option Exchange Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Nabors Industries Inc.’s 
Form 10-K (File No. 1-09245) filed March 19, 2002).

10.23  Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Nabors Industries Ltd. and the directors and executive officers  
identified in the schedule thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K  
(File No. 000-49887) filed March 31, 2003).
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10.24 (+)  Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (amended on May 2, 2003) (incorporated by  
reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-49887) filed May 12, 2003).

10.25 (+)  2003 Employee Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex D of Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Notice of 2003 Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement (File No. 000-49887) filed May 8, 2003).

10.26  Purchase and Sale Agreement (Red River) by and among El Paso Production Company and El Paso Production GOM Inc., 
jointly and severally as Seller and Ramshorn Investments, Inc., as Purchaser dated October 8, 2003 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.23 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K (File No. 000-49887) filed March 15, 2004).

10.27  Purchase and Sale Agreement (USA) between El Paso Production Oil & Gas USA, L.P., as Seller and Ramshorn Investments, 
Inc., as Purchaser dated October 8, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K  
(File No. 000-49887) filed March 15, 2004).

10.28  Exploration Participation Agreement (South Texas) by and between El Paso Production Oil & Gas Company and El Paso  
Production Oil & Gas USA, L.P., jointly and severally and Ramshorn Investments, Inc., dated November 6, 2003 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K (File No. 000-49887) filed March 15, 2004).

10.29  Exploration Participation Agreement (Catapult) by and between El Paso Production Company, and Ramshorn Investments, Inc., 
dated November 6, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K (File No. 000-49887) 
filed March 15, 2004).

10.30 (+)  Form of Restricted Stock Award – Isenberg/Petrello (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s  
Form 8-K (File No. 000-49887) filed March 2, 2005).

10.31 (+)  Form of Restricted Stock Award – Others (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 8-K  
(File No. 000-49887) filed March 2, 2005).

10.32 (+)  Form of Stock Option Agreement–Isenberg/Petrello (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.03 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s  
Form 8-K (File No. 000-49887) filed March 2, 2005).

10.33 (+)  Form of Stock Option Agreement–Others (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.04 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 8-K  
(File No. 000-49887) filed March 2, 2005).

10.34 (+)  First Amendment to 2003 Employee Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q  
(File No. 000-49887) filed August 3, 2005).

12 Computation of Ratios.*
14  Code of Business Conduct (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-K (File No. 000-49887) 

filed March 15, 2004).
18  Preference Letter of Independent Accountants Regarding Change in Accounting Principle (incorporated by reference to  

Exhibit 18 to Nabors Industries Ltd.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-49887) filed November 2, 2005).
21 Significant Subsidiaries of Nabors Industries Ltd.*
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.*
31.1  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, executed by Eugene M. Isenberg, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Nabors  

Industries Ltd.*
31.2  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, executed by Bruce P. Koch, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Nabors  

Industries Ltd.*
32.1  Certifications required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States 

Code (18 U.S.C. 1350), executed by Eugene M. Isenberg, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Nabors Industries Ltd. and 
Bruce P. Koch, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Nabors Industries Ltd. (furnished herewith).

* Filed herewith. 

(+) Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report 
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD. 

 By: /s/ Eugene M. Isenberg  

  Eugene M. Isenberg 
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 By: /s/ Bruce P. Koch   

  Bruce P. Koch 
  Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 Date: February 28, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date 

/s/ Eugene M. Isenberg Chairman and February 28, 2008
Eugene M. Isenberg Chief Executive Officer
  
  
/s/ Alexander M. Knaster Director February 28, 2008
Alexander M. Knaster  
  

/s/ James L. Payne Director February 28, 2008
James L. Payne  
  

/s/ Anthony G. Petrello Deputy Chairman, President and February 28, 2008
Anthony G. Petrello Chief Operating Officer
  
  
/s/ Hans Schmidt Director February 28, 2008
Hans Schmidt  
  

/s/ Myron M. Sheinfeld Director February 28, 2008
Myron M. Sheinfeld  
  

/s/ Martin J. Whitman Director February 28, 2008
Martin J. Whitman

SIGNAT U R E S

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s
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Nabors Industries Ltd.

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005

(In thousands) Balance at Charged to Charged to 
 Beginning of Costs and Other  Balance at 
 Period Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Period

2007
 Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 14,850 $ 2,824 $ 88 $ (1,049)(1) $ 16,713 
 Inventory reserve  1,145  1,164  –  –  2,309 
 Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets  22,140  8,144  (626)  –  29,658

2006
 Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 11,364 $ 3,354 $ 652 $ (520)(1) $ 14,850 
 Inventory reserve  1,808  534  –  (1,197)(2)  1,145 
 Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets  17,566  4,574  –  –  22,140

2005
 Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 10,978 $ 1,024 $ 289 $ (927)(1) $ 11,364 
 Inventory reserve  1,749  178  –  (119)(2)  1,808 
 Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets  14,508  3,058  –  –  17,566

(1)  Uncollected receivables written off, net of recoveries. 
(2) Inventory reserves written off.
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Corporate Address 
Nabors Industries Ltd. 
Mintflower Place
8 Par-La-Ville Road 
Hamilton, HM08, Bermuda 
Telephone: (441) 292-1510 
Fax: (441) 292-1334

Mailing Address

P.O. Box HM3349 
Hamilton, HMPX-Bermuda

Form 10-K
Our Form 10-K is available on our web site at www.nabors.com 
under the “Investor Relations” tab. Copies may be obtained 
at no charge by writing to our Corporate Secretary at Nabors’ 
 corporate office.

Transfer Agent
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 43069
Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3069

Investor Relations
Dennis A. Smith
Director of Corporate Development

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas

As of December 31, 2007, there were 277,064,315 common 
shares outstanding held by 2,006 holders of record.

The common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the symbol “NBR”. The following table sets forth the reported 
high and low sales prices of the common shares as reported on 
the American Stock Exchange (through November 2, 2005) and 
the New York Stock Exchange (from November 3, 2005 through 
December 31, 2007) for the calendar quarters indicated.

 Stock Price

Calendar Year High Low

2005 First quarter $ 30.21 $ 23.10
 Second quarter  31.03  25.38
 Third quarter  36.95  29.99
 Fourth quarter  39.94  29.80

2006 First quarter  41.35  31.36
 Second quarter  40.71  29.75
 Third quarter  36.04  28.35
 Fourth quarter  34.62  27.26

2007 First quarter  32.74  27.53
 Second quarter  36.42  29.59
 Third quarter  34.10  27.05
 Fourth quarter  31.23  26.00

COR POR ATE INFOR M AT ION

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

This annual report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such forward- looking  
statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, as disclosed by Nabors from time to time in its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and  include 
uncertainties associated with the outcome of the review of historical stock option award practices described above. As a result of these factors, Nabors’ actual results may  
differ materially from those indicated or implied by such forward-looking statements. 
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Nabors Management Ltd.  
Nabors Drilling International Limited 
Nabors Drilling International II Limited 
Sundowner Offshore International  
(Bermuda) Limited 
Hamilton, Bermuda 
H. Siegfried Meissner

Nabors Offshore Corporation 
Houston, Texas 
Jerry C. Shanklin

Canrig Drilling Technology Ltd. 
Magnolia, Texas 
Christopher P. Papouras

Epoch Well Services, Inc. 
Houston, Texas 
Christopher P. Papouras

Peak Oilfield Service Company 
Anchorage, Alaska 
Michael R. O’Connor

Nabors Alaska Drilling, Inc. 
Anchorage, Alaska 
James H. Denney

Nabors Canada L.P.
Calgary, Alberta 
Duane A. Mather

Nabors Drilling USA, LP
Peak USA Energy Services, Ltd. 
Ramshorn Investments, Inc.

Houston, Texas 
Joe M. Hudson

Nabors Well Services Co. and  
Nabors Well Services Ltd. 
Houston, Texas 
James H. Denney

Ryan Energy Technologies
Calgary, Alberta 
Richard T. Ryan

PR I NCIPA L

OPER AT I NG

SU BSIDI A R IE S

A ND L E A D

E X ECU T I V E S

OFFICER S

DIR EC TOR S Alexander M. Knaster
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Pamplona Capital Management 
Director, 
TNK-BP

James L. Payne
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Shona Energy Company, LLC. 

Hans W. Schmidt
Former Director,  
Deutag Drilling

Myron M. Sheinfeld
Counsel, 
King & Spalding, L.L.P.

Jack Wexler
Director Emeritus

Eugene M. Isenberg
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Nabors Industries Ltd.

Anthony G. Petrello
Deputy Chairman, President and  
Chief Operating Officer, 
Nabors Industries Ltd.

Martin J. Whitman
Lead Director,  
Nabors Industries Ltd. 
Chairman and Co-Chief  
Investment Officer,  
Third Avenue Management LLC

William T. Comfort
Chairman, 
Citigroup Venture Capital 

Mark Andrews
Corporate Secretary

Bruce P. Koch
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Eugene M. Isenberg
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Anthony G. Petrello
Deputy Chairman, President and  
Chief Operating Officer

OFFICER S A ND DIR EC TOR S

N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s



 




